
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Environment Committee 

Date Wednesday 22 May 2019 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Committee Room 2, City Hall, The 
Queen's Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Caroline Russell AM (Chair) 
Léonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair) 
Jennette Arnold OBE AM 
Tony Arbour AM 

Shaun Bailey AM 
David Kurten AM 
Nicky Gavron AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chair of the Committee to deal with the business 

listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Tuesday 14 May 2019 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer; telephone: 020 7983 4616;  
Email: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk; minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 
For media enquiries please contact Giles Broadbent, Communications Officer; 
Telephone 020 7983 5769; Email: giles.broadbent@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about 
individual items please contact the author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Environment Committee 
Wednesday 22 May 2019 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chair.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Clare Bryant, clare.bryant@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4616 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  

 

(b) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 

Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and 

 

(c) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 

which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 

of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 

Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 

action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 
 
 

3 Membership of the Committee  
 
 The Committee is recommended to note the membership and chairing arrangements 

for the Committee, agreed by the London Assembly at its Annual Meeting 2 May 
2019, as follows: 
 
Caroline Russell AM (Chair) 
Léonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair) 
Tony Arbour AM 
Jennette Arnold OBE AM  
Shaun Bailey AM 
Nicky Gavron AM 
David Kurten AM 
 
 

mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk


 

4 
 

4 Terms of Reference  
 
 The Committee is recommended to note its terms of reference, which are subject to 

agreement by the London Assembly at its Annual Meeting on 2 May 2019: 

1. To examine and report from time to time on –  

• the strategies, policies and actions of the Mayor and the Functional Bodies 

• matters of importance to Greater London as they relate to the environment 

and sustainable development in London.  

2. To consider environmental matters on request from another standing committee 

and report its opinion to that standing committee.  

3. To take into account in its deliberations the cross cutting themes of: the health 

of persons in Greater London; the achievement of sustainable development in 

the United Kingdom; climate change; and the promotion of opportunity.  

4. To respond on behalf of the Assembly to consultations and similar processes 

when within its terms of reference. 
 
 

5 Standing Delegation  
 
 The Committee is asked to note the following standing delegation of authority to 

the Chair of the Committee, which was agreed by the London Assembly at its Annual 
Meeting on 2 May 2019: 
 
At its Annual Meeting on 1 May 2013, the Assembly agreed a general authority to Chairs of all 
ordinary committees and sub-committees to respond on the relevant committee or sub-
committee’s behalf, following consultation with the lead Members of Party Groups on the 
committee or sub-committee, where it is consulted on issues by organisations and there is 
insufficient time to consider the consultation at a Committee meeting. 
 
 

6 Minutes (Pages 5 - 52) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the 

Committee held on 28 February 2019 to be signed by the Chair as a correct record. 
 

 The appendix to the minutes set out on pages 11 to 52 is attached for Members and officers 

only but is available from the following area of the Greater London Authority’s website: 

www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment  
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment


 

5 
 

7 Summary List of Actions (Pages 53 - 78) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Clare Bryant, clare.bryant@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4616 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the completed and outstanding actions 

arising from its previous meetings, and additional correspondence. 
 
 

8 Action Taken under Delegated Authority (Pages 79 - 98) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Clare Bryant, clare.bryant@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4616 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the recent action taken by the Chair under 

delegated authority, namely to agree, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members, an output for the 6 December 2018 meeting’s discussion on cold and 

damp homes. 
 
 

9 Mayoral Responses (Pages 99 - 104) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Clare Bryant, clare.bryant@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4616 

 
The Committee is recommended to notes the Mayor’s response to: 

(a) The Committee’s letter on embodied carbon in London attached as     

Appendix 1; and 

(b) The Committee’s report, Keeping out the Chill: fixing London’s cold, damp 

and mouldy homes.  
 
 

10 Green Spaces in London (Pages 105 - 118) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Ian Williamson, scrutiny@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6541 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

(a) Agree the scope and terms of reference of an investigation into 

environmental quality of life, attached as Appendix 1; 

(b) Note the report as background to putting questions to invited guests on 

green spaces and environmental quality of life in London and the 

subsequent discussion; and  

(c) Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 

mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk
mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk
mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

6 
 

Members, to agree any output arising from the discussion.  

  
 

11 Environment Committee Work Programme (Pages 119 - 122) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Ian Williamson, scrutiny@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6541 

 

The Committee is recommended to agrees its work programme for the beginning of 

the 2019/20 Assembly year, as set out in paragraphs 4.2 to 4.4. 
 
 

12 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for 27 June 2019 at 10am in Committee 

Room 5, City Hall. 
 
 

13 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2018 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Environment Committee   
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 22 May 2018 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM  

Jennette Arnold OBE AM European Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM Member, LB Lewisham 

Unmesh Desai AM  

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM  

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM  

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Alternate Member, European Committee of the Regions 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience; Chair of the London 
Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough] 
 

3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

https://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 4616 

E-mail: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Environment Committee 
Date: Thursday 28 February 2019 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment  

 

 
Present: 
 
Caroline Russell AM (Chair) 
Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair) 
Tony Arbour AM 
Jennette Arnold OBE AM 
Shaun Bailey AM 
David Kurten AM 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 Apologies for absence were received from Dr Onkar Sahota AM, for whom Len Duvall AM 

substituted. 

 

1.2 During Item 7, the Chair welcomed students from New City College, Hackney, New VIc 

College, Newham, City & Islington College, Islington and Richmond upon Thames College, 

Richmond to the public gallery. 

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

2.2 Resolved: 

 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment


Greater London Authority 
Environment Committee 

Thursday 28 February 2019 

 

 
 

 

3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 

3.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 16 January 2019 be signed by the Chair as 

a correct record. 

 
 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

4.2 Resolved: 

 

That the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the 

Committee be noted. 

 
 
5   Action Taken under Delegated Authority (Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

5.2 Resolved: 

 

 That the following recent action taken by the Chair under delegated authority, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, be noted:  

(a)  An output for the 8 November 2018 meeting’s discussion on aviation; 

(b)  A response to the Government’s consultation on proposals to ban the 

distribution and/or sale of plastic straws, plastic-stemmed cotton buds and 

plastic drink stirrers in England; 

(c)  An output from the 20 September 2018 meeting’s discussion on embodied 

carbon in buildings; and 

(d)  An output from the16 January 2019 meeting’s discussion on air pollution in 

London. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Environment Committee 

Thursday 28 February 2019 

 

 
 

 

6   Responses to Environment Committee Outputs (Item 6) 

 

6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

6.2 Resolved: 

(a) That the Mayoral response to the Committee’s letter on plastic waste be 

noted; 

(b) That the Report Impact Review on the Committee’s report, Single-use 

plastic: unflushables, be noted; and 

(c) That the Impact Review for the Committee’s response to the draft London 

Food Strategy be noted.  

 
 
7   Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions to the Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy. 

 

7.2 The following officers from the Greater London Authority were also in attendance for this 

meeting: 

 Andrew Dunwoody, Policy and Programme Manager – Waste and the Green Economy; 

 Elliot Treharne, Head of Air Quality; 

 Andrew Jones, Policy and Programme Manager – Green Infrastructure; and  

 Claire Jaimeson, Principal Policy and Programme Officer - Zero Carbon Policy Team. 

 

7.3 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

7.4 During the course of the discussion, Members requested the following additional 

information:  

 An update on improvements that have been made to borough’s recycling performances 

and trends through joining sub regional Waste Partnerships, including which boroughs 

have jointed; 

 What level of the six dry recyclables are being collected on a borough by borough basis; 

 Where the artistically decorated textile installations have been put up as part of the 

Love not Landfill campaign; 

 An update on the trial for private rented sector properties to access funding to make 

energy efficiency savings, including how many private rented sector properties took 

part and how it will work;  

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Environment Committee 

Thursday 28 February 2019 

 

 
 

 

 The timescales for funding models which might be able to support energy retrofits in 

the private rented sector, social housing and able-to-pay households; 

 Subject to availability, how far the rollout of smart meters conducted by energy 

companies has progressed across London; 

 How much decentralised generating capacity had been gained by London since the 

Mayor was elected in 2016 and how much more is going to be required by 2030;  

 A copy of the Committee on the Medical Effects of Air Pollutants (COMEAP) report on 

the impacts of poor air quality on the Tube; and 

 Whether Transport for London financially  penalises businesses who have committed to 

switching to electric vehicles but have to wait for them to be delivered. 

 

7.5 Resolved:  

(a) That the report and discussion be noted. 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree an output from the discussion.  

 

 
8   Environment Committee Work Programme (Item 8) 

 

8.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

8.2 Resolved: 

(a) That the Committee’s previous work on the expansion of Heathrow airport 

be noted.  

(b) That the work programme for the 2018/19 Assembly year and the schedule 

of provisional meetings for the 2019/20 Assembly year be noted. 

(c) That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree any scrutiny arrangements and outputs before the 

first formal meeting of the 2019/20 Assembly year. 

 
 
9   Date of Next Meeting (Item 9) 

 

9.1 The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for 22 May 2019 at 10.00am in 

Committee Room 5, City Hall, subject to agreement at the Annual Meeting of the London 

Assembly on 2 May 2019.  

 
 

Page 8



Greater London Authority 
Environment Committee 

Thursday 28 February 2019 

 

 
 

 

10   Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 10) 

 

10.1 There were no items of business that the Chair considered to be urgent. 

 
 
11   Close of Meeting  

 

11.1 The meeting ended at 12.45 pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chair   Date 
 
Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer; telephone: 020 7983 4616;  

Email: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk; minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



 

 

Appendix 1 
 

London Assembly Environment Committee – Thursday 28 February 2019 
 

Transcript of Item 7 – Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy 
 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  That now brings us to today’s main item for discussion with the Deputy Mayor 

for Environment and Energy, Shirley Rodrigues.  Welcome to the Committee, Shirley.  The following Greater 

London Authority (GLA) officers are in attendance for today’s meeting and the Deputy Mayor may call on 

them for additional information.  We have in attendance Andrew Dunwoody, who is the Policy and 

Programmes Manager for Waste and the Green Economy; Elliot Treharne, who is Head of Air Quality; 

Andrew Jones, who is Policy and Programmes Manager for Green Infrastructure; and Claire Jamieson, who is 

the Principal Policy and Programmes Officer in the Zero Carbon Policy Team.  Welcome to everyone.  Shirley, 

can I invite you to make an opening statement? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Thank you, Chair, and thank you to 

the Committee for inviting me today to give you an update on the progress that we have been making on 

making London cleaner, greener and healthier.   

 

This time last year [2018] I was at this Committee, before the final publication of the Environment Strategy, to 

talk a little bit about the Mayor’s progress against that Strategy, the first integrated Strategy we have had for 

improving London’s environment.  Since then, we have made significant strides in implementing the Strategy 

which I would like to touch on. 

 

Firstly, the Mayor has taken bold action to clean up London’s dangerously polluted air to help improve the 

health of Londoners.  We have delivered 7 of the 12 Low Emission Bus Zones, we have successfully delivered 

the Toxicity Charge (T-Charge) in central London, and since the start of 2018 only zero-emission-capable 

(ZEC) taxis are being licensed in London.  We have installed over 160 rapid charging points to help taxis and 

other electric vehicles charge.  We have retrofitted over 2,500 buses to meet strict emission standards.  We 

have also introduced air quality alerts to schools and care homes, audited 50 schools to reduce exposure to 

pollution, and provided £500,000 worth of grants to implement those audit recommendations.  These schemes 

are already making a difference.  For example, nitrogen oxide (NOx) emissions from buses on the Low Emission 

Bus Zone routes have reduced by more than 85%.  On 8 April this year [2019] we will be introducing the Ultra 

Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) in the central London Congestion Charge Zone area, which will bring even greater 

benefits to Londoners’ health and reduce inequalities in exposure.   

 

As well as this progress in air quality, we are taking action to end the scandal of fuel poverty in London and 

address the climate emergency we are facing.  As part of the Energy for Londoners programme the Mayor has 

provided nearly £4.5 million of grant funding for energy efficiency improvements.  To date, the Warmer Homes 

programme has received over 1,400 applications and over 400 households have received energy efficiency 

measures with hundreds more in progress.  The Fuel Poverty Support Fund had by the end of last year [2018], 

assisted almost 1,500 low income households and undertaken 830 home energy visits to provide in-home 

advice and smaller energy efficiency measures.  We continue to support public sector organisations to retrofit 

their buildings with the current phase of the RE:FIT programme having supported 135 buildings so far, saving 

the London public sector over 9,000 tonnes of carbon dioxide (CO2) each year.  We have helped over 450 

London households retrofit solar onto their homes through our Solar Together London programme.  This is in 

addition to the significant solar capacity being secured on new developments. 

 

Page 11



 

 

In light of national Government’s failure to provide a lead on climate, the Mayor of London is stepping up.  We 

are working with 11 leading businesses committed to working to take bold action on climate change through 

the London Business Climate Leaders Group, to go further and faster than Government, and in 

September [2018] the Mayor announced his intention to hold the first ever London Climate Action Week, 

which will be held in July this year [2019].   

 

We are also making good progress on making London greener.  By March this year [2019], the Mayor will have 

directly funded the planting of over 170,000 trees.  This is more than the previous Mayor funded over his two 

terms and we have achieved this in less than three years.  132 community green space projects have been 

supported since 2017 and during the first ever National Park City Week, held last year, we had over 300 

community events that help Londoners to explore our green spaces and get involved in greening their 

neighbourhoods. 

 

We are also addressing London’s waste mountain.  To help cut plastic we have already installed 20 drinking 

water fountains with plans to install a network of over 100 over the coming years.  This is on top of the 2,200 

refill points that are now available across London.  We are leading by example and have phased out the use of 

plastic bottles, cups and straws at City Hall, and we are supporting nearly 150 small and medium enterprises 

(SMEs) working on low carbon and circular economy business models.  These actions are making a difference 

to Londoners’ lives now and we will continue to take action - and make the case to others to take action - to 

make London even cleaner, greener and healthier.   

 

Because, as we all know, the Mayor’s actions will not alone be sufficient, particularly in areas where he simply 

does not have the powers or resources to take the scale of action needed, earlier this month the Mayor 

brought together metro mayors from across the country to make the case to the Secretaries of State for 

Environment and Health, Michael Gove [MP] and Matt Hancock [MP], for greater investment in United 

Kingdom (UK) cities to improve air quality.  We will continue to take this lead nationally and internationally to 

encourage others to create the change we need. 

 

I would like to finish by thanking the Environment Committee for your input and recommendations over these 

past few years, many of which have made their way into the Environment Strategy like those on plastics.  That 

has really helped to inform our work.  Thank you for that.   

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  We have some questions for you this morning.  We are going to be starting off 

looking at waste, we will then be looking at Zero Carbon City issues and then we will move on to look at air 

pollution and green infrastructure.  For now we are looking at waste and I would like to pick up on London’s 

recycling rates, which are still worryingly stagnant when your targets require the recycling to increase very 

rapidly.  How are you going to go about changing this? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The challenge in London, as you have 

said, is that we have a very disparate service across the London boroughs.  One of the policies that has been 

enshrined in the Environment Strategy has been a requirement for London boroughs to collect six dry 

recyclables and a separate food waste collection, to try to get that consistency across London.  We are really 

pleased to see that Government is following suit by introducing a consultation to standardise the consistency 

of waste collection across the country because that will make a significant difference, we believe, to recycling.  

That is one part of it. 

 

The other part is to help local authorities to improve their waste management practices.  We are doing that by 

providing best practice guidance and pilots that can show how these things can be improved.  We are working 

through the London Waste and Recycling Board (LWARB).  The Mayor has appointed the Chair, I sit on the 

Page 12



 

 

Board and we work through that body, which is a partnership between the Mayor of London and the London 

local authorities, working with organisations like WRAP [Waste and Resources Action Programme] to provide 

best practice. 

 

One of the projects that we are working on is how you might improve recycling in flats.  You know that is a 

particular challenge for cities but in London it is a very significant challenge with around half of our building 

stock being flats and more becoming that way.  There is a challenge to help improve performance there.  We 

have had some interim results that have just been published from the recycling project which are talking about 

some of the issues impeding better progress there, issues around communication, signage and motivation.  The 

full results of that pilot will be launched later this year.   

 

Then the Mayor also looks over the contracts that are presented to him.  We do not get to see all of the 

contracts, just new ones.  As you know, one of the issues is that the length of recycling contracts is so long 

that you do not get the opportunity to review them.  When we do, we will check to see that they are 

conforming to the Mayor’s Strategy, give advice, use the offices of LWARB and their programmes, including 

Resource London, to give good practice and get boroughs to adopt that best practice. 

 

Finally, we have asked all local authorities to prepare reduction and reuse plans, which they are doing in phases 

over this year, which we will then assess, working with them, to make sure that they are reaching the highest 

ambition.  Within those, local authorities will be expected to set their own targets that will reflect the make-up 

of the borough and their ability to contribute to the Londonwide target of 65% by 2030.  We know that some 

boroughs are performing better, partly because they have more access to green waste because they have more 

gardens.  In some of the inner London boroughs where you have very high density of flats it is more difficult, 

but the Flats Recycling Project will then feed lessons into the work that they are doing.  We should be able to 

see an increase in the targets and then, as I say, the performance should improve. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  The boroughs that are falling behind have to publish a reduction and reuse 

plan but is there any action that you are taking to really press those boroughs to up their game?  The boroughs 

are under pressure.  They have budget pressures.  Are you convinced that they are feeling the pressure from 

the Mayor to really make this a priority? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I would not say it was pressure.  A lot 

of local authorities are doing really good work.  Over half of the local authorities, for example, have a separate 

food waste collection.  The new policy emphasising a separate food waste collection is something that those 

boroughs that do not have them are looking at.  They might think it pressure but I do not think the Mayor is 

exerting pressure.  It is setting an ambition, a very robust ambition, for where we and Londoners want to see 

London moving to.   

 

I would say that we are trying to be supportive of local authorities by providing resources.  We have asked 

Resource London, the programme that we are working with, to make available financial support available so 

that we can support boroughs in developing those plans and sharing best practice.  Then we are working with 

the team, Andrew’s [Dunwoody, Police and Programme Manager, GLA] team, LWARB and others—the 

Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) as well—encouraging them to go further as fast 

as they can.  Ultimately, the Mayor has a power of direction but as the Mayor himself said at the [London 

Assembly] Plenary, that is an option of last resort.  We want to work in a supportive way.  We understand there 

are challenges that boroughs are facing and we have been making the case to Government, to Defra, on some 

of those issues, including the lack of funding and the need for a better policy framework.  The Waste and 

Resources Strategy that came out recently and the consultations on, for example, consistency, the collection 

and the moving to support of anaerobic digestion (AD), all of those sorts of things are policies that the Mayor 

Page 13



 

 

has been progressing and pushing for a long time.  It is very heartening to see that Government has taken that 

on board. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  The thing is, in terms of using those powers of direction, how bad do things 

have to get before those powers would be used?  For instance, Barnet Council have suspended their separate 

food waste collection, which is a requirement in the Environment Strategy.  Are there any other boroughs who 

have suspended their food waste collection? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Not that I am aware of. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  That does not trigger the Mayor using a power of direction? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The power of direction requires a legal 

approach to be taken.  You have to take a precautionary and measured approach and you have to make sure 

the due processes have been gone through, so that is what we have been doing.  In order to do that you have 

to assess what the borough has done and make sure that you have reasonable grounds to take that power of 

direction forward.  As I have said, the Mayor does not want to use his power of direction; he wants to make 

sure that the local authority addresses the deficiency.  In Barnet’s case, we have said that the Mayor is minded 

to use his power of direction but what we want the Borough to do - which they are doing and have agreed to 

do - is go through the process of setting out the case for how they might introduce a separate food waste 

collection and what issues might impede them to do that, doing the appropriate modelling work and using 

independent consultants.  That process is now being undertaken and when that report, which is due a bit later 

this year, we will then review that with the local authority to then decide what further steps need to be taken. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Going to the other direction, which is someone who is doing things well, 

Sutton Council increased their recycling rate by 13.5% after they introduced weekly kerbside food waste 

collection and went to a fortnightly collection of residual waste.  Do you know what the costs are of doing this 

and do you think it is an approach that you would be encouraging other boroughs to take up? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  In the case of Sutton I do not know 

the costs exactly but before Andrew [Dunwoody] jumps in I would just point out that each local authority has a 

different set of circumstances.  The cost for [London Borough of] Sutton is not necessarily going to be the 

cost for [Royal Borough of] Greenwich. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Sure. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  In terms of the general approach, we 

have set out a policy approach in the Mayor’s Environment Strategy, the London Environment Strategy.  How 

the local authority chooses to do that is for the local authority to set out and determine because they will best 

know how they do that in their local authority, whether that is on their own, whether that is in a partnership or 

whether they do that in a different way because they recognise what their boroughs are saying.  We are not 

requiring that but what we are requiring is that they deliver that service, those separate food waste collections 

and the six dry recyclables.  Do we have Sutton’s costs? 

 

Andrew Dunwoody (Policy & Programmes Manager – Waste & The Green Economy):  We do not have 

those exact costs.  Sutton implemented those changes without direct modelling support from LWARB so we 

were not involved in the cost modelling that went into that decision.  However, modelling and experience from 

other boroughs does indicate that those interventions will lead to improved performance and cost savings.  We 

do not have those details but we anticipate that it was a win-win scenario for them. 

Page 14



 

 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Broadly, you expect cost savings from the food waste collection? 

 

Andrew Dunwoody (Policy & Programmes Manager – Waste & The Green Economy):  From the food 

waste collection and increased recycling versus residual waste generation. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Is that made clear to all boroughs, that those cost savings can be -- 

 

Andrew Dunwoody (Policy & Programmes Manager – Waste & The Green Economy):  Yes, those 

examples are available to other boroughs. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  But boroughs like Barnet are still just resisting? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I would not say Barnet are resisting, I 

would say Barnet are now looking at that.  The Mayor intervening and saying, “You need to have a look at this 

because there are good examples elsewhere, not just in London but nationally.  We would like you to take a 

look at that and how that might apply to Barnet”.  They are going through that process and we will see what 

happens when that independent consultant’s report comes out later this year. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  Obviously it is very encouraging that so many London boroughs have 

moved on and are doing the separate food waste collection.  I just wondered - and it may be something you 

can send to us afterwards - if you can tell us how many of the London boroughs are now doing the six separate 

dry recycling stream collections as well, because I know quite a few that are collecting maybe four or five or 

three but not all six.  I am not aware that very many are doing all six separately.   

 

I just wanted to make a point about the situation with Sutton, who have had this massive improvement 

bringing them up to Bexley sort of levels.  Bexley has always been one of the better boroughs.  They have now 

formed the South London Waste Partnership with Kingston, Merton and Croydon, and I just wondered if it is 

worth our while monitoring from City Hall or asking them for assistance in looking at how the recycling 

improves in those other three boroughs now they have come into the same service.   

 

For example, Merton - which obviously I know better than the other two boroughs, being one of my 

constituencies - have just purchased bins and supplied them throughout the entire borough.  They are very 

hopeful and their intention is to improve up to the same level as Sutton.  Perhaps they would be able, through 

the South London Waste Partnership, to give us some of that information about money.  If we then hear from 

them about the improvements that they have achieved, that can then be propagated to other boroughs as an 

encouragement if there have been savings, both in terms of less waste to either landfill or incineration but also 

cost savings, which is such a big thing for local authorities.  I just wonder, is that something we can do from 

here? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  It is something that is being done. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  Great. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Through the team, working with the 

Resource London programme at LWARB, the officers there are in contact with the individual local authorities.  

They look at the recycling performance and the trends and try to understand what it is that is making that 

difference.  Innovations like the South West London Partnership, which is a very recent thing, are showing a 

Page 15



 

 

phenomenal improvement.  That gives us the information to start to say, “If this is happening here, what are 

the conditions that will enable that to be replicated across the rest of London?” 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  Precisely.  It would be great if we can keep up with that via 

Andrew [Dunwoody] and yourself, but also if you could let us know which of the boroughs are doing those and 

what level of the six dry recyclables are being collected on a borough-by-borough basis. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Yes, we will send that to you. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  We can go away as Assembly Members and encourage the boroughs we 

are representing to say, “What do you need to do?  How can we help you achieve all six?”   

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Even assuming that the Mayor’s Environment Strategy policies have their 

projected effect, there is still a significant gap in terms of the recycling targets.  Obviously we have the 

spreading good practice that Leonie has just been following up on, but how are we going to bridge that gap to 

really make sure that we are meeting the Mayor’s targets on recycling? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Again, the gap is going to be made up 

by looking at commercial waste, increases in commercial waste collection.  The waste that is produced by 

businesses or schools and so on is very similar to household waste: paper, cardboard and so on.  We have said 

that that is a huge resource that is being wasted.  It is just being sent to landfill or to be incinerated and much 

more of that should be recycled.  We know, for example, at City Hall that over 80% of our waste can be 

recycled.  We have seen that from some of the recycling companies that we are talking to as well.   

 

We want to see a huge step up in commercial waste recycling.  Again, through LWARB we have asked for them 

to concentrate on offering advice on how boroughs can look to improve their commercial waste collection and 

offer that service to the businesses in their area.  They have a dedicated officer to look at that.  That is really 

the opportunity that will get us to the targets that we have set in the Environment Strategy for municipal 

waste recycling. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Even on your projections, it looks as if about 35% of domestic waste is going 

to be recycled by 2050.  To get back on track, we need to get to a rate of about 50%.  That is big.  It just feels 

like we need something much more to get those rates up to speed. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Within the powers and the ability that 

the Mayor has and within the financial constraints that local authorities are working under -- I completely 

understand the challenge.  That is a big challenge.  We are doing what we can do, as we have, largely through 

support and directing boroughs to where there is good practice.  It needs -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  What about reducing waste in the first place and reducing the materials that 

are being used and consumed at every level of Londoners’ lives? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The Mayor has set a food waste target, 

a food and packaging waste reduction target, and that is again one of the things that we have been asking 

boroughs to look at in their reduction and recycling plans.  We are doing our own work, for example, in trying 

to reduce single-use plastics with our work on refills and drinking water fountains, but largely that is an issue 

that has to be dealt with at a national Government level.  We are pleased to see that the Government has come 

forward with consultations on plastic packaging, increasing the use of recycled content, deposit return 

Page 16



 

 

schemes and so on.  Those are systemic things that need to happen to really drive down the production of 

waste and increasing the use of recycled content.   

 

Then in London we are, as I said, working with the local authorities.  Many of them are doing very good work 

around campaigns and so on to encourage people to waste less and not produce so much waste in the first 

place, but I would say ultimately a lot of that needs to be designed out in the first place.   

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  I was given an answer to a Mayor’s Question that said you need an extra 

£100 million from Government to increase the recycling performance across London.  Can you explain what 

difference that would make in terms of getting back on track? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The calculation was: what would be 

needed to fund the increase in local authority collected waste?  That was on the order of £100 million to 

£300 million.  Then offset against that would be reductions in waste disposal costs and income from recycling, 

which would bring you back to the £100 million.  That would be the order of expenditure that would be 

needed to support local authorities to put in the services and the infrastructure that would help meet the 

recycling target that the Mayor has set.   

 

Government have said that that funding is available and that is what local authorities are funded to do.  Their 

view is that local authorities are funded already to do that and it is a matter of looking at their budgets and 

prioritising the service, which as you know is a very difficult issue for local authorities.  We continue to make 

the case.  What we have argued is for devolution, for example, of the landfill tax credits.  I think London’s fair 

share of that would be something in the order of £100 million.  We have asked Government to look at other 

sources of funding and to really think about the fact that this is not just a London issue.  Nationally, the 

recycling rates are stagnating across the country and need to be improved.  That needs to be a different way of 

looking at how we support recycling infrastructure in the country, not just in London. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  We have done a lot of work on this Committee on single-use plastics.  In 

regard to waste like disposable nappies and period products, things that have very high levels of plastic 

content, do you think there is anything different you could be doing in terms of dealing with that waste so 

that it is not just either going to landfill or being incinerated? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Partly that is a national issue because 

it is about how you ensure that the manufacturers look at the design of their products to make sure that they 

are either flushable or reducing the use of plastic and other materials that cannot be dealt with in the sewer 

system.  Because it is a national problem, not just a London problem, that is not something we can really help 

with, but we are working with the water companies, Thames Water and others.  They are looking at research.  

They are doing lots of campaigns around, for example, not flushing wipes down the toilet.  You have the 

videos and things to remind people that these should not really be down there and what the consequences are 

with the fatbergs and worse, as well as the cost to customers because of having to deal with that.  We have 

done other things through the Mayor’s Entrepreneur funding.  Last year’s winner was somebody who -- I 

cannot remember the name of the company -- 

 

Andrew Dunwoody (Policy & Programmes Manager – Waste & The Green Economy):  It was a start-up 

that designed a fully flushable sanitary product.  They had proven that it would not stay in the water system 

for more than a few hours once it was flushed.  The year before that [2017], the winner was a company called 

Twipes.  That was a fully flushable wet wipe that was proven to dissolve within three hours of being immersed 

in water.   

 

Page 17



 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  There is the whole business of flushing all this waste.  Are you not doing more 

work to encourage reusable products rather than things that need to be disposed of in the first place?  I 

suppose that is really where I was heading with this.  There are reusable nappy schemes and all the reusable 

period products that are available.  We made some recommendations about trying to use the Mayor’s powers 

of communication to get people thinking about not producing this waste in the first place.  Are you taking up 

any of that? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Through the reduction and recycling 

plans we are working with the local authorities to see what they might be able to do across London.  They will 

have much more direct communication with their residents about what they might be able to do.  We have 

done some work on schools, I think, feeding that message in. 

 

Andrew Dunwoody (Policy & Programmes Manager – Waste & The Green Economy):  Through the 

leading by example aspects of the London Environment Strategy as well, the Mayor is very seriously trying to 

tackle single-use plastics both here at City Hall and across the functional bodies.  A lot of single-use plastics 

have been removed from circulation within staff areas and the functional bodies have also made Plastic 

Reduction Implementation Plans.  Now the next phase of that is to develop a communication and behaviour 

change campaign to encourage people to take personal action and to make them aware of the implications of 

using plastic-containing products. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Great.  When will that be? 

 

Andrew Dunwoody (Policy & Programmes Manager – Waste & The Green Economy):  That is currently 

in development, so I would imagine that would be available within the coming month or so.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  I have a couple of slightly disparate points.  One is the area that we 

were just discussing.  I think one of the reasons why young women do not go for the reusable period products 

is because they do not know about them.  Is there anything that we can do to get more messaging into 

schools?  We are taking fairly high-level interventionist action around high fat, salt and sugar foods, and 

getting that message out through schools and also by banning advertising and things like that.  Can we not 

also, as an adjunct to that in terms of our plastic reduction programme, try to do something to get that 

messaging into schools?  It is something that is discussed in schools during the -- they change their name but 

is it -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  PHSE [personal, social and health education]. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  PHSE?  One of those alphabetti spaghetti things.  Public health and 

sex education, is that it?  I cannot remember, but the reusable products could be featured alongside other 

products.  It also then addresses period poverty, which is something that a number of Assembly Members have 

been drawing to the attention of the Mayor as well.  That was just a point about that. 

 

I would have hoped that we could do a little bit of support for Real Nappies for London, who are doing 

wonderful work in a number of boroughs and I am sure would be happy to expand.  There must be lots of 

people; they write to us all the time saying, “I want to get rid of plastics out of my life”.  Nappies are an 

absolute nightmare but having something else so that you do not have your house filled with nappies that you 

have to wash, having a nappy service I would have thought is something that we could just, with a bit of will, 

put something into. 

 

Page 18



 

 

I actually wanted to talk about textiles.  We have just had the report from the [House of Commons] 

Environmental Audit Committee and Mary Creagh [MP, Chair].  I made a submission to that.  I had been 

working with the Charity Retail Association and locally we have Wandsworth Oasis, who have been absolutely 

fantastic.  They have been talking to the people who run the waste transfer station so that they give out 

leaflets to say, “Do not bring your textiles here, perhaps bring them to one of our shops”.  Is there something 

more that we can do to divert textiles out of the stream that goes into incineration?  Fast fashion has meant 

that so many items could easily be reused and recirculated.  It may even contribute to helping the high street 

stay alive through charity shops, which is why I have also been talking to the Charity Retail Association about 

this.  Surely there is a big opportunity here for City Hall to be leading by example?  It meshes with a number of 

our other programmes.   

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  We already are.  I do not know if you 

have seen our Love Not Landfill campaign which is working through the LWARB.  We have been promoting - 

what are they called? - recycling bins, I guess, which have graffitied artwork by a particular artist, who is 

probably more well-known by others than me, to encourage people to not landfill but recycle their fashion 

items so that they can be reused and repurposed in other ways.  That has been a very popular campaign.  We 

are working through LWARB again and with the team from the Ellen MacArthur Foundation to look at what 

more we might be doing to look at textiles, which is one sector of the work we are doing on the circular 

economy.  That is going very well. 

 

Andrew Dunwoody (Policy & Programmes Manager – Waste & The Green Economy):  You mentioned 

fast fashion and Love Not Landfill has particularly targeted the demographic that would be interested in that 

aspect of fashion.  They have run a series of pop-up shops for clothes that have been deposited at these 

clothes banks, reselling them and creating social media interest around that.  Those have been very successful.  

Those pilots are continuing to be run and explored and are going to be developed further because of the 

success so far. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  That sounds good.  I am not saying that the Mayor himself has to 

participate in switching events in pop-ups but encouraging people to do that sort of thing, I think, is really 

important.  Perhaps you could tell us where these artistically decorated textile installations have gone in.  Is 

that all London boroughs or is that targeted to certain places?   

 

Finally, I just wanted to ask the thorny issue of flats and flatted blocks, which we know are an absolute 

problem in many boroughs.  They drag down the recycling level.  I think some local authorities are not 

providing sufficient recycling bins.  Quite often, even when people are desperate to recycle, there are not 

enough provided.  What can we do to improve recycling from flatted blocks? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The Flats Recycling Project is 

absolutely targeted at that and the interim results have been really, really encouraging.  Obviously first of all 

we have to have the service there, but we also have to make people feel that it is easy and safe to recycle.  

They have come up with a number of recommendations and a toolkit, I think, a communications toolkit, which 

is now online.  Do you want to talk about that? 

 

Andrew Dunwoody (Policy & Programmes Manager – Waste & The Green Economy):  The Flats 

Recycling Programme has five key areas that they are focusing on.  It addresses, as Shirley mentioned earlier, 

messaging, making sure that that really reaches out and connects with the residents of the flats.  It addresses 

the in-house storage problem of not having sufficient storage to segregate waste before you deposit it in bins, 

and then makes it more convenient for the residents as well, making sure that they have bags to put 

recyclables in but also have ready access to bins that are the right size, the right shape and are readily 

Page 19



 

 

accessible.  Newer, smaller bins is what they are promoting at the minute, making sure that it is very 

convenient for all the residents to deposit recyclables and make sure that they participate fully.  There is 

another part of that as well, which is information packs from landlords within those flatted blocks, making sure 

that they have all the information they need and the encouragement to participate and recycle as much as 

possible. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  Your final point there about landlords is so important because that is 

the other problem, of course, in London and other cities: churn, and people moving in and out all the time.  I 

think landlords should be obliged to provide a complete pack of information about how you can recycle as well 

as all the stuff about waste disposal.   

 

Tony Arbour AM:  I would like, Deputy Mayor, to ask you about waste transfer stations.  We have just had 

mention of them from Leonie.  I do not know if you are aware of this but whenever there has been talk about 

new powers or additional powers for the GLA, our group has consistently said that the one thing that was 

devolved to the boroughs that we think should be taken back, because it was a Greater London Council (GLC) 

function, was the operation of waste transfer centres.  We have been spelling out today some of the 

advantages there might be: consistency in seeing that the stuff that goes in recycling can be properly weeded 

out and a consistent level of service.  Can I ask whether or not the present Mayor has any views on the matter? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  On taking control of waste transfer 

stations? 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Yes, that it should be Londonwide. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  What we have been concentrating on 

is getting a Londonwide approach, to make sure that people really understand the outcomes that are needed 

at a Londonwide level.  The problem we have inherited, as you know - you mentioned the GLC - is that we 

have disparate contracts and disparate structures. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Yes, of course. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  To unravel that and try to change that 

would need national legislation.  We have raised these issues with Defra in terms of pointing out the difficulties 

that London has in meeting the recycling targets it has, and there are ways that they might be able to help to 

unravel that but that would require primary legislation. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  It is something the Mayor would wish to promote?  In the interim, of course, and we have 

already discussed this morning the Mayor’s powers of direction.  I think the boroughs would go bananas if you 

issued powers of direction on ordinary waste collection but as far as the recycling centres are concerned, that 

ought to be a matter of encouragement.  If I can give you a very simple example of how stupid the current 

system is compared to the previous system, if you live in Teddington in the London Borough of Richmond and 

you want to recycle anything at the borough’s own waste disposal thing the round trip could be 10 miles, but 

less than half a mile away is Kingston’s recycling centre, to which we have no access.  Similarly, across London 

there are the odd bilateral arrangements that exist.   

 

One would have hoped that this is an area in which we are in a position to use influence - I am not saying that 

the thing should be delegated through amendment to legislation - and where the boroughs should cooperate.  

It would have an effect on monitoring the stuff that comes in.  It used to be, in the day, that totters would pay 

large sums of money.  They were mudlarking but not on the river and that seemed to work very well.  That 

Page 20



 

 

again is something where perhaps there should be some kind of consistent policy.  I can only tell you that as 

far as our group is concerned, that is something that we will continue to give you support on. 

 

However, the matter which I have been asked to raise with you relates to progress at the Cory Riverside 

[Energy] site.  Where are we on this? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Cory [Riverside Energy] have put an 

application in to create what they call an integrated energy park, which includes a 665,000 tonne per annum 

incinerator, a very small AD facility and some other things.  The Mayor is opposed to that and has clearly and 

publicly stated his opposition because we do not believe that we need any new incineration capacity in 

London.  We have sufficient incineration capacity and the existing incineration capacity of London is not fully 

utilised.  The heat offtake is not utilised even at the existing site that Cory has so we are not quite sure why 

they want to extend it. 

 

The matter has been deemed a nationally significant infrastructure project so it is going to be determined by 

the Secretary of State.  The Mayor is the statutory consultee.  We are in that process at the moment.  We are 

waiting, I think, for a date for when the Planning Inspectorate will determine the application.  I think we have 

sent in our grounds but we have not written the full evidence. 

 

Andrew Dunwoody (Policy & Programmes Manager – Waste & The Green Economy):  We are currently 

at the pre-examination phase.  We have submitted our relevant representation and we are continuing to 

develop our paperwork in preparation for that examination period, which we believe is likely to be towards the 

end of the spring and run throughout the summer.   

 

Tony Arbour AM:  The spring of 2019? 

 

Andrew Dunwoody (Policy & Programmes Manager – Waste & The Green Economy):  Yes. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Am I right in thinking that will be the first one we have had in London?  Excluding airports 

and that sort of stuff, is it the first time we have had one of these schemes which are deemed so important 

that it has to be determined by the Government?  That will be the first, will it not? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I am not sure about the importance 

but certainly on the size of it.  I think it has been determined on the size of the tonnages and the expected 

energy output. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Can I ask, who is it who supports the Mayor in his belief that there is sufficient 

incineration capacity in London? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The Government does, I think. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Do they? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The Government in its Waste Strategy 

has looked at its strategy and said that if their targets are met they do not believe any new energy-from-waste 

infrastructure is needed.  That is in England, I think, rather than the country.  I think we have support there 

from the Government.  Certainly the consultation responses that we have had were very supportive of the 

Mayor’s policies about ensuring that our focus is on recycling.   

 

Page 21



 

 

We have very many incinerators in London, many more than we need, we think, and we think that is partly why 

recycling has been stifled.  We want to make sure that those existing incinerators have the energy taken off 

them and used.  You will know that we have been talking about this for many years in London and we are only 

just starting to see that heat offtake being taken and used by homes.  Waste is such a valuable resource, it is 

shocking that it is being incinerated. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Of course there is a contrary view which is that it is the ultimate in sustainability: it is 

turned into energy and the stuff which is left as a residual from that is used as aggregates.  My understanding 

is that indeed this is part of the Cory case, or whoever it is who owns Cory now.  I think the company has been 

taken over. 

 

Now, the reason we are holding this meeting and we are discussing waste is related to the fact that the targets 

are not being met.  What you have said about surplus incineration capacity depends on the fact that waste 

recycling rates are going to improve.  There does not appear to be any substantial evidence that that is 

happening.  Is it not a kind of ‘dog in the manger’ attitude to say that therefore we do not need any more 

incineration? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  No, I do not believe so.  The Mayor 

has set an aspiration in order to ensure that we extract maximum value from the resources we have, and we do 

that by recycling.  Anything that is residual is then dealt with through the waste hierarchy but we want to 

minimise what is left to be dealt with through landfill or incineration.  We have sufficient capacity to deal with 

that if people meet that recycling rate.  We know that people want to recycle more and we know that it is 

valuable to recycle more.  I do not think it is ‘dog in the manger’, I think it is absolutely the right thing to do.  

We have had countless reports talking about the value of the circular economy to jobs, to the climate, to 

resource consumption and not wasting resources, and it is absolutely essential that we start at the top of the 

waste hierarchy which then minimises the need for additional waste incineration. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  That is all motherhood and apple pie for the nation and national policy.  We are here in 

London.  I look out at the river here.  What more sustainable way is there of transporting waste than by river to 

an incinerator on the river?  Much, I guess, of the spare incinerator capacity -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  Or not producing the waste in the first place so that it does not need to 

be transported down the river at all. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  But I have just said that.  That is why we are having this meeting, because we are 

producing the waste and we are not actually cutting down.  Given that the thing exists, does it not make sense 

that such waste as we have is disposed of in this -- and I am afraid I disagree with you.  I think that 

incineration is sustainable, transported by river.  When you think of the huge amount of pollution which is 

generated by taking stuff to landfill, even though landfill is declining, I cannot think of anything better than 

having incineration capacity whereby the waste is transferred by the river.  Of course, here at the GLA we are 

constantly having meetings saying we should be making more use of the river for these kinds of industrial 

purposes.  I am very sorry to hear that the Mayor is persisting in his opposition to the riverside site.   

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  I just wanted to pick up on this question of incineration being sustainable.  

Can you just comment on the sustainability or otherwise of burning plastic waste that has come from fossil 

fuels, reburning it in an incinerator?  Surely this is not a sustainable practice? 

 

Andrew Dunwoody (Policy & Programmes Manager – Waste & The Green Economy):  I would agree 

with that position.  Apart from the fact it creates greenhouse gases and it is a waste of materials because the 

Page 22



 

 

materials could be recycled and reused.  If they are incinerated then those materials are lost to the value chain 

forever and can no longer be used.  Incineration and landfill are both more expensive than the alternatives for 

recycling or reuse.  I would not say it is sustainable. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Absolutely what we start with is the 

waste hierarchy, which is reduction.  That is where we are all required to start but also it makes common sense 

and economic sense. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Thank you very much for your earlier opening answer to the Chair in terms of the Mayor’s 

achievements in this area, but he was a bit lacking in terms of waste.  It was only when we had the other 

questions associated with waste that you started to map out the Mayor’s approach to waste.   

 

I just want to comment a little bit about the incineration.  Unless we can reduce waste in the first place and 

increase recycling rates, which is this part, we are almost covertly agreeing with those who want to incinerate.  

It is not moving.  There is a problem here.  I do not think there is enough emphasis on moving fast or the 

acceleration about that problem.   

 

I am new to this Committee so forgive me but there are issues about recycling rates and the infrastructure.  

Obviously, the infrastructure too I want to talk about, and those who take decisions about it, ie the waste 

infrastructure.  My colleague, Assembly Member Cooper, highlighted one way people are coming together, 

which is those issues, and then I think there is infrastructure about how you deal with recycling in the first 

place and why people are not doing it, or motivations.   

 

Let us deal with the first one.  I get the feeling that unless you tell me it does not really matter, right?  It does 

not matter how many waste authorities we have in London or whatever.  Your key strand to attack this issue is 

to get some consistency up.  A former Conservative colleague of ours on the Assembly, Brian Coleman, was all 

against those issues of a single waste authority for London but actually became a big advocate for it later in his 

term of office.  I do not get any feeling from the Mayor of what his view is about this infrastructure: whether 

we should have one single waste authority, whether there should be four subregional ones or what.  Is it not 

important that we take a stand on the issue?  If we do not want to force people to do it by direction, is it not 

important to have that link between infrastructure and recycling rates?  I think earlier questioning said it is 

quite important, but I do not get the feeling that we are moving on that issue or even putting up a flag on a 

mast and saying, “This is the position of the Mayor and this is what we should do if we want to increase these 

rates”.  Discuss. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  You will remember, Len, because I 

think we were both here at the time, the amount of time that went into arguing about a single waste disposal 

authority with people like Brian [Coleman] and others.  It was a huge distraction from actually helping 

boroughs to get on with improving their services.  It is something that would be helpful and, as I said, we have 

raised these issues at officer level with officials, pointing out the difficulties when you have contracts that do 

not align, that have different gate fees and so on.   

 

Improving that would be something that they would be able to deal with, but in the meantime our focus is very 

much, as we said, on supporting boroughs through the reduction and recycling plans, through the programmes 

that we have at the LWARB and through the work that we are doing here at the GLA in order to increase the 

ability of boroughs to deliver.  There is still the issue that boroughs know what their local circumstances are 

best, which is why we have set out a high-level approach of what is needed across London, the consistency of 

policy and approach, but how boroughs deliver that we are leaving up to boroughs. 

 

Page 23



 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Would you agree with me that we could see a major step change in these recycling rates if 

there was -- in your words, Andrew [Dunwoody], “Disparate stretches, disparate contracts”, I think I wrote 

down here, in terms of bringing them together.  Would it make a difference?  Would it make a substantial 

difference? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  It could -- 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Now, the question of whether you want to spend time and effort on it is up to you.  I do not 

mind that, but I would like to know whether that is where we should be aiming.  You and the Government 

working together with local authorities, saying, “If we really want to make a difference we have to do 

something differently.  We have to do the structures differently, get hold of these contracts and work them in 

a different way”; I do not see that.  I do not see that position.  I see lots of good effort going in there about 

sharing good practice but if you really want to change and, I suggest, meet these targets, then you need to do 

something slightly different or at least move towards it.  I am not into beating people over the head -- 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  No, of course not. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  -- and I am not into giving directions, but I am into people leading a discussion about what 

is best for London in this particular issue in terms of increasing recycling rates.  It is that.   

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  We have done that through the 

development of the Environment Strategy and we are doing that through developing our response to the 

Government’s waste recycling strategy as well.  It would need a lot more consideration because things have 

changed in terms of the international and national context as well.   

 

Len Duvall AM:  Are we in agreement then for a single waste authority or are we in agreement for four 

strategic or a number of strategic waste authorities in London?  What is the Mayor’s position?  That is what I 

would like to know.  What is it? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Our position at the moment is to work 

with the existing structures that we have and use the opportunity of the Government’s waste strategy to raise 

the issues that are impeding and could facilitate an improvement in recycling rates in London.  One of those 

things would be looking at governance.  The other would be looking at resourcing.  As we said, what boroughs 

are telling me is that it is not the governance that is stopping this, it is not having the finance to enable the 

infrastructure to go in or to enable them to provide services that would meet -- 

 

Len Duvall AM:  OK, let us talk about finance then.  What is the ask?  You earlier alluded to - and we will no 

doubt go into that - the air quality ask, going into the Comprehensive Spending Review.  What are we saying 

about waste in London?  What is the ask?  It may relate to a secondary question I want to ask.  What is our 

bid?  What is the thinking? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  In the Waste Strategy we have 

identified a net cost of £100 million and devolution of the landfill tax credits.  As I alluded to earlier, that is 

net.  The costings, depending on the recycling rate that you are going for, are between £100 million and 

£300 million.  We have had conversations with London Councils to talk about how we might develop a better 

case and a more refined case as part of the Comprehensive Spending Review that is coming up on waste 

management, so those figures may change. 

 

Page 24



 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Now to turn to the other infrastructure, the recycling infrastructure, in terms of the private 

sector and some of the third sector, like the organisation that Assembly Member Cooper mentioned.  It is quite 

interesting because I thought that was part of the problem, really: you signpost people to another place to go 

and take it.  We want to make it easy for them.  If they are putting it in one place, why can you not -- I do not 

want to use the word “direct”.  Why can you not just say, “Where there is infrastructure in position in your 

locality on textiles, we want you to separate it at that point”, not make me do an extra journey, because I 

would be adding to all sorts of pollution, no doubt, in doing the extra journey.  We know recycling is all about 

making it easy.   

 

What can we do apart from good practice and encouraging?  Encouragement is fine as an approach but it is 

not going to do anything for these targets.  We are going to carry on.  More of the same is not going to make 

us meet your ambitious targets.  That is my contention at this moment in time.  The question then is, on that 

infrastructure, how do we support those recycling bits and pieces that make things happen more easily for 

those collecting waste and taking it wherever they use it, dispose of it or hopefully reuse it again?  What is our 

plan?  What is our strategy for that?  What are we doing about that infrastructure?   

 

I presume it will not be just your unit.  This is a crossover to the London Economic Action Partnership (LEAP), 

is it not?  One of the arguments about recycling is that it could be commercial.  Some of it may need subsidy 

and I think there is an argument about subsidy.  I am not afraid of talking about subsidies.  Tell us what the 

strategy is and what the thinking is. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The strategy that we have set out in 

the Environment Strategy and the London Plan talks about making sure that we have sufficient space for 

facilities for reprocessing, recycling and so on.  The Environment Strategy sets out the policies.  The 

mechanism for ensuring that boroughs take this seriously is through the reduction and recycling plans.  This is 

a new approach.  Previously, when the contracts came up every 10 or whatever years, that was the only time 

that the Mayor was able to intervene and say, “You should really be looking at things differently”.  As you 

know, the Mayor’s powers are very limited in that he can comment on the contract specification before it goes 

out to tender but once it has gone, that is it, other than a voluntary approach with the boroughs.   

 

The reduction and recycling plans, the boroughs are mandated to prepare them and they are mandated to look 

at the whole of the service.  One of the things Assembly Member Arbour talked about was waste transfer 

stations and making things easy for people, not having to travel across the borough.  We have asked boroughs 

to look at cross-borough arrangements.  Where I am in my borough, I face exactly that problem.  We are 

saying, “You have to make it easy for people so we would like you to look at that”, and as part of that 

approach that will give us a sense of what is possible for boroughs and what more they might be able to do.   

 

Some of that would require contractual changes, which then incur a cost.  Sometimes it is not the willingness 

of the borough to do that, it is the willingness of the contractor.  It is a big issue for certainly some of those 

East London Waste Authority boroughs that have some very poor recycling rates.  That is something again that 

we have been looking at, what more we might be able to do to get those contractors to step up their game in 

London because they are impeding the recycling rate for those boroughs and then, consequentially, London.   

 

That is the mechanism.  Through that mechanism we will be assessing and challenging the borough’s response 

to delivery and the make-up of the service, using the best practice that we have seen from, say, Sutton or 

other boroughs to say, “They are able to do it and it could bring you waste savings you could redirect into the 

service to enable you to do more or do it better, so what is your rationale for not doing that?” That is exactly 

what we are going to be doing.  Then ultimately the Mayor has a power to direct but as I have said, we have to 

Page 25



 

 

go through the process to make sure that we are on solid ground for taking forward any sort of action like 

that. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  He is not likely to use that, is he, because he wants to go for - I think there is no one right 

answer to it - a consensus approach?  But there comes a time, would you not agree, when that consensus 

approach does not work?  I am not going to put you on the spot, “When is the Mayor going to do a 

direction?” but can I ask it from a different angle, then?  Do we have projects in the pipeline where we are 

working with local authorities - you mentioned one about encouraging the cross-border issue, which answers 

Assembly Member Arbour’s point - or in partnerships with either the third sector or the private sector, maybe?  

Maybe it requires a bit of subsidising and pump-priming for the alternative infrastructure, not the incinerator 

infrastructure.  Cory is way ahead there.  There must be some of those in London.  How many projects do we 

have like that that are active and that may well be talking to other colleagues in this building from an 

economic development point of view and support in those terms?  What do we have? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  We have a couple of projects, again, 

through working with the Waste Action Board and also through the Economic Development team: accelerators, 

people coming up with ideas for new products and new services; the commercial waste that I was referring to, 

which is about encouraging local authorities to collect more commercial waste.  That is either the local 

authority itself or creating new partnerships with the private sector.  That sector economy approach is really 

about encouraging new businesses and existing businesses to change their business models, to recognise that 

business models are changing, to focus on more of that circular economy approach.  That reduces the amount 

of waste produced in the first place.  It reduces the amount of waste that has to be disposed of in a more 

unsustainable way like incineration or landfill. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  In terms of supporting some of those areas, if we take Assembly Member Cooper’s project on 

textiles, if they are working in a borough and we know, presumably we map what we think the gaps are - 

independently or maybe working in partnership with others - in London at different levels of bits we want to 

recycle.  Is that true?  Do we have an independent assessment or is there a partnership assessment done by the 

Board that you mentioned?  Does that exist? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I am not quite sure about the gaps.  

We know that we need to do more on certain sectors, but we do not have a borough-by-borough map.  Local 

authorities would get a sense of where they are not collecting, say, enough food waste, but I am not sure that 

we would have a map of -- 

 

Len Duvall AM:  The infrastructure gaps? 

 

Andrew Dunwoody (Policy & Programmes Manager – Waste & The Green Economy):  Not a map of 

the gaps.  We have a map that shows the infrastructure we have in place for various waste streams, but that is 

more about the existing infrastructure in order to be able to protect that rather than gaps per se. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Would it not be useful to have one? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Possibly.  I am struggling.  At a very 

specific level - textiles, for example, that are wasted in Southwark and Bromley and understanding that - you 

would get a high-level view, which we have done through the LWARB sector economy report, which recognises 

the value in that sector that needs to be then addressed.  That gives the high-level size of the problem. 

 

Page 26



 

 

They have also come up with a route map for how you might look at that and have various projects in train to 

help reduce that approach, which includes some of the support, the accelerators, the technical groups, the 

best-practice groups and so on.  Then we have the finance available to support that through the LEAP and 

other programmes.  We have that in place. 

 

I am not quite sure.  If you are looking at a very specific issue, we would have to do more research, I guess, on 

it. 

 

David Kurten AM:  I noticed in answer to Assembly Member Arbour’s question on incinerators you said that 

London has many incinerators, many more than we need.  I just wanted to ask you.  How many do we have 

according to your figures and how many do you think we need? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  We do not need any more.  We have 

three or four. 

 

Andrew Dunwoody (Policy & Programmes Manager – Waste & The Green Economy):  Four, I believe.  I 

am not sure I have the information to hand -- 

 

David Kurten AM:  We have four at the moment and that is more than we need, you think? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The capacity that those incinerators 

have we have modelled against our 65% recycling target.  On that basis, we do not need any more 

energy-from-waste incineration capacity in London. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Would you like to see some of them closed?  Do you think some of them should be 

closed?  You did say we have more than we need.  Would you like to see some of them closed? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  We would prefer that they were not 

needed anymore because we are recycling more.  We need to support the recycling approach we are taking, 

which will then boost the amount of tonnage of waste that is being recycled, which would then essentially 

make them redundant over time, yes. 

 

David Kurten AM:  One of the problems with recycling that I see is that people recycling in good faith but a 

lot of the recycling does not get recycled in this country.  We used to send it to China and now China has 

changed its rules and will not take our recycling.  Instead, we send it to Bangladesh, Indonesia and places like 

that.  That is not taking responsibility for our own waste in this country.  Do you not think that incinerating it 

here, in the UK, would be better than sending it to Bangladesh, Indonesia or Vietnam? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I take your point, but our modelling is 

based on London dealing with its own waste in London.  We have looked at the current incineration capacity 

and taken that into account and we think that can be done.  The Cory incinerator extension is proposing to 

import waste from outside of London and presumably from other places to incinerate rather than using its 

existing capacity just to deal with -- 

 

David Kurten AM:  I imagine they could deal with the waste that we now send to Bangladesh and Indonesia.  

That could be incinerated here.  We could take responsibility for it.  That is a good thing, is it not? 

 

Page 27



 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  That is not London’s waste.  London’s 

waste can be dealt with by the existing capacity and, if we recycle more, we will not need any more incineration 

capacity. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Provided the recycling is done in this country.  You have to look at the issues holistically.  

Anyway, that was just a point.  It would be good if you could consider that.   

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Thank you.  I am going to move us on.  I would like to take this opportunity to 

welcome some visitors to the gallery.  We have students from New City College, Hackney, NewVIc College, 

Newham, City and Islington College, Islington, and Richmond upon Thames College, Richmond, who are 

undertaking environmental campaigns as part of the My World My Home programme in their colleges and 

communities this year.  Welcome to all of you. 

 

We have just been talking about waste and recycling and we are about to move on to discuss the climate 

emergency.  I am going to bring in Assembly Member Cooper.  Actually, we are not discussing the climate 

emergency.  We are discussing something that relates to the climate emergency, which is zero carbon in 

London. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  When the Mayor took office in 2016 and when he was working up his 

manifesto in 2015/16, he set a goal in the manifesto that London would achieve zero-carbon city status by 

2050.  We were ahead of the rest of the world at that point in making that declaration and it was very welcome 

to see a Mayor very committed to that. 

 

However, now the rest of the world has looked at the more recent Intergovernmental Panel on Climate 

Change’s (IPCC) reports and is catching up with the idea that we have to be heading towards zero carbon by 

the middle of the century if not earlier.  We passed a resolution in December [2018] saying that there is a 

climate emergency and that we feel it is urgent to try to limit global warning to 1.5 degrees.  The Mayor has 

then followed what we agreed in the Assembly by declaring a climate emergency. 

 

Should we be looking to extend our ambition and speed up our trajectory towards zero carbon? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The Mayor, as you have mentioned, 

has already recognised that we are in a climate emergency by saying that he wanted to make London a 

zero-carbon city by 2050.  All the policies that we have in the Environment Strategy and the suite of strategies 

that have been published in the London Plan through to the Economic Development Strategy and the others 

all recognise and try to give effect to that ambition. 

 

We have undertaken very detailed modelling for this Strategy, which we then have checked with independent 

assessments and auditors through the C40 Cities Group and their people, to ensure that our plan conforms 

with a 1.5-degree compliant plan, which is essentially what the IPCC report was saying was needed. 

 

That report said that it is really important that we take action in the next 12 years.  It is not necessarily saying 

that we have to change our target.  It is very clear that the actions that are needed need to be undertaken very 

quickly and get that underway.  All of the actions it is talking about that are within the gift of the Mayor are 

within our Strategy and we already have programmes underway in many of those areas. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  I am just wondering.  We are a very affluent country.  We have been 

emitting a lot of greenhouse gases for a long time because we had our Industrial Revolution very early on.  At 

one point, we were also deemed to be the ‘dirty man of Europe’ when we allowed lots of acid rain to float all 

over the rest of Europe. 

Page 28



 

 

 

We have cleaned up our act in many ways, but should we be moving faster to try to achieve a zero-carbon city 

by 2030?  Would you be looking for all the political parties as we head towards the elections in 2020 to be 

making a pledge to start to speed up what we are doing?  This period of 12 years and action to take is going to 

be absolutely critical.  That is what everyone is saying. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  It is absolutely right that we need to 

speed up and you can see from my opening statement that the Mayor has already embarked on a number of 

areas within the powers he has and with the resources he has to speed that action up.  He has made his case to 

the Government in a number of consultation responses and meetings about what more is needed.  We are 

waiting to see the Committee on Climate Change (CCC) report, which is due out shortly and which is looking at 

the IPCC report to see what is needed to be done. 

 

The focus is very much on how we might accelerate action.  As I mentioned, again, in the opening statement, 

the Mayor has been really clear that in order to speed up that action, we need the Government to set the right 

policy, for example on decarbonising heat.  We still need to understand what it is going to talk about and what 

direction it wants to go.  The biggest policy the Government could help with is making energy efficiency and 

funding energy efficiency a national infrastructure priority.  That would help not only our carbon targets but 

also the scandal that we have with one in ten households being in fuel poverty in London.  As you mentioned, 

we are an affluent society and that is shocking. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  As you know because you have heard me talk about it only very 

recently, that is a view that I share very strongly.  It needs to be a national infrastructure priority. 

 

If I can just come back to the carbon trajectory for the Mayor, the previous Mayor had set a target that looked 

to achieve more earlier.  I am still concerned that in that early period between 2020 and 2024 we might be 

moving a bit slowly.  We need to be moving more quickly.  Is that something that your team will be reviewing 

so that we can speed up work towards that target? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  We reviewed that as part of the 

Environment Strategy.  The previous Mayor’s target was unachievable because a lot of the national 

Government policy that it relied on had been taken away: the Green Deal, the energy efficiency measures and 

so on.  We have been arguing for the reinstatement, for example, of the Code for Sustainable Homes.  We have 

seen a recent report that said that, nationally, it is costing people £200 a year because of that national energy 

efficiency approach.  Luckily, in London, we have managed to retain a zero-carbon homes policy.  The Mayor is 

extending that now to zero-carbon development because we see the value in that for people’s and businesses’ 

bills and, as I said, also for fuel poverty. 

 

We have reviewed that target.  What we have decided to do is to look at the pathway or the trajectory to get 

to zero carbon by 2050 in a 1.5-degree compliant way, in a Paris Agreement way, and we have set out a series 

of carbon budgets and the policies that need to happen.  That is set out for the next 15 years in three carbon 

budgets.  Rather than just setting an arbitrary date and an arbitrary number, the team has worked very hard to 

work bottom-up to see what is possible in London.  Given the policy context that we have and trying to 

understand what might be possible permutations, we have picked a way that will give us a no-regrets option 

over the next few years whilst we have the policies and the powers that we have.  Then there are trigger points 

that would allow us to pivot when the Government makes a decision on decarbonising heat or when it decides 

something around energy efficiency. 

 

Page 29



 

 

At the moment, the Mayor has powers to deliver only half of the emissions reduction that we have in London.  

We absolutely need the Government to step up.  Preferably, we need the Government to step up and to 

devolve more powers to the Mayor.  For example, being able to set minimum energy efficiency standards and 

being able to regulate that would be a great help both in talking about energy efficiency and in helping to 

tackle fuel poverty. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  I want to move on to talk about domestic energy efficiency, but I do 

really agree with you about the scrapping of the Green Deal and the Energy Companies Obligation (ECO) has 

never really delivered and the Green Deal has never really delivered.  Scrapping the Code for Sustainable 

Homes has been really unhelpful.  However, it is not just those new homes; it is good that the Mayor is saying, 

“Let us keep zero-carbon homes for new build”, but we also have the issue of the vast amount of London’s 

housing stock that the Green Deal and ECO have not really even touched the sides.  Most loft insulation has 

been done but other elements of insulation are very difficult.  A lot of the stock here is Victorian and 

Edwardian solid-wall and so on. 

 

What are we doing around domestic energy efficiency retrofit?  It is not just for housing associations and local 

authorities to step up.  We also need to be driving that much more in the private sector.  The private rented 

sector particularly has been massively growing.  I just wondered if you could set out what we are going to be 

doing on this because this really addresses also fuel poverty and the really high bills that some people are 

suffering from. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  When the Mayor was elected and came 

in, we looked at the programmes that we had, and we reconfigured them.  We have a Warmer Homes 

Programme which is now looking at deeper measures because of, precisely as you said, 

Assembly Member Cooper, the number of homes that have had the very basic measures partly funded through 

ECO in previous years have been done.  To get the carbon emissions and to deal with the fuel poverty 

problems that we have in London, we really need to go much deeper. 

 

We are doing two things to address that apart from the lobbying for more powers and the resources that we 

need.  One is the Warmer Homes Programme, which is providing funding for people to improve the energy 

efficiency of their homes but taking a slightly more holistic and deeper approach.  We are recognising that we 

cannot just put a boiler in and then leave because often there are things that will counter the impact of that 

boiler.  We would be looking at damp-proofing and so on.  It makes it slightly more expensive per home, but it 

makes it a much better outcome for the tenants or residents because it means that they will have the thermal 

comfort, better health and wellbeing, and cheaper bills.  That is one thing that we are doing.  The Warmer 

Homes Programme is something in the order of £4.5 million.  We are anticipating that we are going to be 

implementing it in over 1,000 homes that will be funded out of that programme.  We have had 400 or so 

installed already with many more installations going in.  We are looking at a successor programme to that. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  Can I just ask you?  We have just produced a report through the 

Committee and we also paid a visit to the Thamesmead [Housing Co-operative] and to Peabody Housing 

Association.  They have been very careful to triage the residents and the properties to make sure that they go 

to the homes where they have had the worst problems.  They are planning a big redevelopment of the estate, 

but in the meantime, there has been a lot of people living with cold, condensation, damp and mould.  One of 

the things that came out very strikingly from that is that it is not good enough to just put in a new boiler or 

new windows to make somewhere warmer; you also need to be really careful about what you are doing in terms 

of ventilation. 

 

Page 30



 

 

I just want to check first of all that you have perhaps even had the chance to look at our report and also that 

ventilation is part of what you are doing so that you bring those measures together.  Otherwise, you make a 

house nice and warm and it becomes watertight, effectively, and then you create lots of warm space and 

dampness, and that creates mould. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  That is essentially the Warmer Homes 

approach.  We have learned lessons, including from talking to people at Thamesmead, which recognise that it 

is not enough just to put something in and leave because it does not make it effective.  It is looking at 

ventilation, looking at damp-proofing, talking to the tenants themselves.  We have funded a programme that 

now operates London-wide that identifies and refers people who are in fuel poverty to the Warmer Homes 

Programme and in the meantime -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  How are you identifying the people in fuel poverty?  That was 

something they had been very good at in Thamesmead.  They had triaged people.  After producing the first 

London Fuel Poverty Action Plan, how are we doing with making sure that we are getting the measures really 

targeted to the people who need them most? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  It is precisely through that service 

because the local authorities that are part of this London-wide service and the non-governmental 

organisations, like Citizens Advice, make referrals in because people have come to them with problems around 

fuel poverty.  They have done the assessments and given them energy and income advice as well. 

 

It has meant that the applications we get and the throughput into the pipeline for installations is much better.  

Before, there was a lot of dropout because they were not necessarily eligible.  It has meant that it is a very high 

conversion rate in terms of referrals into installations or approvals for installations. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  Are you also getting referrals from the Citizens Advice Bureau, which is 

quite often doing debt counselling with people who are on the edge of having their meters cut off and things 

like that? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Through that service, the borough and 

the Citizens Advice Bureau are working together. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  They are referring in as well.  That is great.  Is that, do you think, the 

span of what the GLA is able to do in terms of addressing what has been a failure in the retrofit market?  Is 

there anything else that we can do to improve how we target getting to the right properties and the right 

people as quickly as possible? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  One of the things that we have been 

doing is also starting to trial a private rented sector approach.  We have very many tenants who are in fuel 

poverty in the private rented sector.  The problem has been that they may want to apply but they need the 

landlords’ permission.  Sometimes the landlords want to do it but they need the tenants’ permission.  We are 

trialling that approach at the moment.  The minimum energy efficient standards upgrade allows for a 

contribution for the landlord to contribute, but it is capped at something that we did not agree with - £3,000, 

when we were looking at £5,000 as a minimum in London - in order to enable those improvements.  We want 

to see how that works, but it is the first time it is being done, certainly in London.  We want to be able to see 

how that works, but we know that is a massive area that needs to be dealt with. 

 

Page 31



 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  Perhaps afterwards you can write to us and tell us how many of those 

private rented sector properties have gone through that scheme and how that is developing. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  How it is working, yes. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  This Committee has actually recommended previously that London should be 

going ahead with its own funding scheme using the energy savings to repay loans and recycling those 

repayments into further loans.  I have a quote from the transcript from the 6 December [2018] meeting that 

“the GLA is looking in the coming couple of years to identify funding models and business cases potentially 

involving the Mayor’s Energy Efficiency Fund or the GLA’s green finance workstream to enable retrofit in 

London to be financed independently of Government programmes.” 

 

Can you just tell us a bit about that work in terms of trying to have something that is London-run in terms of 

funding this work? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  We have been working with the 

Mayor’s Energy Efficiency Fund and also with the London Sustainable Development Commission and the team 

here, looking at what funding models might be available to support energy retrofits in the private rented 

sector, social housing and able-to-pay.  It is a very complicated process.  That is one of the things that is being 

examined at the moment.  We hope to have some sort of report at some point but I am not exactly sure where 

we are with it. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Do you have any kind of timescale on that? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Not yet, no, but I can write to you on 

that. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  If you could, it would be very helpful.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  I am coming back to what might be something that is picked up by 

Energy for Londoners: energy for Londoners.  We have been waiting for it with bated breath but we did not, 

luckily, hold our breath because that might have been a bit awkward.  Would you like to tell us a little bit more 

about progress on finally setting up London’s affordable energy supply?  I was not expecting it to be set up by 

June 2016, but it does feel as though it has been a bit of a long time coming. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  All right.  I am just trying to find the 

page with my words. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  Hopefully that will not take quite as long as getting Energy for 

Londoners set up. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Just to be clear, we are in a 

procurement process and we are doing that through a competitive dialogue process, which basically means 

that we have detailed and confidential discussions with the potential bidders.  That is working very well in that 

we are able to set out exactly what the Mayor is seeking in terms of his ambitions for that supply company and 

understanding what the market can offer.  As I have said, we have had very good discussions. 

 

The complication is that this is the first time it has been done in London.  It is a novel project and so it is one 

that we need to take forward very carefully.  We are in an Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU) 

Page 32



 

 

process, which, as those of you who are involved in OJEU processes know, is very long and complicated.  We 

are in that process and we hope that we will be coming to a conclusion soon, but that is all I am able to say at 

this moment to respect the confidentiality of the process. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  We are not still looking at a launch of Energy for Londoners in the 

summer of 2019?  Somehow I had absorbed that information from somewhere. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  We are hoping to launch at some point 

this year [2019] but I cannot say more than that because it really depends on the outcome of the procurement. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  We are hoping to launch at some point in 2019? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  That is the ambition but it really 

depends on the procurement. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  It is disappointing to probably the entire Committee.  I know Licence 

Lite took about 100 years in the end to be nailed down, but that is now operational.  I had hoped that the 

learning from going through the processes with Licence Lite might have made this process slightly faster.  No? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  It is a very different process.  We are 

working with energy companies in a market that is changing very fast.  We are wanting to make sure that it is 

still relevant.  As I have said, we do not have our own contact with residents or tenants.  We are not a local 

authority. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  We do not have stock, yes. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  As I have said, this is the GLA and it is 

a different proposition.  However, it is a much quicker route than if we had gone down alternative routes. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  My feeling was that given that we are in a different kind of market and 

that we have a couple of the smaller energy start-ups now facing some difficulties and that it probably would 

have taken even longer if it had been a directly managed, fully licensed energy company, this is probably the 

best alternative and possibly also is a stepping stone to a full energy company once this is launched.  That is 

why it is particularly disappointing to me that we have not been able to move ahead more quickly with this.  It 

does seem to be moving very slowly. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  One of the reasons is because the 

Mayor is being very demanding.  You will have seen a number of the smaller suppliers come in with a very low 

tariff that they are not able to support and then go out of business.  That cost falls on other energy 

companies.  In theory, the customer just moves over. 

 

We want to make sure that we have a solid proposition that deals with the issues that customers have raised 

about wanting tariffs that they believe are fair, that they have good service and that they have a trusted 

supplier.  To do that, we have to be really careful about the procurement process.  If that takes time to make 

sure that we mitigate those risks or avoid them altogether, it is well worth doing rather than launching 

something that then damages the ambitions we have to show that we can deliver fairer competitive prices and 

good service and tackle some of the environmental and fuel poverty objectives the Mayor has set out. 

 

Page 33



 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  At the centre of the offer, we will definitely be seeing an opportunity 

for Londoners to easily access low prices for their energy? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  That is absolutely central to the offer.  

It is within a range, but it is a competitive price, yes. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Could I just come in here?  I wondered about Transport for London (TfL).  I 

understand it uses 2% of the electricity supplied in the whole of the UK.  That is part of the GLA Group.  Does 

that part of procurement give you a massive customer very early on for Energy for Londoners? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The energy company we are setting up 

is for domestic residents.  It is not for -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Only domestic? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Yes.  What we are doing with TfL is 

looking at how we can make that energy purchase more green and how we might reduce its energy for a start.  

TfL is doing lots of work on the energy efficiency approach for stations, rolling stock and so on, but there are 

two separate things, essentially. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  The other thing I was wondering about was health procurement and 

procurement around boroughs for energy, like Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs).  Are there any 

opportunities there to expand the market that you are supplying? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I am not sure how. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  I just wondered.  The boroughs must be procuring energy.  The CCGs must be 

procuring energy.  Are there procurement opportunities that would allow Energy for Londoners to supply 

beyond the domestic market? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Not through the Energy for Londoners 

supply company.  As I have said, that is directed to Londoners’ residential homes.  Separately, the work that we 

are doing on power purchase agreements with TfL and so on have lessons learned for some of those local 

authorities.  We would be encouraging them to go down that route. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  I wanted to ask you about smart meters.  When the Government first 

started talking about it, they were going to be rolled out to every single dwelling in the whole country by 

2019/20.  It was certainly a pledge that the Mayor made in his manifesto for the 2016 election that he would 

be supporting smart meters.  I am not sure whether this is going to be something that Energy for Londoners 

was going to take on. 

 

How is the rollout of smart meters going in London and what has the Mayor been able to do to do anything 

quickly on this?  We do seem to have fallen terribly behind on this project. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  This is a national Government project, 

just to be absolutely clear, and it is the energy companies that are rolling out smart meters.  We have raised 

consistently with the energy companies, Energy UK and the Government our concern that the smart meter 

programme has fallen way behind.  It is picking up, but you will have seen probably in the press and at Select 

Committees and various other venues that the problem has been the older current meters, Smart Metering 

Page 34



 

 

Equipment Technical Specifications (SMETS) 1, moving to the new ones, SMETS 2.  They are not 

interoperable. 

 

The pace of rollout by the energy companies has been very poor.  It is a similar one that we have seen in terms 

of energy efficiency where they prefer not to direct their investment in London.  We have been trying to get 

some sort of collaboration with the energy companies to try to get them to move faster.  We have offered to 

work with them and work on a pilot.  I raised that with the Minister, Claire Perry [MP, Minister of State for 

Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy], when I met her a couple of weeks ago.  They have not been hugely 

forthcoming and I do not want to be rolling out old meters to customers.  We want to know that the SMETS 2 

meters are going into London’s homes. 

 

Then we have the added problem where the meters do not work in flats and multi-rise buildings.  We do not 

have a solution in London and so we are pushing back to the Government and saying, “We are willing to do 

this”.  The Mayor has, as you mentioned, made a commitment to do that.  We have been working very hard to 

try to get those energy companies to work on it at a much more accelerated pace. 

 

Those smart meters will help people manage their energy bills.  They will also help us manage the energy 

supply so that we have something that is much more efficient. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  They will, absolutely.  As we move to decentralisation and 

decarbonisation of the grid, we desperately need them to help with that management process.  Perhaps you 

could write to us afterwards about this because we are a little bit short of time and about whether you have a 

handle on how far the rollout has proceeded now across London, conducted by the energy companies. 

 

In fact, talking about decentralisation and decarbonisation of the grid, that leads me on to the next area I 

wanted to ask you about.  How much decentralised generating capacity has London gained since the Mayor 

came in in 2016 and how much more is going to be needed by 2030? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  We have done quite a lot of work 

through what we are able to do in London through the powers that we have.  It is largely through the new 

development powers that we have, requiring the installation of solar and other renewable energy capacity on 

new developments.  We have done some work through our Solar Together programme and the RE:FIT 

programme, which is putting installations of solar panels on schools, for example, and making sure that we see 

more of that rolled out.  Through RE:FIT, we are working with a pipeline of projects including hospitals and 

other public-sector buildings. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  And the London Community Energy Fund as well, which has helped 

some community energy groups. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Yes.  The London Community Energy 

Fund replaced a fund that the Government had -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  That the Government scrapped, yes. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  -- that was scrapped.  In consultation 

with those community energy groups, we asked them what they needed.  Was it capital funding?  They were 

saying, “Actually, what we need is the funding to do the feasibility and the businesses cases”.  They are being 

phenomenally successful in crowdfunding and delivering. 

 

Page 35



 

 

What is unfortunate is that that growth in that sector is being stifled by the removal of the Feed-in Tariffs and 

the successor regime that the Government has been talking about.  There is no transition.  It ends in March 

[2019] and there is no date for when that comes in.  People are really uncertain about where to go and what to 

do.  Also, the successor scheme militates against smaller groups.  It does not really help the decentralisation of 

the energy that we need in London. 

 

I have the figures in here somewhere, but I cannot find them. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  Perhaps you could also send those over afterwards. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Yes. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  Assembly Member Russell just spoke about TfL and whether or not it 

could become a customer of Energy for Londoners.  I understand that TfL’s energy bill is huge for electricity: 

£200 million a year.  Wow.  I am glad I do not have to pay that.  It seems to me that there is a lot of energy in 

the Tube.  We have talked about taking the energy off at Bunhill.  I thought that was going to be a precursor 

to taking energy off elsewhere. 

 

Perhaps there are a few things that TfL could be doing to reduce energy bills.  Quite often we see four empty 

escalators running up and down.  It seems to me that TfL should perhaps be looking to, during the day when it 

is not the rush-hour, not run all the escalators empty up and down. 

 

Also, TfL has an ability to generate and is going to be generating up to one megawatt of solar energy.  That is 

the capacity for this year [2019], but the Mayor has a goal of 100 megawatts by 2030.  Going from 1 to 100 is 

quite a gap.  What is happening on that front? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  TfL has been assessing what is possible 

and what is feasible on the land and roofs.  I understand the report is with TfL and they are just looking at that 

and checking its accuracy and so on.  Then they are going to be looking at what is feasible.  Many of those 

sites, many of those rooftops, in fact, that TfL has and that we have in London are not suitable for solar.  They 

have to work out what is and then that will give the capacity.  Then they have to model and do the business 

case assessments, just like the community energy groups were doing, to work out what is feasible. 

 

TfL is working on installations.  The Acton Railway Depot will provide that one megawatt during this year 

[2019].  The feasibility studies will then give us the basis of the next phases of projects that will contribute to 

that 100 megawatts, which is the Mayor’s target for what he is able to facilitate through his programmes and 

through his functional bodies. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  In terms of the Solar Action Plan and in terms of marks out of 10, how 

far would you say that we have progressed?  Would you say you would give us two out of ten or eight out of 

ten or are we somewhere in the middle? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I would say ten out of ten.  We have a 

Solar Action Plan, which very few cities have.  We have a direction of travel.  We have funded community 

energy groups.  We have a number of programmes that are delivering on rolling out and supporting people to 

roll out solar.  We have our functional bodies looking at that.  It takes time to assess TfL’s estate in London.  It 

is very complicated. 

 

Page 36



 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  I do agree.  It would have been helpful if the previous Mayor [Boris 

Johnson], who had eight years to do some of these assessments, had been getting on with it, but he had 

actually got rid of most of the environmental staff at that time. 

 

Finally, in this transition towards decarbonised and decentralised and, hopefully, cheaper energy, how are we 

going to be making sure that that is being delivered for those Londoners who need it the most? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The energy supply company that the 

Mayor is developing will help to do that because it will be an offer that is very competitive compared to the 

‘big six’, not just in price but also in the service offer.  We have made it very clear in the tender that we want 

people to come forward with innovative services that will enable people to take advantage of new approaches, 

whether it is smart meters, helping people moving to battery storage, electric vehicle charging.  There are lots 

of other innovations that people are bringing forward, enabling some social justice outcomes, we hope, as well. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  In that case, you would then expect me to say that I am hoping it is 

going to be launched sooner rather than later -- 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Sooner rather than later, yes. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  -- if it is going to be the vehicle by which we are delivering to the right 

people at the right time, but preferably as soon as possible.  

 

David Kurten AM:  We know the Mayor wants to reduce pollutants in the air and he particularly talks about 

particulate matter less than 2.5 microns in diameter (PM2.5s) and NOx, nitrogen dioxide and nitrogen 

monoxide together.  PM2.5s, I understand, meet the legal limits at the surface, but there is a big problem on 

the Underground.  We have heard it is exceeding the limits by over ten times or 12 times in the Jubilee line, 

Northern line and so on, which is a big problem.  NOx levels still exceed the legal limits and have done in 

certain places in London. 

 

What is the Mayor going to do about accelerating the reduction of NOx in places where it still exceeds the 

limits and PM2.5s on the Underground? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Let us start with NOx.  We believe we 

will be in compliance in 2025.  However, if the Mayor were to be given additional powers or if the Government 

were to take action, we believe that date could be brought forward.  One of the key problems is that we have 

been focusing very much on where the Mayor is able to act, which is transport emissions, but non-transport 

emissions - for example, construction machinery and boilers in buildings, which emit a lot of NOx - could be 

tackled if the Mayor were to be given more powers or if the Government were to mandate certain action.  That 

is what we would like and we have been lobbying very hard for the Government to either take action itself or 

give us the powers to do that. 

 

On PM2.5s, as you know, all of London is in breach of the limit.  It will require a lot of action by the 

Government or, again, devolving powers to the Mayor to be able to take that action.  Some of it is 

transboundary pollution, but for the pollution that we are able to control, again, we would seek the powers to 

be able to do that. 

 

David Kurten AM:  PM2.5s on the Underground are very high.  What is he going to do about that? 

 

Page 37



 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The Mayor has already taken action.  

He has asked for a tunnel cleaning programme and work from TfL to look at that.  TfL has commissioned 

research to look at what the effects are.  That has been inconclusive, but the recommendations of that 

independent committee were to carry on monitoring, to provide some of the dust samples for further research 

and to carry on with the tunnel cleaning programme. 

 

At the moment, I would just stress that this is something really that I would get TfL to respond to you on 

because they are better placed to talk about this than I am.  The level of work that they are doing has been 

very good in that they are trying to understand the problem.  Certainly from the independent report, they have 

not identified any solutions. 

 

David Kurten AM:  At the surface for PM2.5s, I understand the limit is 25 micrograms per cubic metre and it 

should not breach an average of that over the year.  You said that all of London is in breach of that limit.  

What is the latest figure you have for London for PM2.5s? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  In terms of what level? 

 

David Kurten AM:  The annual average figure in micrograms per cubic metre. 

 

Elliot Treharne (Policy and Programmes Manager - Air Quality):  If I might jump in there, just to clarify 

one point, there is the legal limit, which is 25 micrograms, which London does meet.  Shirley was -- 

 

David Kurten AM:  It meets the legal limit?  That is not what you said earlier. 

 

Elliot Treharne (Head of Air Quality):  Yes.  Sorry, Shirley was referring to the World Health Organisation 

(WHO) recommended guidelines. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Which the Mayor has adopted and the 

Government has -- 

 

David Kurten AM:  What is that figure? 

 

Elliot Treharne (Head of Air Quality):  That is ten micrograms. 

 

David Kurten AM:  That is ten and so that is a lot lower.  I did ask you.  I did say it met the legal limit and you 

said it did not.  It does meet the legal limit but does not meet a lower target, which you have put in.   

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I misspoke.  It does meet the legal 

limit, but the Mayor has adopted the WHO health-based guidelines of ten micrograms by 2030, which we do 

not meet.  That WHO target the Government itself has been talking about adopting as well.  The direction of 

travel is very much towards ten micrograms because there is no safe, as I understand it, limit for PM2.5s. 

 

David Kurten AM:  When we talk about these limits, the levels on the Underground are far higher than at the 

surface.  Is the priority going to be to reduce the levels on the Underground, which are much higher than at 

the surface? 

 

Elliot Treharne (Head of Air Quality):  If you do not mind, if I can jump in, the composition of what is 

underground is potentially different to what is aboveground.  When you think about what is happening 

aboveground, you have a lot of sources like, for example, diesel combustion, which you do not have 

Page 38



 

 

underground.  This is part of the reason why TfL asked the Committee on the Medical Effects of Air Pollutants 

(COMEAP) to look at the issue.  As Shirley was explaining, the core recommendation was that much more work 

and analysis is needed.  The report did highlight that it was advisable and that TfL should continue to do the 

work that Shirley set out in terms of trying to reduce those levels through the cleaning programme and other 

interventions. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Do you want to reduce PM2.5 levels on the Underground to ten micrograms per cubic 

metre?  Is that your aim? 

 

Elliot Treharne (Head of Air Quality):  You do need to be a bit cautious at this point until we have a better 

understanding, as recommended by COMEAP, about some of those impacts.  It is not necessarily clear at this 

stage if we can do a direct comparison between ambient outdoor air quality and what is underground. 

 

David Kurten AM:  I can see that you are not giving straight “yes” as an answer and so I will move on.  For 

NOx emissions, I understand the legal limit is 40 micrograms per cubic metre in a 24-hour period average and 

that should not be exceeded more than 35 times per year. 

 

Is that being breached all over London or is it in certain specific areas that you are targeting?  I know you 

mentioned the clean bus corridors and they are having an impact.  What areas of London are still big problems 

for breaching that specific target on NOx? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  It is predominantly near roads because 

the main source is from diesel vehicles.  Whilst we have a lot of those diesel vehicles, we will have that problem 

across London.  Where there are more vehicles concentrated, the impact will be higher, which is why we are 

taking a systemic approach across London.  That includes the implementation of the ULEZ starting on 8 April 

[2019], in conjunction with the measures we are able to take through the Mayor’s powers in terms of cleaning 

up the bus fleet and cleaning up the taxi fleet. 

 

David Kurten AM:  You talk about the taxi fleet and I know that new taxis that are licensed have to be ZEC. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  From last year [2018]. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Yes, from last year, from the beginning of 2018, but that is not the case with private hire 

vehicles (PHVs) and that is not the case with these new on-demand bus services.  They are still being allowed 

to have new Euro 6 diesels.  Why is there an inconsistency between what you are doing with taxis and what 

you are doing with the PHV fleet? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The agreement to move to ZEC taxis 

was agreed under the previous administration.  We believe that we need to carry that on because taxis, 

especially black taxis, are very heavily polluting, particularly Euro 5s -- 

 

David Kurten AM:  You are not even allowing Euro 6s to continue. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I will get Elliot [Treharne] to come in 

and talk a little bit about the difference between Euro 5 and Euro 6, but the point I want to make is that the 

fleet is very polluting and so we need to clean up that fleet.  It was not being cleaned up as fast as the 

commitment had been made, and so we have said that we will be consulting on reducing the age limit that 

taxis have from 15 to 12 years.  We have restructured the delicensing fund and have seen very many taxi 

drivers applying for grants to scrap or delicense their vehicles, and so that is now having an effect.  The target 

Page 39



 

 

that we have to meet has been adopted by the Government and so it is in the Government’s national air quality 

plan as well as in the Mayor’s air quality plan to reduce those emissions.  We have to be tackling that source of 

emissions. 

 

David Kurten AM:  I do see what you are saying, and I hear your answer, but you did not answer me about 

the Euro 6s.  No new Euro 6 taxis can be licensed, but you are continuing to allow diesel Euro 6 PHVs to be 

licensed.  This is something the Mayor could not give an answer about earlier in the week.  If you had all done 

your homework, you would have an answer to that.  Why is there a discrepancy there?  Why are you continuing 

to allow PHVs to have Euro 6 diesels but not taxi vehicles? 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  The Mayor does not have the power to stop them, David.  It is not 

through our choice -- 

 

David Kurten AM:  I was asking the panel here. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  You know the answer to that. 

 

David Kurten AM:  I am not sure if I am going to get an answer - and I have other people in, too - from 

anybody. 

 

Elliot Treharne (Head of Air Quality):  The key thing to remember is that the approach that has been 

adopted for taxis reflects the way that they are licensed fleets and are licensed by the Mayor. 

 

David Kurten AM:  So are PHVs. 

 

Elliot Treharne (Head of Air Quality):  There have been different opportunities, given the differences 

between PHVs and the taxi fleet, to do something very exciting with the taxi fleet, which is to encourage the 

uptake of ZEC taxis.  For PHVs, which are a different fleet and operate in a different way across London with 

greater use potentially out in suburban London and outer London, we are still building towards that ZEC 

requirement but in designing the policy there was a decision to reflect the different circumstances of the 

different trades. 

 

David Kurten AM:  That was the Mayor’s decision?   

 

Elliot Treharne (Head of Air Quality):  As Shirley has explained, it was the previous administration. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  It was the previous Mayor’s [Boris 

Johnson] decision to move to ZEC taxis. 

 

David Kurten AM:  The current Mayor has been the Mayor for three years.  He has not changed the policy in 

three years? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  No, because it is the ambition, as we 

talked about before, to move to a zero-carbon city, and so they are set out -- 

 

David Kurten AM:  You are not doing that for PHVs. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  We are because there is a requirement 

by 2023 that new PHVs will have to be ZEC and then 2033 -- 

Page 40



 

 

 

Elliot Treharne (Head of Air Quality):  Yes, 2033 for both fleets.  If you look again, you do have different 

age limits in place for both PHVs and for taxis because, again, that reflects the different economics and 

different circumstances of the trade.  In terms of the end point, as set out in the Strategy, by 2033 both fleets 

are expected to be fully ZEC. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Finally we are getting to some sort of rationale for that.  For the next five years, it is 

going to hurt taxi drivers and it is going to introduce unfair competition, but we do have a rationale for that 

and so thank you for your answer there. 

 

You did mention also in your opening statement rapid charging points.  One of the things you said the Mayor 

has done is to introduce rapid charging points for these ZEC taxis.  You said there were 750.  Is that right? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  No, over 160 rapid chargers since the 

Mayor was elected. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Fine.  That is not enough for the ZEC taxis that there are and they are rapidly increasing 

in number.  What is the Mayor going to do to make sure that there are enough so that people who do take up 

one of these ZEC taxis are not queuing and can charge their taxis. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  There are over 60 - I think 64 - taxi 

dedicated rapid chargers in London.  There are about 1,000 ZEC taxis in London.  There is more than sufficient 

capacity to be dealing with the current fleet. 

 

David Kurten AM:  He wants 9,000.  That is his plan.  He says he wants 9,000 by 2020, which is only a few 

months away, and so that is not going to be enough at that point. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  That was the previous Mayor’s [Boris 

Johnson] target.  The target we are working to is a 45% emissions reduction from the taxi fleet.  It is now a 

65% reduction that the Government and we are working to.  It does mean many more taxis moving to being 

ZEC and the delicensing fund will help us do that and help them do that. 

 

I am chairing an Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Delivery Group, working with TfL, the boroughs, the industry 

and many stakeholders including Shell, UK Power Networks (UKPN) and others to understand the needs in 

terms of electric vehicle infrastructure, both rapid and standard chargers, over the next few years.  We will be 

reporting on that shortly and that will give you an indication of the number we need, but the Mayor has a 

target to introduce 300 rapid chargers by 2020. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Is that going to be enough for 9,000 taxis? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The report will set that out because we 

are looking at that.  That point that that figure is set at seems sufficient. 

 

David Kurten AM:  You will know when the report comes out.  That seems to be what you are saying. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The report will be out shortly and so I 

can let you know then because we are confirming the details at the moment.  The 300 at the moment are 

thought to be sufficient to deal with the rapid charging infrastructure that is needed in London rolling out to 

2020. 

Page 41



 

 

 

David Kurten AM:  You are saying 300 will be enough for 9,000 taxis? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I am saying that the report that we are 

issuing shortly, which will have input from electric vehicle charging companies, from UKPN, from the boroughs 

and from TfL will give you a more definitive number. 

 

Elliot Treharne (Head of Air Quality):  Do not forget you can charge these taxis overnight at home and 

there is a whole range of different circumstances and ways that people use their vehicles.  There does need to 

be the right amount of infrastructure and, as Shirley was explaining, that work is underway.  At the same time, 

you have to think that it is not necessarily going to be all of those, however many ZEC taxis there are, in 

central London having to use that charging infrastructure continuously. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Taxi drivers do charge up when they are at home, but they do need to charge up in the 

day if they are driving around a lot. 

 

Elliot Treharne (Head of Air Quality):  Yes, but that is not necessarily -- 

 

David Kurten AM:  You need enough for all of them to be able to charge in the day.  I will just ask you about 

the ULEZ that is coming in in April [2019], very soon.  How is that progressing and what problems have come 

up as you have been trying to implement that? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  It is progressing very well.  We are on 

track to launch on 8 April [2019].  We have, as you know, launched a scrappage scheme for microbusinesses 

and charities because the Government has not heeded our ask.  We have done lots of communication.  We 

have had an eight-month awareness-raising campaign.  We have been sending emails to anybody on the TfL 

and Auto Pay databases.  We have used the Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency for help to write to about 

250,000 vehicles that were seen in the area to be non-compliant.  You will have seen the advertising 

campaigns that are running at the moment.  We have vehicle checker allowing people to check vehicles.  Over 

2.5 million people have used that checker to make sure they are compliant.  There is lots of information out 

there and awareness is good. 

 

David Kurten AM:  You said about 250,000 vehicles will be affected by that.  Is that the number of vehicles 

you expect will be having to pay the charge? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  These were people who were seen and 

so, if they change their behaviour, they will not have to pay a charge. 

 

David Kurten AM:  One of the big problems is that businesses may be affected.  You did mention that you 

are going to help microbusinesses perhaps with the diesel scrappage scheme.  How do you define a 

microbusiness? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  A microbusiness is one that has fewer 

than ten employees and turnover is something in the order of £600,000 a year. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Will you be providing enough money for them to purchase new vehicles in their entirety 

that are ULEZ-compliant? 

 

Page 42



 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  There is a fund.  The scrappage 

amounts are there to contribute towards the purchase of a vehicle.  What they choose, whether a new or 

second-hand vehicle, would be -- in fact, they could join a car club or a van-sharing club. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Businesses that need to drive in and out all day, perhaps, with service vehicles, delivery 

vehicles, etc, would not want to use a car club.  I am talking about small and medium-sized businesses, but I 

do -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Sorry, Assembly Member Kurten.  Can I just interrupt for a moment?  Zipcar 

was talking just the other day about small businesses that need a van for only one particular journey in the day 

- like to go and pick up flowers from the market if it is a flower stall - are moving away from having their own 

van with all the problems of parking it and are using a car club van just for the journeys that need. 

 

David Kurten AM:  That might be true for some, but it is not true for all businesses because there are 

businesses that need to drive in and drive around a lot.  They are going to be hurt significantly.  How much 

money is going to be available to each business if they use your offer. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  There are two levels.  Do you have the 

details there? 

 

Elliot Treharne (Head of Air Quality):  Basically, there is an option to support people who would like to 

switch to an electric van and that has £6,000 of funding available to it, which includes a contribution 

potentially both towards the cost of the vehicle and also towards the running costs of that vehicle, and that is 

all provided as an upfront amount. 

 

There is also then a £3,500 payment if someone wants to scrap a vehicle, which can be used more flexibly.  

Either it can be used in order to get a compliant van or, alternatively, as was explained, a lot of businesses have 

differing circumstances and we want it to be as flexible as possible to accommodate as many of those as it 

could, which is why it can be used, for example, as part of a van-sharing scheme or to help a business in 

another way in terms of its administrative and running costs. 

 

David Kurten AM:  That might go some way to compensating microbusinesses, but not all of the way.  If you 

have a medium-sized business that bought a whole new fleet of Euro 6 or Euro 5 diesels in 2015 or 2016, it is 

going to be in severe trouble.  What are you going to do for those businesses? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  They have had ample notice. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  They knew about the ULEZ from 2015 and so why would you go out 

and buy it -- 

 

David Kurten AM:  It has been implemented a year before it was supposed to be implemented. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  No, it has not. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The Mayor signalled when he was 

elected on his manifesto and there have been three consultations and lots of publicity.  Actually, what we have 

seen is very many businesses moving to cleaner vehicles or electric vehicles.  I have visited a number of 

businesses that have looked at rerouting and looking at more efficient logistics in order to comply because 

Page 43



 

 

they recognise the health implications both for their customers and for their drivers of people driving around in 

dirty diesels.  I am encouraged that businesses want to do this and are stepping up to do this. 

 

What the Mayor has done is to make available some funding for those who might be particularly affected.  We 

have asked the Government to match that funding.  We are still waiting to see that.  The Clean Air Summit that 

he hosted showed that it is not just the London Mayor but these zones are going in across the country and 

other cities are looking for support from the Government for scrappage schemes as well. 

 

They also recognise that this is an important health issue.  The impacts on the health of children and the very 

elderly is pernicious and a huge cost to society and the National Health Service.  Businesses recognise that this 

is a social justice issue and they want to contribute. 

 

David Kurten AM:  It goes back to what we talked about before with NOx levels, which are under the legal 

limit, and we have nitrogen dioxide levels coming down.  That is a good thing.  I need to move on to talk 

about -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  David, if I can just remind you about the time, if you can be -- 

 

David Kurten AM:  Yes.  I am going to move on.  One thing I have mentioned before in these meetings is the 

school run and the emissions and pollution that comes from vehicles when people drive in large numbers 

outside schools.  What is the Mayor doing at the moment to help reduce pollution exposure for children and 

around schools? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  We have done a number of things.  For 

example, I alluded to the school audits.  This was identifying 50 schools in the worst polluted areas and 

carrying out audits so that we could compile some specific options for actions around those schools.  The types 

of measures that would go in were compiled into a toolkit that any school can use, whether they are in London 

or outside of London.  That has a series of measures from greening their schools to layout changes and looking 

at road interventions.  Also, we have funded some money to help those 50 schools to go forward with some 

specific recommendations that they choose to take forward. 

 

We have provided funding through the TfL Local Implementation Plan programme, which is funding for the 

boroughs so that they are able to take forward those audits or do their own measures.  We have the schools 

programme that TfL runs called STARS [Sustainable Travel: Active, Responsible, Safe], which talks about how 

you might walk to school or scoot to school in a safer way, reducing children’s exposure.  We are conducting a 

number of trials of wearable monitors and so on to give better information.  We are issuing alerts to schools. 

 

Ultimately, the thing that is going to make the biggest difference is the implementation of the ULEZ.  People 

talk about, “Clean up the bus fleet.  Clean up the taxi fleet.  We do not need to do anything more”.  It is not 

enough.  We have to do the ULEZ because that will bring down the emissions.  Over 450 schools are in areas of 

toxic pollution.  That will be brought down to zero in 2025 and four in 2020. 

 

I talked about the health implications to those children.  These are not just one-off implications.  These are for 

life.  They are missing school.  They are missing out on social activities.  Their parents are having to pay for 

inhalers.  This is wrong.  People understand that it is wrong and so they are very supportive of measures like 

the ULEZ coming in. 

 

Page 44



 

 

David Kurten AM:  I need to move on.  We are leaving the European Union (EU) on 29 March [2019], 

provided people do not scupper that.  What are the changes when we leave the EU?  Will that make any 

change to the plans to bring down PM2.5s and NOx or not at all? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The Government has said that there 

will be no regression from the environmental standards that the EU has set and that have been transposed into 

UK legislation.  We are looking for the Environment Bill that is going through Parliament at the moment to 

incorporate that non-regression commitment and to maintain the environmental principles that have been at 

the heart of the improvement of the UK environment over the past years, a phenomenal improvement in water 

in particular. 

 

On air quality, we are insistent that the ability for citizens to have recourse to the European Court of Justice is 

replicated in the UK if and when we leave the EU and that we have an independent watchdog that is 

independently staffed, has an independent budget and is able to hold the Government to account, so that 

people could take cases to court and the court would have the ability to fine the UK Government.  That ability 

that Client Earth used has really forced the pace and forced the hand of the Government to produce the Air 

Quality Strategy that we are now trying to implement.  We are still way behind where we need to be because 

there are still many provisions that need to be enacted, and I have talked about some of the ones that the 

Mayor would like devolved to him to be able to deal with sources of emissions that he does not have powers 

over.  That would make a huge difference to people’s lives and people’s health. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Thank you. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  It seemed earlier on, Shirley, that you said that we did not understand the impacts of the 

poor air quality in the Tube system.  Am I correct?  On the particulate matter, you said we still have to look at 

what those impacts are. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  COMEAP, which looked at that, said 

that the current research and evidence was inconclusive and asked for further monitoring to be done. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  They are suggesting the impact of that air is different underground than it is 

aboveground? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  They are saying that they do not know 

yet and they need further research work to understand what the differences and impacts are underground as 

aboveground. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  I find it quite surprising that if you are underground and you breathe air it has a different 

impact to breathing air aboveground. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Elliot [Treharne] pointed to the 

different sources and the different concentrations.  These are medical experts.  I am not a medical expert and I 

do not think you are. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Shirley, I am just having you clear that up for me.  Again, I am genuinely surprised that if 

we have the same particulate matter above and below ground, it will apparently have a different impact.  I am 

just genuinely surprised.  I am not trying to be difficult. 

 

Page 45



 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  We can send you a link to the report.  

Perhaps that might help. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Yes, that would be great.  I am genuinely surprised about that.  Another thing about 

charging systems, quickly.  One of the things that strikes me about electric cars and charging is that there are 

so many different plug standards and providers and deliverers.  What are we doing to mitigate what could be, 

quite frankly, a mess of providers and different plug types and the like? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Again, this is something that the 

Government could help with.  The interoperability is something that the Mayor raised when the Automated and 

Electric Vehicles Bill was making its way through Parliament.  It is now an Act.  The Government’s Office for 

Low Emission Vehicles (OLEV) is looking at trying to set those standards.  It is something that we have raised.  

There are also things like people’s ability to use contactless or just ordinary credit cards to pay rather than 

having membership cards.  These are all things that we are looking at in the report that I alluded to earlier and 

that we will be reporting to shortly.  These are some things that we are able to do on a voluntary basis to try to 

encourage operators.  The framework that we have in London encourages the operators we are using to do 

that, but we cannot mandate that.  It is something that the Government could do and should do. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  I would probably agree with that.  Lastly - and, Elliot, maybe you are better placed to 

answer this - we talked about small businesses and the impact that the ULEZ, etc, will have on them.  I want to 

zero in specifically on replacing vehicles with electric vehicles.  Do those models exist and what sort of price do 

they cost?  What does a small electric van cost? 

 

Elliot Treharne (Head of Air Quality):  Yes, the models do exist.  You have to bear in mind the availability.  

In addition to the funding that we have announced, there is also national funding from the OLEV, which can 

provide up to £8,000 of funding as well.  When you take that into account and combine those amounts of 

funding, potentially you do have a way of bringing the cost of a new vehicle down quite considerably.  You can 

get electric vans for anything from, including some of those discounts, about £18,000 to £20,000. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Including the discounts? 

 

Elliot Treharne (Head of Air Quality):  Not all of our discounts, not including the Mayor’s scheme, but 

including the OLEV grant that is available. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  What is the availability?  I spoke to someone who runs a small business who said that if 

she makes the jump she wants to do it once and so she will go straight to electric, but she said that you go 

through the shiny catalogue and you can get these things but there is a huge waiting list because they are 

replacing their fleet customers first.  Have you come across that problem? 

 

Elliot Treharne (Head of Air Quality):  We have had similar conversations with the industry to try to 

understand availability of electric models.  There is definitely a longer lead-in time than you have for other 

types of vehicles and that is why TfL is trying to consider the best way, if a business is committing to switch to 

an electric vehicle, to make sure that there is flexibility for them to do so and that they are not penalised as 

they wait for a vehicle to be delivered to them. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Are you saying that if a business can demonstrate that it is on the waiting list, has paid 

the deposit or whatever the parameters are, they would not suffer a penalty financially? 

 

Page 46



 

 

Elliot Treharne (Head of Air Quality):  If you would not mind, I am going to have to double-check that 

with TfL.  I would not want to accidentally tell you something wrong and so I will write to you with the precise 

details on that. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  I appreciate that.    Shirley, how is the Mayor progressing with his pledge to increase 

green cover and tree cover and to promote green infrastructure across London? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Very well.  I alluded in the opening 

remarks to the funding and the number of projects that we have been implementing in terms of green space 

projects as well as tree-planting projects.  We have included in the new London Plan continuing protections for 

our open spaces and in fact going further with incorporating a new Urban Greening Factor, which will help 

incorporate green infrastructure into new developments, which did not happen before. 

 

We have also been working with the community through the National Park City Foundation’s concept of a 

National Park City to get people more engaged and more involved in the greening of their city.  The response 

has been phenomenal, which is why we are hosting another National Park City Week but this time it is a 

National Park City Festival in July [2019].  I hope you will come to that.  There is funding available for people 

who want to host events and that is open until 15 March [2019].  There are two levels of grants: small grants 

just to help you come up with something in your neighbourhood that you want to do, whether a little festival 

of your own or a clean-up campaign or planting some trees.  That is all available.  We are engaging lots of 

Londoners in that process. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Just two things.  You talked about the National Park City.  The idea was to go from 47%, I 

believe, green cover to 50%.  How are we doing with that? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  We have looked at that baseline again 

because that was an estimate.  We have conducted aerial imagery and produced a much more definitive 

baseline now.  If you have seen them on our website, there are some links to very high-resolution maps of 

greening in London.  Now the estimate is something in the order of 48% to 51% green.  There is a range there.  

That does not mean to say that we have met that 50% target already.  It means that we now have a more 

definitive baseline. 

 

We will monitor that.  Now that we have that definitive resolution, it is much easier to monitor what the 

changes are that will happen through our greening programmes and through what development brings in 

through the London Plan as well. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Firstly, I would love those links, if you could send them to me. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Yes, I will. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  That means, under the current definition, we may have started above the 50% that we 

were aiming for. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Yes, but what we will do is just rebase.  

It does not mean we are just going to stop there.  We want London to be even greener. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  How are we doing? You made the comment earlier on about the tree-planting figures, etc, 

and what has been done, but is that a net gain?  Are these net figures?  Are we looking at tree loss?  Are we 

Page 47



 

 

adding that into the calculations we are making?  Also, how are we guaranteeing that the seeds and the small 

trees that are being sent out are actually being planted? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Maybe I will let Andrew answer that, 

but we do incorporate.  It is net, yes. 

 

Andrew Jones (Policy & Programme Manager – Green Infrastructure):  Some of those figures are net.  

It is much more difficult to monitor tree loss than it is to count the number of trees we have planted.  The 

figures we are quoting are the ones we have directly funded and we know what the Mayor’s money has gone 

into. 

 

We do have net figures for, say, what is happening on the TfL Road Network (TLRN).  At the moment we know 

that since 2016 there has been a net increase of 1,400 trees on the TLRN.  That is where we do have a good 

understanding of specific numbers where there is a net loss. 

 

The other thing is that also, alongside the new work we have done on green cover, we have done some work 

on tree cover and understanding what the current status of tree cover is in London better than we have with 

previous estimates.  That will be repeated every five years and will be a means of monitoring how well we are 

doing against the targets we have set in terms of increasing tree cover. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  There is this inconsistency.  I do accept that it is hard to track tree loss because who 

comes to tell you that a tree has fallen down for whatever reason?  I accept that.  However, it is hard to 

understand if we are moving forward. 

 

Andrew Jones (Policy & Programme Manager – Green Infrastructure):  Yes, and that is why we have 

put in place this new monitoring method using aerial imagery that we will repeat every five years and that will 

give us an understanding of whether there is a net increase in trees through what we have been doing through 

the planting schemes relative to what is being felled across London. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Fair enough.  That makes sense.  Do we know what the biggest factor in our tree loss is?  

Where I live, to my mind - this might be slightly geeky - it looks like it is ivy growth.  It seems to attack 

particularly large trees and we lose those trees and of course they are the most impactful trees, particularly 

from an air quality point of view. 

 

Andrew Jones (Policy & Programme Manager – Green Infrastructure):  I would not want to speculate 

on what the main cause of tree loss is.  There are trees that die naturally through old age.  There are trees that 

are dying through tree disease.  There are people felling trees for whatever reason.  Some tree felling is actually 

good management for some spaces.  You might take out trees because the area you are removing the trees 

from has a high biodiversity value that would be greater without those trees because it is a chalk grassland and 

that is better for wildlife.  There is not any one particular factor in terms of why we are -- 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Can you see my point as to why we are losing trees might be important?  You might wake 

up in five years’ time and you have gained trees and lost trees, but if you have lost them you are going to need 

to know how so that you can address that. 

 

Andrew Jones (Policy & Programme Manager – Green Infrastructure):  Yes.  That is why, as I said, we 

have put in the monitoring methods that will enable us to understand what trees -- 

 

Page 48



 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Yes, but the monitoring methods, I am suggesting, will tell you how many trees you have 

lost but not why. 

 

Andrew Jones (Policy & Programme Manager – Green Infrastructure):  That is true, yes. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  My point is that it might be useful to know why you have lost those trees, but let us not 

labour the point. 

 

What progress has been made in the Green Grid for London?  People talk about this Green Grid.  What 

progress has been made around the development of that? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  In terms of developing it? 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Yes. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Through the protection policies we 

have set in the London Plan, we have policies and protections for the Green Belt, for Metropolitan Open Land 

and so on.  We have that Green Grid.  The All-London Green Grid Supplementary Planning Guidance is going 

to be revised and can only be revised after the new London Plan has been adopted, which will be in the spring 

next year [2020].  The support for that is through maintaining our planning policies and ensuring that planning 

applications have regard to that both at the mayoral level and at the local authority level.  Then some of the 

funding programmes that we have for green spaces and woodlands so on are there available to support that 

Green Grid. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Thank you.  What progress has the Green Infrastructure Commission made?  Has it been 

beneficial?  Where are they now?  Where are we with that? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The first meeting is going to be in 

April [2019].  We have taken a little bit longer to recruit the commissioners.  We have had to go for two rounds 

to make sure that we have the right spread of skills across the Commission.  The first Commission meeting I am 

going to be chairing and the Deputy Chair is Councillor Julian Bell, the Leader of Ealing [Council].  We have a 

number of representatives on that body.  It is time-limited.  It is a year long.  It is probably slightly more 

compressed because it has started a bit later. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  What do you hope to be the outcome of the Commission itself? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Parks, as you know, are not a statutory 

service for local authorities.  We have talked about local authority cuts.  We have very good examples of local 

authorities that have good parks services and parks management services that they have been able to protect, 

and there are others that are not so good.  Part of the objectives of this is to look at that best practice and also 

to come up with new funding models.  Whilst we will advocate for further funding through the Comprehensive 

Spending Review, as will the local authorities, we know that there are still pressures.  What are the new funding 

models that would allow parks to be really well managed yet recognise the competing objectives for those 

parks from leisure to biodiversity, space for flood resilience and so on?  How do you help fund that? 

 

Andrew Jones (Policy & Programme Manager – Green Infrastructure):  I was going to add that we are 

looking at pilot projects and we are part of a consortium that has put in a bid for some funding through the 

Heritage Lottery Fund and the National Trust to support a pilot project with Camden and Islington.  That 

application is currently in and that will be a project developed with the public health teams in those boroughs 

Page 49



 

 

and the Green Spaces Team to look at how they work together as a means to secure greater investment in 

parks.  Hopefully there will be learning from that type of pilot that the Commission can understand and 

promote as a means to manage parks in the future in other boroughs. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Thank you.  Just to change tack slightly, this Committee is full of good recommendations.  

I am sure you will agree.  One of our recommendations was to explore a website to give information about 

green spaces and to help the public understand how they can access and support those green spaces with 

things like crowdfunding functions, etc. 

 

How far are we with that?  Have you given it much consideration?  Is it still on your to-do list? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  There has been some work on that.  I 

am trying to find the right page.  There has been a number of organisations from the GLA, the Campaign to 

Protect Rural England (CPRE) and others coming together and looking to see how that might work in a way 

that is cost-efficient but also enables all the information that we have to share in that.  The thinking is that we 

create a portal rather than another website where all that information could be lodged.  We are looking to bid 

for funding from the Bridge House Trust. 

 

Andrew Jones (Policy & Programme Manager – Green Infrastructure):  One of the things that was said 

in the response to your report, Park Life, was that there have been previous attempts to create these 

web-based things and the challenge is in terms of how to keep them up-to-date and the resource and effort 

required for that.  CPRE London, the National Park City Foundation, Greenspace Information for Greater 

London, Parks for London and the London Parks & Gardens Trust and ourselves have come together to try to 

get this consortium and make a bid to revive some of the work that was previously done but come up with a 

more sustainable model for how these data systems can be maintained in the future.  That would being 

maintained by individual organisations rather than one body being responsible for it and having to find the 

resources to do that.  That is where we are at. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  That sounds good.  It sounds like it is a work in progress.  It is being looked at.  My final 

area is two quite separate things, but one little personal campaign of mine is around biodiversity.  What are we 

doing to support biodiversity in London?  We have lots of wildlife in London, but it seems to me that we are 

not guarding that and not managing that properly.  I wonder if there is more we could do to increase our 

biodiversity. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  We have to start with the policy 

protections.  In the London Plan again and in the Environment Strategy we have set out the policies to do that.  

Then, alongside that are the programmes that we have.  The Greener City Fund, a £12 million fund that the 

Mayor has set aside, will enable through that supporting biodiversity projects.  A number of the green space 

projects, for example, incorporate features that will support biodiversity and protect biodiversity. 

 

There is information work that we are doing through the National Park City Festival, for example.  How might 

we raise the profile of supporting biodiversity?  We work with a number of organisations that have that as their 

primary purpose. 

 

There is lots of stuff that we are doing.  Any suggestions or anything that you are particularly worried about I 

am happy to hear about. 

 

Page 50



 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  My last and very final piece: what are City Hall and the Mayor doing to support councils to 

deliver green space, to manage it, anything in this arena?  Is there anything in particular we are doing to 

support councils? 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Again, there is the funding initially.  

We are funding six large green spaces, one, for example, out at Beckenham Place Park, which is helping local 

authorities with funding that helps to pump-prime other funding so that they are able to really improve some 

of those bigger areas. 

 

We have funding available to create some new urban woodlands and we sent out an expression of interest last 

year [2018].  We have had a number of applications that we have whittled down to about two.  We are just 

taking that through the process.  That will create new urban woodland. 

 

Through the work that Andrew [Jones] and his team does, working with many of those other organisations, we 

provide a lot of advice and information.  In a number of the local authority areas staffing has been decimated 

over the years and so, really, that is a support and advice group to help people manage their green spaces and 

open spaces better. 

 

Then the funding that we have made available is also available to community groups.  As you will know 

yourself, the passion they bring to this agenda is phenomenal.  Really, it is making available funding for them 

to take forward the projects they want to see.  We see very many schools’ greening projects and little 

community projects when people have areas that are very dear to them that they want to improve.  We have 

provided funding in several rounds now and we have a few more rounds to go.  We will be opening up some of 

the green space grants and tree-planting later this year [2019]. 

 

Andrew Jones (Policy & Programme Manager – Green Infrastructure):  Yes, there will be more 

tree-planting grants and green space grants.  Some of the community green space projects are on 

borough-owned land but are being applied for by local communities.  Just to add to Shirley’s points, some of 

the money we gave through the mass tree-planting was creating woodlands on local authority sites and so that 

was helping improve the quality of those green spaces.  The Green Spaces Commission, again, is a vehicle that 

will ultimately help boroughs, hopefully, have a much more significant impact in terms of how they may be 

able to resource their management of space in the future. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  We are applying to some tree funding 

as well from the national Government.  Part of the approach is to try to get a London-wide approach so that 

the boroughs do not have to individually apply and go through the process, because of the resource 

constraints, to try to get a London pot that they would be able to use rather than having to make lots of 

different applications. 

 

Andrew Jones (Policy & Programme Manager – Green Infrastructure):  Defra made a commitment to 

£10 million for tree funding in England and we are trying to get London’s fair share of that money and support 

for more street tree planting. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Thank you, Shirley.  That was a marathon session. 

 

Shirley Rodrigues (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  It was not quite [the Rt Hon] 

Theresa May [MP, Prime Minister]. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Thank you to all of the officers who have been with you. 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 52



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions 
 

Report to: Environment Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 22 May 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public. 

 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of completed and ongoing actions arising from previous meetings of the 

Environment Committee. 

 
2. Recommendation 
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and outstanding actions arising from its 

previous meetings. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 53

Agenda Item 7



        

Actions Arising from the Meeting on 28 February 2019 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

7. Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy  

During the course of the discussion, Members requested 

the following additional information:  

 An update on improvements that have been made 

to borough’s recycling performances and trends 

through joining sub regional Waste Partnerships, 

including which boroughs have jointed; 

 What level of the six dry recyclables are being 

collected on a borough by borough basis; 

 Where the artistically decorated textile installations 

have been put up as part of the Love not Landfill 

campaign; 

 An update on the trial for private rented sector 

properties to access funding to make energy 

efficiency savings, including how many private 

rented sector properties took part and how it will 

work;  

 The timescales for funding models which might be 

able to support energy retrofits in the private 

rented sector, social housing and able-to-pay 

households; 

 Subject to availability, how far the rollout of smart 

meters conducted by energy companies has 

progressed across London; 

 How much decentralised generating capacity had 

been gained by London since the Mayor was 

elected in 2016 and how much more is going to be 

required by 2030;  

 A copy of the Committee on the Medical Effects of 

Air Pollutants report on the impacts of poor air 

quality on the Tube; and 

 Whether Transport for London financially penalises 

businesses who have committed to switching to 

electric vehicles but have to wait for them to be 

delivered. 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation 

with party Group Lead Members, to agree an output from 

the discussion. 

 

 

 

 

Completed – 

Attached as 

Appendix 

1. 

 

 

 

 

Deputy Mayor for 

Environment and 

Energy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Continued.. 

Page 54



        

8. Environment Committee Work Programme 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation 

with party Group Lead Members, to agree any scrutiny 

arrangements and outputs before the first formal meeting 

of the 2019/20 Assembly year. 

 

Delegation 

not used.  

 

 

Actions Arising from the Meeting on 16 January 2019 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

6. Air Pollution in London 

During the course of the discussion, Members requested 

the following additional information: 

 The number of schools which have applied for the 

School Air Quality Audit and the number of 

successful applications the Mayor’s campaign for 

green infrastructure at schools have received;  

 How the occupational exposure limits for tube dust 

set by the Health and Safety Executive and Institute 

of Occupational Medicine relate to ambient air limits 

in UK law and the WHO guidelines and the Mayor’s 

targets;  

 An explanation of issues around schools air quality 

measures depending on the use of GLA Group land, 

including details relating to St Stephen’s Church of 

England Primary School, Twickenham; and 

 An update on the progress of the Fuel Poverty 

Action Plan and the Solar Action Plan, including how 

they work together to reduce non-road emissions, 

also details of the planned tightening of the low 

emission zone for non-road mobile machinery to 

2040. 

 

 

 

 

Completed – 

Attached as 

Appendix 

2. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Elliot Treharne, 

Head of Air Quality, 

Greater London 

Authority (GLA) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Stephen Inch, 

Senior Policy and 

Programme Officer 

(Air Quality), GLA 

 

 

 

Actions Arising from the Meeting on 6 December 2018 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

5. Cold and Damp Homes in London 

During the course of the discussion, Members requested 

the following additional information an explanation for 

why the amount of money allocated for energy and 

carbon reduction programmes in 2020/21, 2021/22 and 

2022/23 is reducing. 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation 

with party Group Lead Members, to agree an output from 

the discussion. 

 

An progress. 

Chased on 

31 January 

2019. 

 

 

Completed – 

See Agenda 

Item 8. 

 

Programme 

Manager, Energy, 

RE:NEW, GLA 

 

 

 

 

Page 55



        

 

 

Actions Arising from the Meeting on 8 November 2018 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

6. Carbon Emissions from Aviation  

During the course of the discussion, Members requested 

the following additional information:  

 A copy of the statutory consultation on expansion 

report;  

 Details of measures being taken to make 

Heathrow Airport more accessible by public 

transport; and 

 The targets for the number of people cycling 

regularly to Heathrow Airport.   

 

 

 

In progress. 

Chased on  

7 February 

2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Head of Emissions 

Strategy, Heathrow 

Airport 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Actions Arising from the Meeting on 23 May 2018 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

9. 

 

Plastics - Nappies and Period Products 

During the course of the discussion members requested 

the following: 

 Further clarity on how reusable nappies are 40% 

better for the environment, including whether 

there is a clear comparison with disposable 

nappies; 

 Further information on when the plastics in 

disposable products are burned in incinerators 

what is the environmental impact from burning 

those plastics, whether if there was less plastic 

going through energy from waste plants would 

they run more efficiently and what the reusable 

nappy laundry market in north London looks like; 

and 

 What the advertising budget is for Absorbent and 

Hygienic Product Manufacturers Association’s 

products. 

 

 

 

Completed – 

Attached as 

Appendix 

3. 

 

In progress. 

Chased on  

7 February 

2019. 

 

 

 

 

In progress. 

Chased on  

7 February 

2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

Real Nappies for 

London 

 

 

North London 

Waste Authority 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Absorbent Hygiene 

Products 

Manufacturers 

Association 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 56



        

Actions Arising from the Meeting on 21 February 2018 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status  

5. 

 

Water Issues 

During the course of the discussion, Members requested 

the following additional information:  

 A list by boroughs of blockages of fats, oils and 

greases in London; 

 Thames Water’s estimate of London’s current 

population and the process used to generate the 

figure; and 

 Further information on the assessed household 

charge offered by Thames Water for residents that 

are unable to have a water meter fit in their 

property. 

 

 

 

In progress. 

Chased on 

31 January 

2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Director of 

External Affairs and 

Sustainability, 

Thames Water  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Actions Arising from the Meeting on 17 January 2018 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

6. Draft London Plan 

During the course of the discussion, Members requested 

the following additional information:  

 The relationship between the biodiversity action 

plans, the supplementary planning guidance and the 

overall strategy in the London Plan; and 

 Further details on whether Sections 2.18(C) and 

1.18(D) of the old London Plan are fully covered and 

protected by new policy areas: G6(B)(2), G3(C) and 

G4(B) of the London Plan. 

 

 

 

In progress. 

Chased on 

31 January 

2019. 

 

 

 

 

Deputy Mayor for 

Planning, 

Regeneration and 

Skills 

 
Additional correspondence  

2.2 On the 13 February 2019, the Chair of the Committee wrote to the Director of Health, Safety and 

Environment following the Committee’s meeting on air pollution in London1.  The Director of Health, 

Safety and Environment provided a response on 5 April 2019. A copy of this letter is attached as 

Appendix 4. 

 
 
3. Legal Implications 
 

3.1   The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 
 
4. Financial Implications 
 

                                                 
1
 https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/g6437/Public%20reports%20pack%20Thursday%2028-Feb-

2019%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=10 

Page 57

https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/g6437/Public%20reports%20pack%20Thursday%2028-Feb-2019%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=10
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/g6437/Public%20reports%20pack%20Thursday%2028-Feb-2019%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=10


        

4.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:   

Appendix 1 – Letter from the Deputy Mayor of Environment and Energy dated 29 March 2019 

Appendix 2 – Letter from Head of Air Quality and Senior Policy and Programme Officer dated 21 February 

2019 

Appendix 3 - An updated lifecycle assessment study for disposable and reusable nappies 

Appendix 4 – Letter from Director of Health, Safety and Environment dated 5 April 2019  

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 4616 

Email: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 58



City Hall, London, SE1 2AA - london.gov.uk - mayor@london.gov.uk - 020 7983 4000 

Caroline Russell AM 
Chair of the Environment Committee 
City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 
London SE1 2AA 

(By e-mail only Caroline.Russell@london.gov.uk) 

Dear Caroline, 

RE: ENVIRONMENT COMMITTEE – 28 FEBRUARY 2019 

Thank you for inviting me to the Environment Committee meeting on 28 February 2019 and 
for the opportunity to update you on the progress the Mayor has made on making London 
cleaner, greener and healthier. As highlighted during the meeting, I would like to thank the 
Committee again for its input and recommendations over the past few years, like those on 
plastics, which have helped to inform our work. 

Please find our response to your request for additional information in annex 1 attached to this 
letter.  

If you have any additional comments please contact my Assistant, Carl Ridgers, on 020 7983 
5897 or Carl.Ridgers@london.gov.uk, who will be able to commission a response. 

Yours sincerely, 

Shirley Rodrigues 
Deputy Mayor, Environment and Energy 

Date: 29 March 2019 

Appendix 1 

Page 59

mailto:mayor@london.gov.uk
mailto:Caroline.Russell@london.gov.uk
mailto:Carl.Ridgers@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 60



 

 
 

 

 
 
Annex 1 – Response to Environment Committee’s request for additional information 
 
 

An update on improvements that have been made to boroughs’ recycling 
performance and trends through joining sub regional Waste Partnerships, including 
which boroughs have joined 
 
Response: London has four statutory waste disposal authorities created in 1986 following the 
abolition of the Greater London Council. These are the North London Waste Authority, 
Western Riverside Waste Authority, East London Waste Authority and West London Waste 
Authority.  Some boroughs have trialled joint working arrangements. In 2003 the four 
London boroughs of Croydon, Kingston, Merton and Sutton voluntarily formed the South 
London Waste Partnership (SLWP).  
 
London’s household waste recycling performance has improved considerably from 8 per cent 
in 2001 to 33 per cent today.  Despite this improvement the Mayor remains dissatisfied with 
London’s performance and wishes to see it improve further.   
 
Performance varies considerably across London so it is not possible to say whether different 
waste disposal authority arrangements have played a significant role. The Mayor encourages 
boroughs to work together when tendering for or organising new waste services where this 
delivers clear economy of scale benefits, provides consistent services across borough 
boundaries and enables sharing of good practice.   
 
SLWP is expecting savings of over £200m from bringing together their contracts in a more 
efficient and cost-effective way. The GLA, in reviewing local authority waste contracts, 
encourages boroughs to explore and implement joint procurement opportunities. It recently 
supported the North London Waste Authority and West London Authority respectively to 
procure a joint recycling contract on behalf of their constituent boroughs. The GLA has also 
published on the GLA datastore a local authority waste contract register to help boroughs to 
identify joint procurement opportunities. 
 

What level of the six dry recyclables are being collected on a borough by borough 
basis 
 
Response: Only four boroughs are not currently collecting the six main dry recycling 
materials; these are Barking & Dagenham, Havering, Newham and Redbridge.  All four of 
these boroughs collect four dry recyclables (plastic bottles, paper, card and tins) with 
Redbridge also collecting glass.   
 
With regards to separate food waste collections Barking and Dagenham, Barnet, 
Hammersmith and Fulham1, Havering, Kensington and Chelsea, Newham, Redbridge, 
Wandsworth and Westminster City Council do not currently collect food waste from all 
kerbside properties. Enfield, Greenwich Southwark and Waltham Forest collect food waste 
mixed with garden waste for in-vessel composting. Haringey, Hillingdon, Islington, Lambeth, 
Lewisham and Tower Hamlets present food waste separately from garden waste at the 
kerbside but it is mixed on the collection vehicle before treatment through in-vessel 
composting.   

                                                 
1 Hammersmith and Fulham have been trialling food waste services 

Page 61



 

 
 

 

 
The remaining boroughs collect food waste separately and send it to anaerobic digestion for 
treatment.   
 
The Mayor is working with these boroughs to explore how they can introduce the minimum 
level of service of collecting six dry recyclables along with a weekly separate food waste 
collection by 2020 in line with his London Environment Strategy. This is being achieved 
through each borough producing a Reduction and Recycling Plan (RRP), whereby each 
borough will set local targets and describe how they will move towards introducing the 
required minimum level of service. This is being supported directly from City Hall and through 
LWARB Resource London.   
 

Where the artistically decorated textile installations have been put up as part of 
the Love not Landfill campaign 
 
Response: The painted clothes banks have been installed by Love not Landfill, an innovative 
communications campaign which aims to change the behaviour of 16-24 year old Londoners 
in terms of how they buy, care for and dispose of clothes. The Love not Landfill Campaign is 
run by LWARB Resource London.   
 
There are three clothing banks designed by street artist Bambi at the moment, with another 
two scheduled for installation.   
  
The three that are currently installed are in Ealing Broadway Shopping Centre, Beyond Retro 
in Dalston and Top Shop Oxford Street. The remaining two are due to be installed in 
Westfield London and Westfield Stratford imminently. 
 
More detail and a map of the locations is available at 
https://www.lovenotlandfill.org/clothes-banks.  A picture of one of the banks is below 
 

 
 

Page 62

https://www.lovenotlandfill.org/clothes-banks


 

 
 

 

An update on the trial for private rented sector properties to access funding to 
make energy efficiency savings, including how many private rented sector 
properties took part and how it will work 
 
Response: The private rented sector trial for Warmer Homes – which is the first pan-London 
pilot of its kind – commenced in November 2018 and will install energy efficiency measures 
in up to 50 homes. Applicants must apply for Warmer Homes funding in the same way as 
owner occupiers. However, the landlord or the tenant can only apply if they have the 
permission of the other. Delivery is ongoing and there will be an evaluation of the scheme to 
feed in to the development of subsequent schemes, including the next phase of Warmer 
Homes. 
 

The timescales for funding models which might be able to support energy retrofits 
in the private rented sector, social housing and able-to-pay households 
 
Response: Funding for energy efficiency retrofits is a complex issue that varies according to 
the sector that is being targeted. Therefore, exploration of the finance options is not brought 
together under a single work stream. The Warmer Homes private rented sector trial is due to 
be completed this summer. In addition, the successor to the RE:NEW programme, which is 
currently being developed, will work primarily with social landlords. Although the successor 
programme will not provide direct technical support to private landlords or owner occupiers, 
it will provide enabling mechanisms to support the financing and delivery of retrofits in these 
sectors. This will include piloting new funding and delivery mechanisms which aim to enable 
multi-tenure retrofit – for example, to retrofit estates and blocks where there are a mix of 
tenures.  
 
The London Sustainable Development Commission (LSDC) Green Finance subgroup is also 
undertaking research into how support could be provided for financing the transition to a low 
carbon circular economy and will report back to the Mayor with their findings and 
recommendations expected in time for London Climate Action Week. 
 

Subject to availability, how far the rollout of smart meters conducted by energy 
companies has progressed across London 
 
Response:  By July 2018 (the only time regional smart meter installation data has been 
released) 583,083 (18%) of London households had a smart meter installed. Energy suppliers 
are not expected to meet the 2020 deadline by which all reasonable steps must have been 
taken by them to install smart meters in all households and small business premises.  
 
There is concern about the continued rollout of SMETS1 meters. Over 7.1 million more 
SMETS1 meters have been rolled out than Government expected2, and at present around 
70% of these meters can lose their functionality, and the associated benefits to the 
consumer, if a customer switches electricity supplier3.  
 
Outstanding issues remain with the communications infrastructure preventing all homes in 
London having a smart meter fitted today. Up to 30 per cent of London’s homes would not 
be able to have a SMETS2 meter installed using the existing wireless home area 
communication network and will need a dual band communication network that is not 

                                                 
2 National Audit Office. (2018). Rolling out smart meters, London: National Audit Office 
3 National Audit Office. (2018). Rolling out smart meters, London: National Audit Office 

Page 63

https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing-and-land/improving-quality/warmer-homes


 

 
 

 

available at the moment. Up to 5 per cent of properties, e.g. high-rise flats, will need an 
alternative home area network solution which is not yet ready.    
 

How much decentralised generating capacity had been gained by London since the 
Mayor was elected in 2016 and how much more is going to be required by 2030 
 
Response: The London Environment Strategy has a target to supply 15 per cent of London’s 
energy through decentralised, low carbon sources by 2030. The decentralised, low carbon 
sources we monitor are: 

• District heat networks – this includes those supplied by CHP which generate both 
heat and electricity 

• Renewable heat (eg heat pumps) 

• Renewable electricity from solar, wind and other bioenergy within London 
 
In 20154, we estimated that low carbon and decentralised energy sources supplied around 
three per cent of London’s energy. 
 
District Heat 
BEIS published an estimate of heat network capacity and generation up to 2015, which 
reported around 1,500 GWh of energy supplied by heat networks in London5. Based on 
planning applications received between 2013 and 2015, we estimate that up to an additional 
400 GWh of energy of district heating was built between 2016 and 2018. Our Annual 
Monitoring Reports continue to show an increase in district heating capacity. The 2016-17 
AMR6 reported that over 51,000 dwellings received planning approval to be connected to 
heat networks. 
 
Solar PV 
The Digest of UK Energy Statistics (DUKES)7 monitors renewable energy generation in 
London. The 2017 DUKES showed a 10 GWh increase in solar generation from 2016. We 
expect that this will continue to increase in the 2018 statistics, due for release in September 
2019. This is driven in part by the London Plan, which received applications to connect an 
additional 6 MW of solar PV in 2016-17, and GLA Programmes such as Solar Together 
London which is expected to support around 2 MW of domestic solar installations in 2018-
19.  
 
Other bioenergy energy 
There has been increase of 10 GWh in other bioenergy generation in London between 2016 
and 2017. This includes sewage gas, anaerobic digestion and other biomass plant. This is not 
likely to increase significantly although there may be fluctuations in generation.  
 
Renewable heat 
The Renewable Heat Incentive (RHI)8 statistics publishes number of domestic accreditations 
in London and total heat generated under the RHI. This allows an estimation of heat 
generated in London by heat pumps, small scale biomass and solar thermal. Between June 
2016 and February 2019, there has been an estimated increase in domestic renewable heat 
of 1.2 GWh. The RHI statistics also show an increase of 20 MW of non-domestic renewable 

                                                 
4 Due to delays in data being available, the baseline year we use in the modelling is 2015. 
5 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/energy-trends-march-2018-special-feature-article-experimental-
statistics-on-heat-networks 
6 https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/amr_14_final_20180927.pdf 
7 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/regional-renewable-statistics 
8 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/renewable-heat-incentive-statistics 

Page 64

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/energy-trends-march-2018-special-feature-article-experimental-statistics-on-heat-networks
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/energy-trends-march-2018-special-feature-article-experimental-statistics-on-heat-networks
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/amr_14_final_20180927.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/regional-renewable-statistics
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/renewable-heat-incentive-statistics


 

 
 

 

heat capacity in London in the same period. Part of this is likely to be capacity installed in 
district heat networks, as counted above.  
The London Plan is driving heat pump installations, with 52 development applications in 
2016-17 proposing an air source heat pump and 5 ground source heat pumps. 
 
Total increase between 2016 - 2018 
Data on the actual energy production from some of these low carbon and renewable energy 
sources is not available. However, we estimate that decentralised, low carbon energy 
generation in London has increased from 2016 to 2018 by around 430 GWh. This is around 
0.5 per cent of London’s total energy demand.  
 
Trajectory to 2030 
The above highlights the scale of change needed to reach the 15% target by 2030. Our zero 
carbon modelling outlines how the target could be reached with an increased uptake of heat 
pumps and heat networks, as well as an increase in the deployment of solar, and a concerted 
effort to reduce overall demand through energy efficiency. To get back on track, Government 
should increase funding for solar and energy efficiency and set out a clear long-term strategy 
for the decarbonisation of heat. 
 

A copy of the Committee on the Medical Effects of Air Pollutants (COMEAP) report 
on the impacts of poor air quality on the Tube 
 
Response: Transport for London (TfL) is committed to maintaining the cleanest air possible 
for their staff and customers using the Tube. As part of this commitment, TfL commissioned 
COMEAP to investigate and advise on whether the understanding of the health impacts of 
tunnel dust has significantly changed in recent years. 
 
COMEAP’s statement on the evidence of health effects on the travelling public from 
exposure to particulate matter in the London Underground can be found here: 
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/particulate-air-pollution-on-london-
underground-health-effects 
 
TfL has accepted COMEAP’s recommendations and is now in the process of implementing 
them. I understand that TfL will be writing to the Environment Committee with more 
information shortly. 

 

Whether Transport for London financially penalises businesses who have 
committed to switching to electric vehicles but have to wait for them to be 
delivered 
 
Response: The Mayor has launched a £23 million scrappage scheme for microbusinesses and 
charities for vans and minibuses. The scheme has three options: 

1. Scrapping a vehicle for £3,500 – for frequent users of the Congestion Charging Zone;  
2. scrapping a vehicle in return for a £3,500 contribution towards the cost of 

purchasing/leasing of Euro 6 replacement – available to all microbusinesses or 
charities registered at a Greater London address; and  

3. scrapping a vehicle in return for a £6,000 contribution towards the running costs 
(including insurance) of an electric van or minibus.  

 
Under option 3 – in recognition of the greater lead in times for electric vehicles – applicants 
can apply for a refund from ULEZ charges for the three months after the application for the 

Page 65

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/particulate-air-pollution-on-london-underground-health-effects
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/particulate-air-pollution-on-london-underground-health-effects


 

 
 

 

scheme is submitted and TfL confirm that they meet the Initial Eligibility Checks. This ensures 
that TfL does not financially penalises businesses who have committed to switching to 
electric vehicles but have to wait for them to be delivered.   
 
More information is available here: 
 
https://tfl.gov.uk/modes/driving/ultra-low-emission-zone/scrappage-scheme 
 

 
 

Page 66

https://tfl.gov.uk/modes/driving/ultra-low-emission-zone/scrappage-scheme


Appendix 2

Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



 
 
 
 
 
 

A new report published by Defra, the Environment 
Agency and WRAP looks at the effect of disposable and 
reusable nappies on global warming and other 
environmental impacts. 

Using figures from 2006, report authors Environmental 
Resources Management Limited estimated the 
environmental impact of a child using disposable 
nappies or shaped cloth (reusable) nappies for the first 
two and half years of its life, after which time most 
children stop using nappies during the day. 

The study updates information from a similar 
assessment, carried out in 2002/03. 

The study considers all the environmental burdens 
associated with the manufacture, use and disposal of 
nappies in the UK in a variety of scenarios, for example, 
how reusable nappies are washed and dried, and 
whether they are reused on a second child. 

Using information from manufacturers, the Market 
Transformation Programme and earlier studies, one of 
the key impacts the authors calculated was for ‘global 
warming impact’ for both disposable and reusable 
nappies. 

The average 2006 disposable nappy results in a global 
warming impact of 550kg of carbon dioxide equivalents if 
used over the two and half years a child typically wears 
nappies.  This figure is 12 per cent less than 2002/03, as 
manufacturers have reduced the weight of disposable 
nappies by 13.5 per cent. 

The authors highlighted that the manufacture of 
disposable nappies has a greater environmental impact 
in the UK than their waste management by landfill. 

Reusable nappies were found to have a global warming 
impact of 570kg carbon dioxide equivalent over the two 
and a half period, based on average washer and drier 
use. 

The impact of all children in the UK wearing nappies 
(estimated as 1.7 million children at any one time) 
equates to 0.4Mt carbon dioxide equivalents per year. 
The total greenhouse gas emissions of the UK is around 
700Mt each year. 

The environmental impact of reusable nappies varies 
greatly depending on how they are laundered. 

For example, washing the nappies in fuller loads or line 
drying them outdoors all the time reduces the global 
warming impact by 16 per cent.  If these nappies are 
also used on a second child, the original figure drops by 
40 per cent, or some 200kg carbon dioxide equivalents 
over the two and a half years – an impact equal to 
driving about 1,000 km. 

In contrast, if the nappies are always tumble-dried, the 
original 570kg figure increases by 43 per cent.  If these 
nappies are also washed at 90°C instead of 60°C, the 
baseline figure rises by 75 per cent – up by 420kg 
carbon dioxide equivalent over two and half years. 

It is consumers’ behaviour that dictates the 
environmental impact of reusable nappies. 

The impact of reusable nappies on global warming can 
be reduced by: 

• Line drying outside whenever possible.
• Tumble-drying as little as possible.
• Using energy efficient appliances whenever

possible (A+ rated machines are preferred).
• Keeping washing temperatures below 60°C.
• Washing fuller loads.
• Reusing nappies on other children.

SCHO0808BOIS-E-P 

An updated lifecycle assessment study for disposable and 
reusable nappies 
Science Summary SC010018/SS2 

Appendix 3

Page 71



This summary relates to information from Science 
Project SC010018, reported in detail in the following 
output(s): 
 
Science Report: SC010018/SR2 
Title: An updated lifecycle assessment study for 
disposable and reusable nappies 
 
ISBN: 978-1-84432-927-4   October 2008 
Product code: SCHO0808BOIR-E-P 
  
Internal Status: Released to all regions 
External Status: Publicly available 
 
Project manager: Terry Coleman, Science Department 
 
Research Contractor: 
Environmental Resources Management 
Eaton House, Wallbrook Court 
North Hinksey Lane 
Oxford 
OX2 0QS 
 
This project was delivered by the Environment Agency’s 
Science Department, which provides scientific 
knowledge, tools and techniques to enable us to protect 
and manage the environment as effectively as possible.  
The work was jointly funded by Defra, WRAP and the 
Environment Agency. 
 

 
 
 

 
 
Further copies of this summary and related report(s) are 
available from our publications catalogue on or our 
National Customer Contact Centre T: 08708 506506 or 
E: enquiries@environment-agency.gov.uk. 
 
© Environment Agency. 
 

 
 

Page 72

mailto:enquiries@environment-agency.gov.uk


Jill Collis  
Director of Health, Safety and 
Environment 

Transport for London 
Palestra 
197 Blackfriars Road 
London SE1 8NJ 

Phone 020 3054 8158  
Jill.collis@tube.tfl.gov.uk 

Caroline Russell AM, Chair of the Environment Committee 
City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 
London  
SE1 2AA 

05 April 2019 

Dear Caroline, 

Thank you for your letter of 13 February regarding the findings of the latest 
Committee on the Medical Effects of Air Pollutants (COMEAP) report on tube 
dust. 

I note the Environment Committee’s concerns on Tube dust and air pollution on 
the London Underground and I would like to re-iterate Transport for London’s 
(TfL’s) commitment to maintaining the cleanest air possible for our staff and 
customers using the Tube. We closely monitor dust levels on the Tube and 
through a wide range of measures ensure that particle levels are well within 
Health and Safety Executive (HSE) guidelines. Due to the difference in above 
and underground air we do not consider it appropriate to use the above ground 
rules. As we know exposure to the types of metals potentially contained in 
underground air can be harmful to health, the HSE have put limits on exposures 
to these. This is why we monitor for these and will continue to do so. We have 
already enhanced our sampling regime by including tests for additional metals 
and we will continue to investigate ways we can keep dust and particles to an 
absolute minimum. 

In 2003, we commissioned an independent report by the Institute of Occupational 
Medicine (IOM) to research the health impacts of tunnel dust. This report was 
published in February 2004, and the results provided reassurance that the dust 
on the Underground does not pose any serious or substantial risk to the health of 
our customers or employees. There has been further research into dust since 
then and, in 2015, COMEAP published a statement saying that efforts should be 
made to reduce all dust particulates in the PM2.5 fraction of air pollution. 

In 2017, we commissioned COMEAP to investigate and advise on whether the 
understanding of the health impacts of tunnel dust had significantly changed 
since the previous statement. The new statement from COMEAP, published by 
Public Health England (PHE) on 9 January 2019, concludes that “it is not 
possible to determine the nature and extent of any health risk to those travelling 

Appendix 4

Page 73



2 
 

on the London Underground”. The report also states “given that there is strong 
evidence that both long and short term exposure to particle pollutants in ambient 
air are harmful to health, it is likely that there is some health risk associated with 
exposure to underground particulate matter (PM).”  
 
The report sets out the following three recommendations for TfL: 
 

1. To enable London Underground PM to be included in wider toxicity studies 

at low cost, physiologically relevant fractions (e.g. PM10 and PM2.5) 

should be collected and made available to researchers.  

 
2. To conduct additional measurements of metal concentrations (particularly 

chromium, arsenic, iron, manganese and nickel) in a number of locations 

and determine the speciation of chromium (levels of hexavalent 

chromium). 

 
3. To continue PM monitoring to allow better understanding of concentrations 

as well as factors affecting PM concentrations and exposure, including but 

not limited to, passenger numbers, ventilation, train piston effect and 

station design. 

We accept these recommendations and will be carrying out further monitoring 
and testing of dust samples. The specialists who undertake dust sampling on 
behalf of TfL will preserve and store the samples so they are available to 
research establishments on request. The next round of dust sampling which 
includes the additional measurements for metal concentrations has been 
completed and the  report will be available in late April/early May.  In addition, we 
are considering what monitoring can be undertaken to better understand factors 
such as ventilation, train piston effect and station design. 
 
 
London Underground operates well within the HSE specified limits. Samples of 
respirable dust levels on the deep tube system, taken as 4 or 8 hour samples, 
typically average 0.5mg/m3 and rarely exceed 1mg/m3. The HSE currently set a 
maximum limit of 4mg/m3 averaged over 8 hours. This limit is specified in the 
HSE’s document EH40/2005. In addition we have informally adopted a much 
stricter target to meet the recommendations of the Institute of Occupational 
Medicine (May 2011) to limit respirable dust exposures to less than 1mg/m3. 
Tube customers tend to spend far less time on the network so their exposure is 
naturally less than outlined above.  
 
We spend around £60 million per annum cleaning our trains, stations and tunnels 
which helps to ensure dust and particles are kept to an absolute minimum. This 
includes regular cleaning of trains and stations throughout the day. We also 
trialled a deep clean of a section of the Bakerloo line tunnels in 2018. This 
involves our cleaning contractors removing the accumulated dust and debris from 
the tunnel, the track and from all of the stations on that stretch of track. On the 
Waterloo and City line we are applying a sealant to the track bed and tunnel walls 

Page 74



3 
 

to suppress the movement of tunnel dust and we will be monitoring the air quality 
afterwards. If successful, this method could be used after a deep clean has been 
completed. The introduction of rheostatic and regenerative braking systems 
across our train fleet has helped to reduce the production of dust from manual 
braking systems.  
 
Regular health checks are performed for operational employees who are 
exposed to London Underground dust for longer periods of time compared to the 
travelling public. A number of operational staff members have been employed by 
London Underground for many years. So far, we have seen no evidence of 
abnormal rates of respiratory, cardiovascular, or neurological diseases in our 
workforce, nor any trends associated with exposure to particulates. 
 
I also note your specific questions below and have provided an answer to each of 
them as follows: 
 
 

1. TfL’s website has an Air Quality on the Tube summary and a Dust 
Monitoring consultants’ report from 2016. Has there been similar 
monitoring since then? If so, please supply and publish the reports.  
 
The 2017 report is published on the TfL website, which can be accessed 
via the link below under Air Quality on the Underground:  
https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/environment-
reports#on-this-page-1 
 
We expect the next report to be published in May 2019. 

 
 

2. Please supply information (including results) on any other London 
Underground air quality monitoring from 2016 onwards, on measures 
to reduce or keep down dust and air pollution levels on the 
Underground, on assessment data so far on the effectiveness of 
these measures, and on any investigations into the health impacts of 
Underground air pollution on staff.  
 
We have recently completed our latest dust sampling round and will 
publish the results in May. We will continue to publish information on dust 
levels on the London Underground network at 
https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/environment-reports. 
We expect that this page will be updated with the latest results in May 
2019. With regards to the wider research recommendations by COMEAP, 
we are currently working with King’s College London with the intention to 
submit a research proposal to conduct an epidemiological study looking at 
TfL Occupational Health medical records to assess any possible health 
effects of underground dust exposures. 
 
 

Page 75

https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/environment-reports#on-this-page-1
https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/environment-reports#on-this-page-1
https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/environment-reports


4 
 

3. When was the COMEAP statement first communicated to TfL a) in 
draft and b) in a final version?  
 
We were copied into the embargoed draft COMEAP statements and have 
retained these from January 2018. The final embargoed version of the 
COMEAP statement was sent to us on 18 December 2018.  
 

 
4. For purposes of comparing different limits and guidelines, and for 

comparing measured concentrations in the air, is there a difference 
between PM2.5 and ‘respirable dust’, as regulated by the HSE? And 
similarly between PM10 and ‘inhalable dust’? If so, what is the 
difference and how does it affect concentration measurements?  
 
Yes, there is a difference. Measures are made of total inhalable and 
respirable dust. The former is everything that can be inhaled through the 
nose and mouth. The latter is that fraction of dust which gets into the small 
air vessels of the lung. The measure made is a gravimetric one (a 
measure of weight of dust per unit volume). The limits set are to protect 
workers over the course of their working life, assuming continuous 
workplace exposure for 40 hours per week, 52 weeks per year.  
 
PM is measured for occupational exposure in terms of respirable dust. For 
public health purposes, it is measured as PM10 and PM2.5. Respirable dust 
is the equivalent, approximately, of PM4.3   

 

The legal parameters are respirable (PM4.3) and inhalable (PM100). 
PM2.5 and PM10 are not appropriate proxies for these. PM2.5, PM10, 
respirable (PM4.3) and inhalable (PM100) fractions are all common 
parameters used to describe the aerodynamic diameter of airborne 
particles, more commonly referred to as dusts. The first two parameters 
are primarily used in environmental measurements with the latter two 
being used in occupational safety. For the purposes of assessing legal 
compliance with health and safety legislation dust must be measured in 
respirable and inhalable fractions. PM2.5 may be a rough proxy for 
respirable dust but it will be a lower figure than if measured in the PM 4.3 
parameter and is therefore inappropriate as an indicator of whether or not 
safety standards are being complied with.  
 

I would be happy to meet with you to explain this issue in more detail, should this 
be of interest.   
 
I hope all of the above information is helpful and will reassure the Committee that 
we are doing all we can to understand and address the issue of air pollution on 
the London Underground.  
 
Finally, I would like to thank you and all the members of the Environment 
Committee for their interest in TfL’s work to support the Mayor in his efforts to 

Page 76



5 
 

reduce air pollution in London. If you have any further comments or questions, 
please do not hesitate to get in touch. 
   
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Jill Collis  
Director of Health Safety Environment  

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 78



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Action Taken Under Delegated 
Authority  

Report to: Environment Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 22 May 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report outlines recent actions taken by the Chair under delegated authority, in consultation with 

party Group Lead Members, in accordance with the delegations granted by the Environment 

Committee.  

 

 

2. Recommendations  

 

2.1 That the Committee notes the recent action taken by the Chair of the Committee under 

delegated authority, in consultation with the party Group Lead Members, namely to agree 

an output for the 6 December 2018 meeting’s discussion on cold and damp homes.  

2.2  

 
3. Background  
 

3.1 At its meeting on 6 December 2018, the Committee resolved: 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with Party Group Members, to agree any 

output arising from the discussion. [Cold and Damp Homes] 

  
 
4. Issues for Consideration 

 

4.1 As part of the Committee’s investigation into cold and damp homes in London, the Committee 

visited Thamesmead to hear about their Condensation, Damp and Mould Strategy. A summary note 

of the site visit is attached as Appendix 1. 

 

4.2 The Committee published a findings report on 27 February following its investigation into cold and 

damp homes in London. A copy of the report is attached at Appendix 2. 

 

 

 

 

Page 79

Agenda Item 8



        

 

 

 

4.3 The report makes the following recommendations: 

 Recommendation 1:  

The Mayor should recommend in the London Plan that new housing, especially for social and 

affordable rent properties, has ventilation designed to cope with any level of occupancy.  

 

Recommendation 2:  

The Mayor’s retrofit programmes, Warmer Homes and RE:NEW, should ensure ventilation installed 

through the programmes is sufficient to cope with any level of occupancy. Systems installed should 

be quiet to avoid residents turning them off, use minimal power and be moisture-responsive. 

 

 Recommendation 3:  

Social housing providers should review their energy advice strategies and work with residents to 

offer effective advice on how to prevent condensation, taking into consideration tenant living 

patterns and household situations, prioritising overcrowded households.  

 

Recommendation 4:  

The Mayor should prioritise training and deployment of energy advisors to complement his work on 

energy efficiency and fuel poverty, under the Energy for Londoners umbrella.1  

 

Recommendation 5:  

The Mayor should write to the Environment Committee detailing how energy advice services are 

evaluated during the application assessment process for the Fuel Poverty Support Fund. 

 

Recommendation 6:  

The Mayor should develop a guide for private renters and landlords, to help them be more informed 

about what type of advice they should seek and avenues they could explore. This should also include 

information about tenants’ and landlords’ legal responsibilities, for example for the landlord to 

ensure a home meets the Decent Homes Standard. 

 

Recommendation 7:  

The Mayor, the Government and other funders or sponsors should ensure future retrofit programmes 

are multi-measure with sufficient focus on ventilation. Programmes should account for occupancy 

levels and the need for heat, ventilation and energy advice as well as insulation, to prevent 

condensation. 

 

Recommendation 8:  

There is a need to unlock funding for retrofit: a. As part of the RE:NEW successor programme’s 

‘business case’ workstream, the Mayor should present how social housing regulators could 

encourage London’s housing associations to improve their current stock b. The Mayor should 

consider allocating funding on the basis of investing in old stock as well as for new builds c. The 

Government should consider increasing the cap for landlord contributions to energy efficiency 

measures above the current £3,500 (inclusive of VAT) to £5,000. 

 

Recommendation 9:  

                                                 
1 The Brexit Alliance does not agree with prioritising the training and deployment of energy advisors, as this would duplicate work 
which is already supposed to be carried out by social housing providers. 

Page 80



        

 

 

Any evaluation of the warmer homes private rented sector pilot should assess how well the pilot has 

reached children, older or disabled people and those in overcrowded homes. A strategy for reaching 

the most vulnerable residents living in cold and damp homes should be integral to any roll out of the 

programme, and include steps for the Mayor to bring together the GLA, community groups, Citizens 

Advice and energy companies to support fuel poor households. 

 

Recommendation 10:  

The Mayor should write, as Chair of the London Health Board, to Clinical Commissioning Groups to 

outline the Warmer Homes programme and private rented sector pilot, or any future rollout, so the 

information is distributed to GPs to boost referral of vulnerable patients. 

 

4.4 The Committee is recommended to note the action taken under delegated authority. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1  There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

Appendix 1 – Site visit to Thamesmead 

Appendix 2 - Keeping out the chill: fixing London’s cold, damp and mouldy homes  

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers:  

Member Delegated Authority Forms: 1061 [Cold and damp homes] 

Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 4616 

Email: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk  

  

Page 81

mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 82



LONDONASSEMBLY 

Appendix 1 
Environment Committee 

Cold and damp homes Visit to Peabody Thamesmead 

Visit to Peabody Thamesmead (Condensation, Damp and Mould Strategy) 

Date: 30 November 2018 

Time: 10.30am – 1.30pm 

Location: Thamesmead, Information Hub (DA18 4DR) 

Attendees:  

• Caroline Russell, Chair, Environment Committee

• Leonie Cooper, Deputy Chair, Environment Committee

• Secretariat staff, committee officers and Group researchers

Meeting: 

• Nadira (Senior Sustainability Officer, Peabody)

• Ben (Switchee)

• Peter (Aereco)

Background 

As part of the committee’s investigation into cold and damp homes in London, the 
committee went to visit Thamesmead to hear about their condensation, damp and mould 
strategy. Peabody acquired Thamesmead in 2014 and announced a regeneration 
programme to be delivered over thirty years. The £2m Condensation, Damp and Mould 
(CD&M) Strategy was designed to manage condensation and mould, and increase the 
affordability of heating in homes that may not be part of a refurbishment programme for 
several years. 

The visit 

During the visit, the Assembly members and other attendees heard a briefing about the 
condensation, damp and mould strategy and then went to visit two homes which had 
benefited from the implementation of various of the strategy’s measures. 

The briefing was split into four parts: an explanation of how the strategy was developed, 
then a talk about each of the three main interventions; energy and ventilation advice and 
support, installation of a Switchee smart heating control and installation of mechanical 
demand controlled extract ventilation.  

Development of the strategy 

Thamesmead had a significant condensation, damp and mould problem. The replacement of 
the original district heating with individual heating systems, coincided with a large gas 
increase. It was suggested this may have been a contributing factor to the damp and mould 
problems first arising. A stock condition survey determined that 18 percent of homes likely 
had damp and mould issues. The average spend to mould wash and redecorate a home is 
£1275.   

The stock was first risk assessed using the available data, such as the number or rooms, 
location of the home and number of people living in each home. This was followed by a 

Page 83



LONDONASSEMBLY Environment Committee 

Cold and damp homes Visit to Peabody Thamesmead 
 

    

 

survey which was sent out to residents. From the results of the risk assessment, homes 
were split into low, medium and high risk to determine which measures would be most 
appropriate.  

Energy and ventilation advice 

Energy and ventilation advice was provided to every home, whether their risk was deemed 
to be low, medium or high. Each home received one or two visits from the home energy 
advice team who work with residents in fuel poverty in the household by providing tailored 
advice. The team found that there were problems with both overheating and underheating 
homes and that often plug in heaters were being used. During the visits, standard advice 
about how to heat homes most efficiently was provided but also a lot of work was done 
with residents on income maximisation, such as establishing eligibility for grants and 
checking which tariffs residents were on for energy and water usage. The hope is that 
savings made will help residents maintain a sufficient level of heating in their homes. 202 
households saved £211 on average as a result of the energy advice visits through behaviour 
change and tariff switches. 

Switchee smart heating control 

Switchee smart heating controls were installed in some participating homes. Switchee was 
designed specifically for social housing; it works regardless of whether residents have access 
to a secondary smart devise such as a phone or Wifi. The devise collects data about the 
household’s living style which would impact the levels of heating and moisture in the home, 
such as how long the house is occupied through the day or typical cooking and showering 
routines. This data can then be used to adjust the heating levels and schedules to best fit 
the household’s schedule. The devise also learns how quickly each homes takes to warm up 
so it can inform residents of the difference between how long heating is set to be on for and 
how quickly it really takes to heat the home. This could lead to savings for the household. 
The devise can also track analytics to provide alerts to residents or housing associations if 
intervention is necessary.  

Demand controlled ventilation 

Demand controlled ventilation was installed in all medium and high risk homes. The 
committee learnt that typically ventilation systems are installed to respond to the expected 
occupancy levels of a home. However, as many homes in London are over-occupied,  
ventilation systems need to be able to cope with occupancy levels rather than the number 
of bedrooms in order to be effective. The committee also heard that often, ventilation 
systems are switched off as they are noisy or have a cost implication. The demand 
controlled ventilation systems installed as part of the Thamesmead CDM strategy are 
mechanical. Hydroscopic nylon strips in the devise is humidity sensitive, it reacts to the 
levels of moisture in the home and expands or contracts to increase or decrease ventilation 
as necessary. As this is an automatic, mechanical reaction, rather than an electrically 
powered, there is no cost associated with the ventilation and so fuel poor residents have no 
incentive to switch it off. The fan is also very quiet so residents are not disturbed by any 
noise.  

Page 84



LONDONASSEMBLY Environment Committee 

Cold and damp homes Visit to Peabody Thamesmead 
 

    

 

Visiting households 

Following the briefing, the Members visited two households which participated in the 
strategy. One home had received all the interventions and one home had received the 
energy advice and the demand controlled ventilation. During the visit, the Members were 
shown around the home by the residents and were able to speak to the residents to find out 
how the interventions had changed the condition of the property. Both homes had the new 
mechanical demand controlled ventilation installed in the kitchen and bathroom as well as a 
few inches shaved off from the bottom of the doors to encourage air flow between rooms. 
The residents we met were happy with the improvements they experienced in their homes 
and Members were encouraged by how warm and dry the homes felt. 

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 86



1 

Environment Committee 

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

Keeping out the chill:  
fixing London’s cold, damp and mouldy homes February 2019

 Key findings 
 People need warm, dry homes to live in.

 Homes in London should all be dry and warm however far too
many are not. Many Londoners are struggling to cope with damp
and mould in their homes.

 If energy efficiency retrofitting is poorly installed or does not
properly include ventilation, it can worsen damp problems.

 Ventilation is critical to prevent damp and is becoming more so as
homes are built or retrofitted to be more airtight.

 Energy advice can help residents mitigate condensation in their
homes but it must be delivered appropriately, tailored to the living
situations and patterns of residents.

 Social housing providers need more support to invest in improving
their current stock, but they also need to commit to better quality
energy advice, particularly for fuel poor and vulnerable residents.

 Private tenants need a clearer route to good quality advice as
currently the support they are provided is patchy, depending on
the borough they live in.

Talk London is an online community where 
Londoners can have their say on London's big issues. 
To hear from Londoners about their experiences 
living in London, we held a conversation on Talk 
London. The quotes included though this report 
represent some of what we heard.    

Appendix 2  

P
age 87



 

2 
 

Environment Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Keeping out the chill:  
fixing London’s cold, damp and mouldy homes February 2019 

 

Dampening Lives
 

The impact of damp homes on Londoners 

Many Londoners live in homes which are cold and damp. Damp 
problems affect around 6 per cent of homes in London, with serious 
condensation being the most common form (4 per cent overall). Serious 
condensation is most common in pre-1990 properties. It is rare in 
owner-occupied properties (1 per cent), but more common in the social 
and private rented sectors (6 to 8 per cent). The figure below shows the 
percentage of houses by tenure with serious condensation in one or 
more rooms.1 

 

Further improvements are needed in social rented houses. Although 
there are now fewer social homes which do not meet the Government’s 
Decent Homes Standard, we have heard from council and housing 
association tenants who still suffer with damp in their homes.2 

Overcrowding also increases how susceptible a home is to condensation 
and about 13 per cent of London’s socially rented households are 
overcrowded.3   

Private renters in London also struggle with cold and damp homes. In 
2016, a Shelter survey found that 39 per cent of private renters in 
London have experienced damp or mould in their homes, while 26 per 
cent experienced poor insulation or excess cold.   The Mayor’s Fuel 
Poverty Action Plan identifies the high proportion of privately rented 
homes as a challenge London faces to address fuel poverty. 29 per cent 
of London’s homes are privately rented, compared to 18 per cent in the 
rest of the country. 

Londoners’ health and wellbeing are harmed by damp homes. The 
presence of damp in people’s homes can increase exposure to allergens, 
cause or aggravate respiratory conditions and sustain dust mites. 
Residents are more likely to have respiratory problems if they live in a 
home with damp. Poor quality housing, with health hazards including 
damp, costs the NHS £2billion each year.4   

“Me and my partner suffered a lot from mould in our last rented flat... the 
wall in the bedroom was green. The living room had green spots. We spent 
time cleaning it many times, but it would always come back. Problems in 
our health arose, like allergies and difficulty breathing.” 

Talk London respondent  

Owner occupier  

Private rented  

Local authority  

Housing association 
1% 5% 10% 

P
age 88



 

3 
 

Environment Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Keeping out the chill:  
fixing London’s cold, damp and mouldy homes February 2019 

 

Vulnerable Londoners are 
especially at risk from the 
negative health impacts 
associated with cold and 
damp. The oldest and youngest 
Londoners and people living with 
disabilities and respiratory 
conditions are most vulnerable. 
Young people living in cold and 
damp homes are more likely to develop asthmatic symptoms and a 
quarter of families with disabled children are reported to be living in 
cold, damp housing.5 For older residents, cold homes can increase the 
risk of falls, strokes and circulatory problems.6  

Mental health and wellbeing are also affected by cold and damp 
homes. Research has found that living in cold and damp homes is 
associated with higher levels of anxiety and depression.7 Damp and 
mould can also contribute to the feeling of shame some residents have 
about their homes, which impacts on people’s mental health, increasing 
anxiety and depression.8 Children’s educational attainment and mental 
health are also significantly at risk from living in cold, damp homes. 

Fuel poverty  

Many people living in cold, damp homes are fuel poor. Fuel poverty is 
defined as when a household needs to spend more than the average 
amount to keep their home warm and when a household would be 
below the poverty line if the above average amount was spent. Living in 
fuel poverty increases the 
likelihood of living in a damp 
home because if a home 
is not properly heated, it 
is more likely to develop 
condensation.9  

Unintended consequences of retrofit  

Some home improvements which are intended to make homes 
warmer can lead to damp. Many of the efforts to improve the energy 
efficiency of homes have concentrated on insulation and making homes 
more airtight through new windows and frames. Moisture in the air 
needs to have a way out of buildings, so these energy efficiency 
measures can lead to condensation if they are installed badly or without 
enough additional, continuous ventilation.  

Measures to reduce energy use and fuel poverty have also led to 
damp. Many homes which were originally heated through communal or 
district heating systems have been changed to individual boilers in each 
home.10 Where this change combines with fuel poor households, it can 
lead to an increase in damp if residents find it too expensive to heat 
their homes adequately.    

“… the damp is terrible... I 
keep me and my kids wrapped 
in blankets. Heating is too 
costly and contributes to the 
mould. My children's bedroom 
is so damp that mould grows 
behind the wardrobes.” 

Talk London respondent  
“I know I could significantly improve the 
problem by having the heating on during 
the day but I cannot afford that and only 
have it on in the evening.” 

Talk London respondent  

“If I turn off the radiators, within one hour all the heat goes away and it's 
cold again… I cannot afford to leave the radiators permanently turned 
on. So I stay in the cold. It's very tough at age 70!” 

Talk London respondent  

P
age 89



 

4 
 

Environment Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Keeping out the chill:  
fixing London’s cold, damp and mouldy homes February 2019 

 

Living in damp homes 

  
Homes should support the lives and living patterns of residents. Often 
residents are blamed for condensation and the onus is put on them to 
solve it through behaviour change.11 While the way people live in homes 
can contribute to damp, often residents have no control over these 
contributing circumstances.  

Overcrowding and condensation  

Overcrowding contributes to condensation in London. Across the 
country, overcrowding in the private and social rented sector is at its 
highest level ever.12 Overcrowding affects eight per cent of London’s 
households, which includes a third of children living in social housing 
and a fifth of children in private rented housing.13 Overcrowding is one 
of the most significant risk factors for condensation. With more 
occupants in a home, the building has more moisture to contend with 
because there are more people breathing and showering, there is more 
food being cooked and more clothes being washed.  

Living patterns in over-occupied households can contribute to 
additional moisture in the air. For example, if there are young children 
and retired grandparents, the house is likely to be occupied for most of 
the day. If there are one or two generations living in the house it is more 
likely to be empty for most of the day, with children at school and 
working age adults at work. But people should be able to live in a warm 

dry home, whether they spend most of their day there or if they only 
spend the evenings and nights at home.  

Ventilation is critical to prevent damp. Homes need to be better 
ventilated, especially those which are overcrowded. Windows are a 
natural source of ventilation, but people are often reluctant to open 
windows due to the cold. Powered systems such as extractor fans can 
provide ventilation but often are not sufficient. Most ventilation 
systems are designed to the minimum flat ventilation level that the 
building regulations set. Therefore, when houses have higher than 
minimum levels of occupancy, the ventilation is not sufficient to remove 
enough moisture from the air.  

While ventilation is important, we heard that often fans are switched 
off by residents. Many extractor fans and mechanical ventilation 
systems are noisy and/or perceived to be costly. However, we also 
heard of solutions, such as the systems installed in some of Peabody’s 
Thamesmead properties. Rather than being turned on or off by 
residents, the fans run continuously and quietly. The vent outlets in the 

Myth Busting – Ventilation lets out all the heat14 

Most (five-sixths) of the heat in homes is stored in the solid objects, 
such as the walls and the furniture. When warm air is replaced with 
cold, outdoor air, the furnishings help warm up the new air. Air 
heating and ventilation uses only a sixth of the typical amount of 
energy to heat a home.  

P
age 90



 

5 
 

Environment Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Keeping out the chill:  
fixing London’s cold, damp and mouldy homes February 2019 

 

kitchen and bathroom are constructed to respond to moisture levels, 
and open wider when the room is humid. This ensures the level of 
ventilation corresponds to the need of the home. The system is almost 
silent and has minimal running cost to the residents—just £1 a month.  

Recommendation 1: The Mayor should recommend in the London Plan 
that new housing, especially for social and affordable rent properties, 
has ventilation designed to cope with any level of occupancy.  

Recommendation 2: The Mayor’s retrofit programmes, Warmer 
Homes and RE:NEW, should ensure ventilation installed through the 
programmes is sufficient to cope with any level of occupancy. Systems 
installed should be quiet to avoid residents turning them off, use 
minimal power and be moisture-responsive.  

Energy Advice 

Landlords, both in the private and social housing sector, often suggest 
residents should prevent damp through behaviour change. Suggestions 
often include putting lids on pots while cooking, opening windows and 
doors after showering or hanging laundry outside.15  These suggestions 
do not take into account the living 
situations of residents. Many 
residents do not have outdoor 
space to hang washing and some 
residents have security concerns 
which prevent them from keeping 
windows open when they are not 

in the home. Yet even when residents are able to follow this kind of 
advice, condensation often remains. Residents we heard from suggested 
that even when landlords try to offer practical solutions, the solutions 
proposed are not sufficient. The most common action landlords took 
was to supply a dehumidifier which was either ineffective at combating 
the damp, or expensive to run.  

Good quality energy advice can help residents improve condensation 
damp in their home. Beneficial advice includes ensuring residents 
understand how measures such as ventilation or smart heating work 
and why they are important. We heard that the best results for retrofit 
projects are attained when good quality energy advice is provided 
alongside energy efficiency measures.16  

Energy efficiency advice can help alleviate the fuel poverty which 
contributes to damp. Energy advice visits can help residents save 
money, especially if they include checking for competitive energy tariffs 
and explaining eligibility for grants and benefits. Some studies have 
shown that good quality energy advice alone can help families make 
energy savings.17 Advice which could help residents heat their home 
sufficiently and help to reduce condensation problems is particularly 
useful for those who are fuel poor.  

“It was a ground floor flat, and we couldn't 
open the windows because we were not at 
home most of the times (security wise), and 
no place to dry clothes but indoors.” 

Talk London respondent  

“In my current flat, we have condensation… even though we ventilate the 
flat when cooking and showering, and always dry clothes outdoors.” 

Talk London respondent  

P
age 91



 

6 
 

Environment Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Keeping out the chill:  
fixing London’s cold, damp and mouldy homes February 2019 

 

Social housing providers have a key role in providing energy advice to 
their residents, many of whom are fuel poor. Some providers have 
programmes in place to help their residents to reduce their energy 
bills.18 However we heard that not all providers are equipped or 
committed enough to provide quality advice.19  

Recommendation 3: Social housing providers should review their 
energy advice strategies and work with residents to offer effective 
advice on how to prevent condensation, taking into consideration 
tenant living patterns and household situations, prioritising 
overcrowded households. 

Recommendation 4: The Mayor should prioritise training and 
deployment of energy advisors to complement his work on energy 
efficiency and fuel poverty, under the Energy for Londoners umbrella.i 

Residents in the private rented sector do 
not have a clear avenue for good quality 
energy advice. We heard from residents 
who had reported their struggles with 
damp and mould to their landlords. While a 
few people told us their landlord made changes that helped them to 
control the damp, others suggested the efforts made by their landlords 
were ineffective or prohibitively expensive. While ineffective support is 

                                                        
i The Brexit Alliance does not agree with prioritising the training and deployment of 
energy advisors, as this would duplicate work which is already supposed to be carried 
out by social housing providers. 

unhelpful, for others the response is worse. Alarming reports suggest 
revenge evictions are likely when tenants make formal complaints about 
their housing. Nearly 10 per cent of renters are too scared of losing their 
home to complain about the conditions.20   

Some residents appeal to their local councils for help when they are met 
by disengaged private landlords. The Mayor’s Fuel Poverty Support Fund 
aims to build on council-provided support by providing grants to London 
boroughs to expand their existing referral and advice mechanisms in 
order to: 

 Reach a larger number of fuel poor households 
 Carry out more home energy visits 
 Increase support for people in fuel debt 
 Recruit more network partners or make the support they offer to 

vulnerable households even better.  
As we have heard that the quality of support offered by councils can be 
inconsistent, we would like assurances that the Mayor’s Fuel Poverty 
Support Fund will undertake rigorous assessment of the work the fund 
supports. We also think the Mayor should seek ways to better support 
private renters. 

Recommendation 5: The Mayor should write to the Environment 
Committee detailing how energy advice services are evaluated during 
the application assessment process for the Fuel Poverty Support Fund. 

“Landlord just threatened 
to raise the rent when the 
tenants complained.” 

Talk London respondent  

P
age 92



 

7 
 

Environment Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Keeping out the chill:  
fixing London’s cold, damp and mouldy homes February 2019 

 

Recommendation 6: The Mayor should develop a guide for private 
renters and landlords, to help them be more informed about what 
type of advice they should seek and avenues they could explore. This 
should also include information about tenants’ and landlords’ legal 
responsibilities, for example for the landlord to ensure a home meets 
the Decent Homes Standard.  

Condition of properties 
 

More retrofitting with sufficient ventilation is required to tackle damp. 
Homes which are insulated, well-ventilated and efficient to heat will 
remain warm and dry. Despite numerous efforts to increase retrofitting, 
many homes in London do not meet these conditions.  

Inappropriate retrofitting has resulted in cases of increased 
condensation. Prior retrofit efforts have focused on energy efficiency 
and heating methods without considering damp and have therefore not 
properly included ventilation. Government programmes and industry 
approaches toward retrofit have led to instances of defective or 
inappropriate single-measure installations. Household assessments have 
not fully considered the suitability of measures for a particular 
property.21 While the focus on insulating and making buildings more air-
tight is often beneficial as it keeps warm air inside, it creates a need for 
better ventilation which has not always been met. The data on 
condensation caused by inappropriate or faulty retrofit is inconsistent, 

so the scale of the problem is not fully understood.22 The Decent Homes 
Standard requires that homes have adequate insulation and warmth, 
but has not incentivised additional ventilation.  

Instead, programmes need to be multi-measure and include a full 
understanding of each dwelling. They need to consider the issue of 
ventilation, condensation and mould in addition to warmth and energy 
efficiency. 

How energy efficiency measures could contribute to condensation 

Cavity Wall Insulation: Cavity Walls were introduced in the 1890s to 
prevent water getting inside homes. In many homes, the gap 
between the two walls has now been insulated to reduce heat loss. If 
there is a gap in the insulation, caused by a ceiling or floor which can 
transfer heat more 
easily than the 
insulated areas, or 
due to poor quality 
installation, thermal 
bridging can occur.23 
Thermal bridges can 
also be caused by 
slumps in insulation if 
it is not installed 
properly.  

 

ex
te

rn
al

 w
al

l  

in
te

rn
al

 w
al

l  
in

su
la

tio
n 

 

concrete balcony: thermal bridge due to no insulation 

P
age 93



 

8 
 

Environment Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Keeping out the chill:  
fixing London’s cold, damp and mouldy homes February 2019 

 

Peabody Thamesmead; condensation, damp and mould project 

This multi-measure approach has benefitted 277 households in the 
Thamesmead Estate. Thamesmead was considered a difficult estate to treat 
as most blocks have reinforced concrete floors, flat roofs and pre-cast 
reinforced concrete cladding, making it hard to retrofit ventilation systems. 

A risk assessment grouped dwellings into low, medium and high-risk, based 
on: vulnerability (age of occupant), occupancy ratio (occupants per bed-
space), and energy, excess cold, damp and mould ratings. 

Energy and ventilation advice was provided to every home. A team visited 
each home to provide tailored advice to residents. Standard advice, such as 
the need to ventilate adequately, was provided alongside significant work 
to help residents save money on heating. As a result of the visits, 202 
households saved an average of £211 through behaviour change and tariff 
switches. 

Specialist smart meters were installed in over half of participating 
dwellings. The meter has all the usual characteristics of a smart heating 
controller but also monitors occupancy, internal temperature and relative 
humidity. As Peabody can access this data, residents were not required to 
accept the meter to benefit from other measures. The evaluation of the 
project suggests that the device has been effective in improving energy 
efficiency and helping residents avoid over- and under-heating their homes. 

 

Demand controlled ventilation was installed in all medium and high-risk 
homes. The demand-controlled centralised mechanical extract ventilation 
system consists of a single fan continuously extracting moist stale air in 
‘wet’ spaces, such as the kitchen and bathrooms. The ventilation system is 
controlled by a sensor which reacts mechanically to the humidity in the air. 
When the air has a low level of humidity, the vent is closed so the fan only 
extracts the minimum amount of air, but when the sensor detects more 
relative humidity, for example when residents are cooking, the vent opens 
wide, so the fan will extract a larger quantity of air. These fans cannot be 
switched off by residents, however during the committee’s visit to hear 
about the project, residents told us the fans were quiet enough not to 
disturb them.  This figure below shows the humidity in one Thamesmead 
home before and after the ventilation system was installed. The centre of 
the blue dot shows the daily average and the size of the dot shows the 
range. Both the levels of humidity and the range of humidity decreased. 

P
age 94



 

9 
 

Environment Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Keeping out the chill:  
fixing London’s cold, damp and mouldy homes February 2019 

 

It is important that case studies such as the Thamesmead CDM project 
are taken as an example of an effective multi-measure approach, not 
an exact blueprint. The measures included in this programme were 
suited specifically to this estate and not all measures were installed in 
every participating flat — this adaptability to circumstance was a 
strength of the project. Other projects would need to consider other 
measures, such as heat recovery or insulation, which were not included 
in this project as they were deemed inappropriate for reasons to do 
with the structure of the building and the budget allocated to the 
project.  

Recommendation 7: The Mayor, the Government and other funders or 
sponsors should ensure future retrofit programmes are multi-measure 
with sufficient focus on ventilation. Programmes should account for 
occupancy levels and the need for heat, ventilation and energy advice 
as well as insulation, to prevent condensation.   

Housing associations need to be better incentivised to improve their 
housing stock. The cost of retrofit work can be a challenge to housing 
associations. For some housing associations, the issue of funding for 
retrofit is more pertinent for their properties in London compared to 
properties outside the capital.24 Many London properties require extra 
funding as they are older and more complicated to retrofit. While there 

are some examples of good practice, we heard that housing associations 
are not sufficiently incentivised to improve their current stock. The 
policy focus on building new housing could serve as a disincentive to 
retrofit; funding is more readily available to invest in new stock. VAT, 
which is not chargeable for new builds, is chargeable on retrofit.25 

The Government’s new Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards (MEES) 
require that, from April 2018, private landlords cannot grant a new 
tenancy unless the property’s Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) is 
rated an E or higher. Social housing providers are exempt from this 
requirement as most are already compliant due to works undertaken in 
order to meet the Decent Homes Standard.26 One of the Government’s 
Clean Growth Strategy targets is that all social housing attain an EPC 
rating of C by 2035. However, we have heard that the cost to meet this 
target through retrofit is higher in London than elsewhere, due to the 
high incidence of solid wall construction in social housing stock.27  

Recommendation 8: There is a need to unlock funding for retrofit:  

a. As part of the RE:NEW successor programme’s ‘business case’ 
workstream, the Mayor should present how social housing 
regulators could encourage London’s housing associations to 
improve their current stock 

b. The Mayor should consider allocating funding on the basis of 
investing in old stock as well as for new builds 

c. The Government should consider increasing the cap for landlord 
contributions to energy efficiency measures above the current 
£3,500 (inclusive of VAT) to £5,000.28 

“Peabody could benefit from support in identifying and 
developing funding opportunities.” 

Peabody Housing Association  
 

P
age 95



 

10 
 

Environment Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Keeping out the chill:  
fixing London’s cold, damp and mouldy homes February 2019 

 

Health and inequalities 

Vulnerable and marginalised people are more likely to be living in 
homes which are cold and damp, due to the link with fuel poverty. This 
includes young people (especially children of single parents), older 
people and people living with disabilities.  The health impacts of cold 
and damp homes are particularly dangerous for these groups.  

The Mayor’s Warmer Homes programme should specifically target the 
homes of vulnerable and marginalised people. The Mayor’s Warmer 
Homes programme offers up to £4,000 worth of home improvements 
per property. The programme was initially open only to owner-occupiers 
but it is now being piloted among private rented sector properties if the 
owner or tenant is eligible.  The committee was concerned to hear there 
is no specific strategy to target the programme at the most vulnerable 
groups.29 Currently referrals are determined primarily by what levels of 
resources boroughs have. While we recognise that some Age UK 
organisations and foodbanks have been engaged, a more concerted 
effort needs to be made to reach those who are most at risk of living in 
cold and damp homes. Many of these households may be in arrears on 
their bills, and might have contacted Citizens Advice or their energy 
companies’ advice programme for support. Often the most isolated and 
vulnerable do not access institutional support. Without a strategy for 
targeting the most vulnerable, this programme may miss those most in 
need. This is especially pertinent considering the relatively small number 
of homes this programme has the budget to assist.  

Recommendation 9: Any evaluation of the warmer homes private 
rented sector pilot should assess how well the pilot has reached 
children, older or disabled people and those in overcrowded homes. A 
strategy for reaching the most vulnerable residents living in cold and 
damp homes should be integral to any roll out of the programme, and 
include steps for the Mayor to bring together the GLA, community 
groups, Citizens Advice and energy companies to support fuel poor 
households. 

GPs need to be made aware of the Mayor’s programmes to help 
patients living in cold and damp housing. Often patients approach GPs 
for help with poor quality housing, due to the impact it has on health. All 
GPs should therefore be informed about the Fuel Poverty Action 
Programmes, so they can signpost their patients towards it. 

Recommendation 10: The Mayor should write, as Chair of the London 
Health Board, to Clinical Commissioning Groups to outline the Warmer 
Homes programme and private rented sector pilot, or any future roll-
out, so the information is distributed to GPs to boost referral of 
vulnerable patients.   

P
age 96



 

11 
 

Environment Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Keeping out the chill:  
fixing London’s cold, damp and mouldy homes February 2019 

 

The Environment Committee examines 
all aspects of the capital’s environment 
by reviewing the Mayor’s strategies on 
air quality, water, waste, climate change 
and energy. 
 

Contact 

For media enquiries about this report, please contact: 
Giles Broadbent, External Relations Officer 
Giles.Broadbent@london.gov.uk  
020 7983 4067 

For general queries about the committee, please contact: 
Ian Williamson, Scrutiny Manager 
EnvironmentCommittee@london.gov.uk  
020 7983 6541 

For further information about the work of the Environment Committee, and to 
see our current investigations, visit our website. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

About the Environment Committee
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

.  

 
 

Leonie Cooper AM 
(Deputy Chair) 
Labour 

Caroline Russell AM 
(Chair) 
Green 

Tony Arbour AM 
Conservative 

Jennette Arnold OBE 
AM 
Labour 

Shaun Bailey AM 
Conservative 

David Kurten AM 
UKIP 
 

Onkar Sahota AM 
Labour 

P
age 97



 

12 
 

Environment Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Keeping out the chill:  
fixing London’s cold, damp and mouldy homes February 2019 

 

Endnotes  
 
 

1 GLA analysis of English Housing Survey, 2015 
2 Talk London discussion - https://www.london.gov.uk/talk-london/environment/cold-
and-damp-homes?page=1 
3 GLA, Housing in London Report (2017), p.86  
4 The Kings Fund (2018), Housing and Health: Opportunities for sustainability and 
transformation partnerships, p. 17. 
5 Public Health England, (2014) Local action on health inequalities: Fuel poverty and 
cold home related health problems, p. 11 
and https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/housing-and-disabled-children  
6 National Energy Action, Warm and Healthy Homes Fund, Interim Report, p. 7. 
7 NatCen Social Research, People living in bad housing – numbers and health impacts, 
p. 8 
8 Shelter, Chance of a Lifetime, p.14 
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2013/oct/29/uk-child-poverty-cold-damp-
homes-finances 
9 London Assembly Environment Committee. Transcript - 6 December 2018, p.2.  
10 District heating, or heat networks, distribute energy that is generated in a central 
location by a large boiler. 
11 Sustainable Homes (2018), Breaking the Mould: Should Landlords be doing more?, 
p.6 
12 English Housing Survey 2017 to 2018: headline report and tables 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-housing-survey-2017-to-2018-
headline-report  
13 GLA, Housing in London Report (2017), p.87. 
14 Breaking the Mould, p. 10 

 
 
 

15 Breaking the Mould, p.6 and evidence from the National Landlords Association. 
16 Transcript, pp. 9-10 and Thamesmead site visit, Environment Committee Agenda, 16 
January 2019, Appendix 1.  
17 Thamesmead Condensation, Damp and Mould Programme, Executive Summary of 
Evaluation Report, p. 8 
18 Call for evidence (CfE) submissions from Optivo and L&Q. 
19 Transcript, p.9. 
20 Citizen’s Advice - https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/about-us/how-citizens-advice-
works/media/press-releases/complain-and-youre-out-research-confirms-link-
between-tenant-complaints-and-revenge-eviction/  
21 Dr Peter Bonfield, OBE, FREng (2015), Each Home Counts: An Independent Review of 
Consumer Advice, Protection, Standards and Enforcement for Energy Efficiency and 
Renewable Energy, pp. 9-10. 
22 Meeting notes from UKCMB Conference 25th May 2016 World Café session ON 
Retrofit and Moisture. 
23 https://www.property-care.org/problems-with-cavity-wall-insulation/  
24 CfE submissions from Optivo, and transcript, pp. 16 + 30. 
25 https://www.gov.uk/vat-builders  
26 Green Alliance (2019), Reinventing retrofit : how to scale up home energy efficiency 
in the UK, p.6 
27 CfE submission from Optivo 
28 Assembly Motion, 08 February 2018 - https://www.london.gov.uk/press-
releases/assembly/assembly-calls-for-5000-cost-cap  
29 Transcript, p 18 

                                                        

P
age 98



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 
 

 

Subject: Mayoral Response to Environment 
Committee’s Outputs  

 
Report to: Environment Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 22 May 2019 
 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 

 

1. Summary  

 

1.1 The Committee is asked to note the response from the Mayor of London to its investigations on 

embodied carbon, and cold and damp homes.   

 

 

2. Recommendation 
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the Mayor’s response to: 

(a) The Committee’s letter on embodied carbon in London attached as Appendix 1; and 

(b) The Committee’s report, Keeping out the Chill: fixing London’s cold, damp and 

mouldy homes.  

 

 

3. Background   
  

3.1 On 20 September 2018, the Committee held a session on embodied carbon in buildings. A letter was 

sent to the Mayor on 30 January 20191.  A copy of the Mayor’s response to this letter is attached at 

Appendix 1. 

 

3.2 The Committee published its report, Keeping out the Chill: fixing London’s cold, damp and mouldy 

homes, in February 2019.  The report is available on the GLA’s website here2.  A copy of the Mayor’s 

response is attached as Appendix 2.  

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
1 https://www.london.gov.uk/WHAT-WE-DO/environment/environment-publications/letter-mayor-embodied-carbon 
2 https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/turning-heat-cold-damp-and-mouldy-homes 

 

Page 99

Agenda Item 9

https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/turning-heat-cold-damp-and-mouldy-homes
https://www.london.gov.uk/WHAT-WE-DO/environment/environment-publications/letter-mayor-embodied-carbon
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/turning-heat-cold-damp-and-mouldy-homes


        

4. Issues for Consideration 
 
4.1 It is recommended the Committee note the response from the Mayor attached as Appendices 1 and 

Appendices 2. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

Appendix 1 – Mayoral response dated 25 March 2019 – Embodied Carbon 

Appendix 2 – Mayoral response dated 25 March 2019 – Keeping out the Chill: fixing London’s cold, damp 

and mouldy homes 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

  

Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer  

Telephone: 020 7983 4616 

E-mail: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 100

mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Page 101



Page 102



MAYOR OF LONDON

Caroline Russell AM Our ref: MGLA2SO21 9-6750
Chair of the Environment Committee
City Hall
The Queen’s Walk Date: 29 APR 2019
London SEJ 2AA

I am writing to respond to the Environment Committee’s report Keeping out the Chill: fixing
London’s cold, damp and mouldy homes, published in February. I welcome the report and share the
Committee’s concerns about the poor condition of much of London’s housing stock. It is
unacceptable in the 2l century that many Londoners should have to live in cold, damp, and
mouldy conditions that cause discomfort, ill-health and reduced quality of life.

All of my home energy efficiency programmes — Warmer Homes, RE:NEW and Energy Leap — have
soUght to improve quality of installations, reduce the risk of damp and mould and secure better
outcomes for residents. However, I am always open to suggestions on improving my approach to
these issues and I have given careful consideration to the report’s recommendations.

My London Environment Strategy and Fuel Poverty Action Plan set out my ambitions for delivering
healthier and more energy efficient homes. I have captured how my various programmes address
your recommendations under the headings below.

Ventilation:
The London Plan (and associated guidance) already encourages the provision of ventilation
through a passive approach, for example by ensuring developments have windows that open and
requiring ventilation strategies for all referable planning applications are reviewed by the Greater
London Authority (GLA). In existing homes, my Warmer Homes programme installs ventilation
systems, alongside insulation measures, where needed. When ventilation measures are installed
through Warmer Homes they are designed to cope with changing moisture levels and ventilate
accordingly without creating excessive noise. However, any ventilation system will have its physical
limits and for that reason the provision of adequate purge ventilation (e.g. windows that can be
opened) and advice are also required. Residents assisted through my Warmer Homes and Fuel
Poverty Support Fund are advised on how best to manage moisture levels in their homes. My
RE:NEW programme also encourages social landlords to consider risks relating to poor ventilation
in retrofit projects. Specific actions include training on ventilation for local authority surveyors and
the provision of a technical risks toolkit providing pointers on how to best manage ventilation risks.

Advice provision:
Through my Fuel Poverty Support Fund, I am already helping to fund the training and deployment
of advisors to assist Londoners with energy efficiency measures, energy bills and ventilation. I will
consider further opportunities, including working with social landlords, to broaden further the

City Hall, London, SE1 2AA • mayor@london.gov.uk • london.gov.uk • 020 7983 4000

Appendix 2

Page 103



MAYOR OF LONDON

provision of this advice. Applicants to the Fuel Poverty Support Fund were assessed against their
experience of delivering existing energy advice programmes and their ability to reach vulnerable
households. They were required to have both contact centre provision and visit most clients at

• home. I am pleased to say that over 2,000 households were assisted during the first round, with
most involving older people, those with long term health conditions or young children.

Private rented sector:
Specialist organisations such as Generation Rent and Citizens Advice are best-placed to provide
high quality and up to date information, support and advocacy and I signpost to their services from
the GLA website. The evaluation of the Warmer Homes programme, including the private rented
sector element, will consider how well the scheme has reached the most vulnerable but information
to date indicates that over 80 per cent of applicants have a disability or long-term health condition
or are otherwise vulnerable. The Fuel Poverty Support Fund has been an important part of the
targeting strategy for Warmer Homes and has delivered high numbers of supported applications
from those in greatest need. It has done so by helping local authorities and their community-based
partners to identify those most in need. Significant numbers of applications have come from
boroughs such as Newham and Waltham Forest, where levels of fuel poverty are amongst the
highest in England.

I will continue to look at ways to strengthen these referral networks, particularly through my Fuel
Poverty Partnership and the range of partners such as Citizens Advice and energy suppliers
represented there. London Clinical Commissioning Groups are represented on the Partnership and
details of my fuel poverty programmes were cascaded through them and Public Health England this
winter. I am engaging with them on how we can further enhance these communications next winter
and I will continue to make the case for widespread adoption of the National Institute for Health
and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance on preventing excess winter deaths and illness. This guidance
(to be supplemented by forthcoming guidance on indoor air quality) also highlights the importance
of providing adequate ventilation.

I have made it clear to Government that the cost cap for landlords investing to meet minimum
energy efficiency standards that came into force on 1 April is inadequate. I agree with the
Committee that the level should be set at £5,000 or more.

General retrofit:
Warmer Homes, RE:NEW and Energy Leap are all multi-measure programmes that seek to take a
whole-house approach to energy efficiency, including adequate ventilation, advice on energy use
and moisture management, and involve an approach that takes into account occupancy needs. I
believe that this is an approach that should be more widely replicated across both existing national
retrofit programmes like ECO and the new energy efficiency policies, regulations and funding which
will be required to meet our carbon reduction ambitions.

City Hall, London, SEJ 2AA • mayor@london.gov.uk • london.gov.uk • 020 7983 4000

Yours sincerely,

Sadiq Khan
Mayor of London

I -. • .,•,,-., ..•

Page 104



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

 

Subject: Green Spaces in London 
Report to: Environment Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat  
 

Date: 22 May 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 

 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 The Committee will discuss, with expert guests, green spaces in London and their contribution to 

local quality of life. The meeting is expected to consider the distribution, accessibility and quality of 

green spaces and how these factors may mean that local green spaces contribute differently to 

quality of life for different groups of Londoners.   

 

1.2 This meeting is planned to be part of a broader investigation into environmental quality of life in 

London, looking also at other local factors including air pollution, noise and the environmental 

performance of homes.  

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the Committee agrees the scope and terms of reference of an investigation into 

environmental quality of life, attached as Appendix 1.  

 

2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to putting questions to invited 

guests on green spaces and environmental quality of life in London and notes the 

subsequent discussion.  

2.2  
 

2.3 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree any output arising from the discussion.  

 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 Green space is a significant factor in local quality of life. Studies have shown the benefits for 

indicators such as health, emotional wellbeing and property values. 

 

 

Page 105

Agenda Item 10



        

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

Distribution of green space   

4.1 London’s area is nearly 50% green, including large areas of Green Belt land around the outer 
fringe, and parks, nature reserves, private gardens and other green areas within the city and 
suburbs. There is generally less green space in inner and central London, though certain large 
parks run against this trend. 

 

Accessibility of green space 

4.2 Much of London’s green space, from farmland to gardens, is not open to the public, though public 

access is in practice generally permitted in some urban spaces, and there are public rights of way 

crossing private land in the Green Belt.  

 

4.3 There are also differences in the practical accessibility of spaces that are in principle open to the 

public, such as how well-known or visible they are, whether access routes are impeded by obstacles 

like busy roads, and whether spaces feel welcoming.  
 

4.4 Spaces may be differently accessible to different groups of Londoners. As London’s demographics 

vary across the city, the distribution of green spaces may affect certain groups differently. Also, 

accessibility can differ between people even in the same locality. Steps, slopes, ground surfaces and 

leisure equipment cater to different types and degrees of mobility. These and other design factors 

can also make a difference to the usability of spaces for people according to which senses they use. 

Awareness and the sense of welcome may differ between communities of identity or culture.  

 

Quality of green space  

4.5 Other aspects of the features and design of green spaces also contribute to their benefits for local 

people. These include both green features of the space such as plants and wildlife, and built or 

installed features such as leisure facilities.  

 

Invited guests  

4.6 The Committee has invited expert guests to contribute to the discussion.  

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report.  

 

6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1 There is no financial implication to the GLA arising from this report.  
 

Page 106



        

 

List of appendices to this report: 

Appendix 1 - Scope of investigation into Environmental Quality of Life Across London  
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: 

None 

Contact Officer: Ian Williamson, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 6541 

E-mail: environmentcommittee@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 107

mailto:environmentcommittee@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 108



London Assembly Environment Committee 

Environmental Quality of Life Across London – 
Green Spaces  

Environmental Quality of Life Across London – Access to Green Space 
The Environment Committee will investigate access to green spaces as the first instalment of a 
three part investigation into the environmental quality of life across London. This paper will 
focus on the Green Spaces instalment of the project, though there is a section explaining how it 
fits into the wider investigation. 

Background 
London is nearly half made up of green space1, and is not changing rapidly. Greenspace 
Information for Greater London (GIGL) shows that while 38.9% of London can be classified as 
open space, 24% of that is private, domestic garden land.2 There is a mayoral target to increase 
green cover to 50 per cent by 2050. However, there are areas in London where residents have 
less access to green space than in others.  

From London Environment Strategy, 2018 

Green spaces provide many benefits for Londoner’s health and wellbeing, as well as for 
environmental purposes. If they are accessible, green spaces provide opportunities for exercise 
and play, can support community events and social networking and, if the spaces are high-
quality and quiet, they can provide benefits for emotional wellbeing — to some extent just by 

1 47 per cent baseline for mayoral target 
2 https://www.gigl.org.uk/keyfigures/  

Appendix 1 

Page 109

https://www.gigl.org.uk/keyfigures/


London Assembly Environment Committee 

Environmental Quality of Life Across London – 
Green Spaces  

being visible. High-quality green space can provide access to nature and foster learning and 
understanding about nature. It also improves air quality and reduces the urban heat island 
effect, as well as potentially protecting against flooding. It also raises property values.   

Summary of the investigation 
However, there is not equal access to green space in London. Thanks to green space’s 
association with quality of life and property values, areas lacking green space tend to coincide 
with lower average incomes. In areas with largely private green space, it may be true that the 
poorer residents in the area experience green space deprivation.  

Certain BAME groups tend to live in income-deprived areas and are therefore likely to share this 
pattern3 (it would be noteworthy if the investigation were to find a stronger ethnicity 
association than this). There may also be age groups such as older children that also share this 
pattern. Using ward profiles, it may be possible to map various protected categories against 
accessible green space in the ward.  

Other equalities issues could include access to green space for people living with disabilities. 
Again, there is a link between disability and poverty; there are also additional factors.4 In some 
spaces which are accessible to the general public, there may be barriers to accessibility for 
people with disabilities. This information will be difficult to assess across London, as it will be 
specific to each location and may be different for each disability. In the absence of numerical 
data, this may be better suited to engagement with disability charities, and/or focus group style 
research with people living with disabilities.  

3 https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/british-population/demographics/people-living-in-deprived-
neighbourhoods/latest  
4 https://www.jrf.org.uk/mpse-2015/disability-and-poverty  

Page 110

https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/british-population/demographics/people-living-in-deprived-neighbourhoods/latest
https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/british-population/demographics/people-living-in-deprived-neighbourhoods/latest
https://www.jrf.org.uk/mpse-2015/disability-and-poverty


London Assembly Environment Committee 

Environmental Quality of Life Across London – 
Green Spaces  

Key questions for investigation: 

Where are the areas of green space 
deficiency? 

Where are there areas that have green space 
but not accessible for the public? 

The answers to these questions can be found 
in the data available and already mapped 
(see above) 

Where are there areas that have accessible 
green space but not of high quality?  
 

To get a full mapping of quality across the 
spectrum from low to high quality, across 
multiple quality factors, and across London 
on a comparable basis would be very 
challenging, and unlikely to be worth the 
effort within the Assembly’s resources. 

Suggested approaches to this question: 

- Using Green Flag status as an existing 
quality benchmark. It is at quite a high 
standard (about 440 awards in the London 
region5) so it will not capture the difference 
between locally useful medium-quality 
spaces and low-value spaces. It should be 
possible to map all the awards and/or give 
numbers by borough. 

- Mapping against quality-affecting factors 
like air pollution, noise if possible, proximity 
to busy roads 

- Being open to using anecdotal evidence 
that the investigation might receive, such as 
testimony about high- or low-quality green 
spaces  

How does the amount, accessibility and 
quality of green space affect quality of life? 

What factors affect this relationship? 

These questions can be answered through 
desk based research/ expert evidence and 
Londoner’s perspectives.  

How do these areas relate to the 
demographics of London’s residential 
population? Considering BAME Londoners, 
older Londoners, children, people on low 
incomes, people living with disabilities.  

The GLA’s tool maps against income 
deprivation, plus population density and 
loneliness, but not age or ethnicity. 
Hopefully it should be possible to get the 
GLA or another source to produce mapping 
for children, older people and BAME 
(perhaps breaking out specific groups that 
suffer more deprivation: UK-wide data 
suggests Pakistani, Bangladeshi, all black and 
mixed white/black groups, Arab, but less so 

                                                 
5 http://www.greenflagaward.org.uk/award-winners/#_london  

Page 111

http://www.greenflagaward.org.uk/award-winners/#_london


London Assembly Environment Committee 

Environmental Quality of Life Across London – 
Green Spaces  

Indian, Chinese or other white or mixed 
ethnicities.6) 

We could also use ward profiles to map the 
amount of accessible green space against 
levels of deprivation/protected 
characteristics 

Mayoral work to date: 

• a progress report on all Mayor’s
commitments, e.g. planning
guidelines on the creation of pocket
parks and other small open spaces.

• information on progress on the
recommendations outlined in Park
Life

These questions can be answered through 
desk based research/expert evidence.  

This could also be covered in the formal 
committee meeting or with an informal 
briefing from GLA teams, earlier in May. 

What should the Mayor (or others) therefore 
do? 

6 https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/british-population/demographics/people-living-in-deprived-
neighbourhoods/latest  

Page 112

https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/british-population/demographics/people-living-in-deprived-neighbourhoods/latest
https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/british-population/demographics/people-living-in-deprived-neighbourhoods/latest


London Assembly Environment Committee 

Environmental Quality of Life Across London – 
Green Spaces  

Potential findings and recommendations: 
These are obviously subject to the work of the investigation, but based on initial research the 
following are suggested to illustrate the project proposal.  

Green space (especially accessible green space) is lacking in central London, apart from a few 
well-known parks. It is also lacking in many parts of inner London and some patches of outer 
London.  

There are notable areas with green space but little accessible green space. This includes 
significant parts of outer boroughs where there is a lot of privately-owned Green Belt land—
though note these are not densely populated and so not many people may be affected. 
(Analysis may show up others, probably smaller and therefore less visually striking at the 
London level—possibly suburban Bromley, Eltham in RB Greenwich).  

There are also differences between areas that are mainly built-up—some have provision of 
accessible green spaces such as small or medium parks, and in others it is largely limited to 
private gardens.  

The Mayor is already mapping areas of green space deficiency and other environmental need, 
and some of the equalities issues against this. The Committee supports this approach, as every 
locality in London needs the quality of life benefits that green spaces provide. 

However, the Mayor has not mapped ethnicity or age. [Provide maps from the investigation, if 
possible, of ethnicity and age against green space need—potentially showing that certain 
ethnic groups and children are more likely to live in areas of green space deficiency] The Mayor 
should take on the mapping of ethnicity and age against green space need and seek to address 
the equalities issues.  

Quality of green spaces varies. Certain areas are better-provided with quality green space than 
others [work during the investigation will identify which]. There are also practical accessibility 
issues beyond whether the public are allowed into a space, such as whether the space is well-
known and whether it is equally accessible, for example to disabled people or to children. 
Therefore, the Mayor’s mapping should better reflect the quality and the real accessibility of 
green spaces.  

The London Green Spaces Commission should focus on these issues [or others identified during 
the review] during its work to 2020.  

Page 113



London Assembly Environment Committee 

Environmental Quality of Life Across London – 
Green Spaces  

Objectives for meeting 

• Update on the progress of the Mayor’s commitments related to green space 

• Develop greater understanding of the barriers for people with protected characteristics 
accessing green open spaces and potential opportunities  

• Hear views on possible areas of focus for the London Green Spaces Commission.  
 
Potential guests for meeting 
 

• Parks for London – Tony Leach (attended 2017 meeting) 

• London Green Spaces Commission – newly formed. First official meeting in April this 
year. Will be looking to make recommendations to the Mayor in 2020.  

• Scope/Disability Rights UK, Children’s Society or other representative of particular 
needs groups 

• London Parks & Gardens Trust 

• The green flag award 

• GLA and/or London National Park City  

• A local authority perspective—borough or London Councils [perhaps ideally a 
representative who can speak on the challenges of an area with green space need] 

 
Some thoughts for a potential output:  

• Map which shows green space and protected characteristics across London (if possible 
to collect and display data)  

• Or alternative findings graphic  

• Blog post or article  

• Letter to the National Park City foundation and/or Green Spaces Commission 

• Video for the National Park City Launch (July) 
 
 
  

Page 114

https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/parks-green-spaces-and-biodiversity/london-green-spaces-commission


London Assembly Environment Committee 

Environmental Quality of Life Across London – 
Green Spaces  

Calendar and outputs - Green spaces 
 

Activity  Completed 
by 

Project scoping 
 

• PIM agreed and signed off with comms and committee services  

• Agree project scope with Chair 

• Approach guests for committee session 

• Data collection – information on numbers/demographics in areas considered deprived 
of green space  

• Meetings with stakeholders 

• Meeting with GLA environment team to assess progress against the Mayor’s 
commitments and recommendations set out in Park Life report 

 
 
17 April  
17-18 April 
w/c 23 April  
On going  
 
 
Ongoing  
April 2019 

Committee session: 
 

• Draft briefing to chair 

• Briefing to committee 

• Committee session 
 

 
 
15 May  
17 May  
22 May  

Draft outputs – TBA  
 

• Draft text  

• Draft graphic 

• Agreement with Chair and committee 

• Preparation for website 

• Publication. 
 

June/July 
(timings to be 
confirmed 
bearing in 
mind National 
Park City 
Week 20-28 
July7) 

 
 
Media 
 
Support for meeting(s) 
Media 
Operational Note 
 
Social Media/Video/Graphics 
1 post 
 
Support for output 
Evidence that supports the notion that people are, in effect, denied access to green space will 
be interesting and will also feed into the health (outdoor play & social prescribing) agenda. 
 
  

                                                 
7 www.nationalparkcity.london/whats-on  

Page 115

http://www.nationalparkcity.london/whats-on


London Assembly Environment Committee 

Environmental Quality of Life Across London – 
Green Spaces  

Wider investigation - Environmental quality of life across London 
 
The investigation into access to green space would be part of a wider investigation into the 
Environmental quality of life across London. The wider investigation would look at: 

- The green environment (parks and other spaces where people can get close to nature) 
- The air people breathe 
- The home environment (especially cold, damp and noise) 

These factors show local variation and all affect residents’ quality of life differently according to 
where they live (and potentially where they work, go to school or otherwise spend their days, if 
different to home locality).  
 
The investigation would examine the intersection of these local quality of life variations with 
socio-economic and demographic groups to show issues relating to inequalities. It is likely that 
areas suffering from lack of access to green space, air pollution and/or poorly insulated homes 
are also deprived in other ways. There may be links to ethnicity; there may also be links to age 
and disability. 
 
Developing the model of past projects on waste management and mental health, the project 
could produce findings outputs on individual elements before concluding with an overall report 
bringing together the findings and making recommendations for mayoral action.  
 
Calendar 
The investigation as a whole could make use of three dates in the Environment Committee’s 
2019-20 calendar: 

• 22 May: Environmental Quality of Life Across London: Green Spaces 

• 24 July: Air Pollution and Inequalities 

• 18 September: Deputy Mayor accountability session, covering cold damp homes, aircraft 
noise 

 
Evidence-gathering phases would come earlier in the project. An initial call for evidence, 
covering at least green spaces, should be conducted in April/May. It should mention that the 
green spaces element is envisaged as part of a broader piece of work so that stakeholders that 
work across one or more of the other areas can consider wider issues in their response. There 
could be further calls for evidence on air pollution in May/June/July and on homes and noise 
issues in July/August/September. The relationships between these calls for evidence will need 
to be considered following more detailed stakeholder mapping.  
 
Outputs: 
There could be findings outputs after some of the phases to test emerging conclusions and 
build media interest.  
 
The green spaces findings could be timed in relation to the National Park City Week from 20-28 
July, including the NPC launch on 22 July (and could also draw attention to the July meeting).  
 
The air pollution findings could perhaps come out later in August to take advantage of the 
summer news lull and people spending time outdoors, and to draw attention to the September 
meeting;  

Page 116



London Assembly Environment Committee 

Environmental Quality of Life Across London – 
Green Spaces  

There may not be new findings on homes issues as the main evidence is likely to be the 
committee’s previous work and the accountability session with the Deputy Mayor is for follow-
up.  

(note that there has been discussion with the Chair and Deputy Chair about whether the July 
and September topics should be the other way around; also the timing of the meeting with the 
Deputy Mayor may be subject to her availability; if the Deputy Mayor session is less likely to 
result in a findings output and the air quality session is, then the given sequence may work best 
for the output schedule) 

There could finally be an overall report with recommendations, showing how the geographies 
and inequalities in different environmental quality of life factors overlap, and calling for the 
next Mayor to address these issues in their 2020-24 programme. This could potentially come in 
late October.  

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 118



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Environment Committee Work 
Programme 

Report to: Environment Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 22 May 2019 
 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 

 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report establishes the committee’s initial work programme for the 2019/20 London Assembly 

year.       

 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That the Committee agrees its work programme for the beginning of the 2019/20 

Assembly year, as set out in paragraphs 4.2 to 4.4. 

 

 

1. Background  
 

3.1 The business for the first two meetings of the 2019/20 Assembly year has been agreed by the      

GLA Oversight Committee.  The programme is now for formal agreement by the Committee.   

 
3.2 A similar report will be submitted to each subsequent Committee meeting to track the Committee’s 

work and propose any changes, including confirming dates and adding topics as required. 

   

 

2. Issues for Consideration 
 

Environmental Quality of Life - Green Spaces 

4.1 This meeting is being used for a discussion on the contribution of green spaces to Londoners’ 

quality of life and patterns of access to green space benefits across different areas of London and 

groups of Londoners. The discussion is to form part of a wider piece of work on environmental 

factors affecting residents’ quality of life, including air quality, noise and homes. A covering report 

on this topic can be found at  

Agenda Item 10.   
 

Work programme for the rest of 2018/19 

4.2 The table below sets out the allocated dates for the Environment Committee in the 2018/19 

Assembly year. The table notes suggested business for the earlier dates.   

Page 119

Agenda Item 11



        

 

4.3 The work programme is subject to change in future as the committee develops proposals for its 

work.  Dates may be used for formal committee meetings, informal meetings, site visits or other 

activities for the committee.  The work programme also provides for the committee to respond to 

any matters that arise during the year.    
 

Date Proposed topic 

27 June 2019 
Committee meeting 

Tube dust 

24 July 2019 Subject to be confirmed. 

18 September 2019 Subject to be confirmed. 

10 October 2019 Subject to be confirmed. 

7 November 2019 Subject to be confirmed. 

5 December 2019 Subject to be confirmed. 

15 January 2020 Subject to be confirmed. 

13 February 2020 Subject to be confirmed. 

12 March 2020 Subject to be confirmed. 

   

 Tube dust 

4.4 The Committee discussed particulate pollution in January with the GLA but were largely referred to 

Transport for London (TfL) for answers to questions on particulate pollution on the Underground. 

Following an exchange of correspondence, the Committee has invited TfL representatives to discuss 

action on Tube dust in June 2019.  
 

 Schools air quality 

4.4 At the end of the 2018-19 work programme, members of the Committee visited Haimo Primary 

School in Greenwich, to discuss air quality issues and work to tackle them around schools. A note of 

this visit is attached at Appendix 1.  
 
 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report. 

 
 
 
6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 
 

 

Page 120



        

 

List of appendices to this report: 

1: Note of visit to Haimo Primary School 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Ian Williamson, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 6541 

E-mail: scrutiny@london.gov.uk    

 

 

Page 121

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 122



LONDONASSEMBLY Environment Committee 

Mayor’s School Air Quality 
Programme 

Visit to Haimo Primary School 

Roundtable and site visit at Haimo Primary School  

Date: 03 April 2019 

Time: 2.30pm – 4.30pm 

Location: Haimo Primary School – Haimo Rd, Eltham, London SE9 6DY 

Attendees:  

• Caroline Russell, Chair, Environment Committee

• Leonie Cooper, Deputy Chair, Environment Committee

• Jacqueline Graves - Deputy Head Teacher, Haimo Primary School

• Cllr Denise Scott-McDonald - Cabinet Member for Air Quality, Public Realm and

Transport, Royal Borough of Greenwich

• Jemima Hartshorn - Founder of Mums for Lungs

• Student representatives from Haimo School

• Parent representatives from Haimo School

Background 

As part of the committee’s investigation into the Mayor’s School Air Quality Audit 

Programme, members of the committee visited Haimo Primary School to hear about their 

experiences with the audit, and views on air quality issues more generally. 

The Mayor’s School Air Quality Programme was launched in 2018 and involved 50 primary 

schools in the most polluted areas in London. The audits analysed air pollution issues 

affecting the schools and their local areas, and made recommendations to reduce emissions 

and improve the air school children are exposed to. 

To enable the school communities to implement the non-transport related 

recommendations raised in the audits, the Mayor made available £10,000 for each 

participating school. The programme also envisioned that the boroughs in which the schools 

are located would be able to provide match-funding to implement identified interventions. 

Examples of the issues raised through the audits included: 

• Playgrounds and outdoor spaces exposed to emissions – with limited screening from

passing traffic, and where children spend extended periods during break times, PE and

in free flow classes (particularly in the case of the younger children). The limited

screening sometimes also posed issues in terms of privacy and security concerns.

• Children waiting to enter the school grounds on busy roads – in some instances

children are required to wait in areas exposed to higher levels of emissions when

arriving prior to the school gates opening.

Appendix 1

Page 123



LONDONASSEMBLY Environment Committee 

Mayor’s School Air Quality 
Programme 

Visit to Haimo Primary School 
 

    

 

• Lack of suitable storage space for scooters and bikes – which may serve to deter active 

travel.  

• School buildings reliant on natural ventilation – most of the school buildings audited 

dated back to the late nineteenth or early twentieth century and are reliant on opening 

doors and windows in order to cool or ventilate the classrooms, worsening exposure to 

emissions, particularly where classrooms are in close proximity to a busy road or other 

sources of emissions.  

• Poor insulation and inefficient heating – due to the age of many of the school buildings 

they often exhibited poor insulation, including large single glazed windows, often due to 

expense or limitations of replacing the historic windows. Poor insulation will result in 

greater heat loss during the winter months, and so potentially increased run times by 

school boilers, and therefore greater emissions. Whilst during the summer it will result 

in greater heat gain, making it more likely the windows and doors would need to be 

opened if reliant on natural ventilation, so worsening exposure to local emissions.  

• Aging boilers – in some cases the schools’ boilers were aging and would not meet 

modern efficiency standards, resulting in higher levels of emissions locally from the 

boiler flues. There were also a number of cases where the flues directed their emissions 

near the playgrounds or outdoor spaces used by children.  

The visit 

During the visit, the Assembly Members heard from student representatives, PTA members, 

Haimo’s Deputy Headteacher, Greenwich Council’s Cabinet Member for Air Quality, Public 

Realm, and Transport, and the founder of clean air campaign group Mums for lungs. 

Discussions focused primarily on:  

• The causes of poor air quality 

• The impacts of exposure to poor air quality 

• The actions taken by Haimo and Greenwich Council (including impacts and challenges) 

• Overall experiences of taking part in the Mayor’s School Air Quality Audit. 

The causes of poor air quality 

Participants agreed that motor transport was a primary cause of poor air quality around 

Haimo, with one student also highlighting the impact of manufacturing and energy 

production more broadly.  

Jemima Hartshorn highlighted the impact that cars, whether fossil fuel or electric powered, 

have on local air quality, due to factors including particulate matter arising from the use of 

Page 124



LONDONASSEMBLY Environment Committee 

Mayor’s School Air Quality 
Programme 

Visit to Haimo Primary School 
 

    

 

brakes; particulate matter arising from friction from contact between car tyres and asphalt. 

She also raised the fact that, increasingly, people in London are using wood burning 

appliances, as well as the broader national air quality impacts caused by aviation, airports, 

and shipping.   

Cllr Scott-McDonald highlighted Greenwich Council’s focus on air quality, citing Haimo’s 

participation in the air quality monitoring backpacks, and Haimo’s on-going School Streets 

programme. She stressed the importance of achieving individual, and group behaviour 

changes, noting the everyone is responsible in some way for causing air pollution, and thus 

everyone must contribute to its reduction. 

The impacts of exposure to poor air quality  

Students highlighted respiratory illnesses, with one student reporting that 9.5 per cent of 

Haimo students have asthma – one student recounted an asthma attack that resulted in him 

being hospitalised for two days. They also recognised that without change the rates of 

conditions like asthma will increase – Leonie Cooper noted that the Mayor developed 

asthma as an adult. Jacqueline Graves highlighted that she, and other members of staff, 

have developed asthma since working at Haimo.  

Students also recognised that pollution can lead to increased morbidity and avoidable 

mortality, with one student highlighting the 9,460 Londoners who die prematurely each 

year because of air pollution. 

While not explicitly related to air quality, one parent highlighted the societal impact of 

traffic conditions, particularly on narrow roads such as those near Haimo, including 

frustration and aggression and concern about the safety of school children.  

She noted that since the implementation of a School Street around Haimo, the physical and 

societal environment is more pleasant and safer. 

The actions taken by Haimo and Greenwich Council 

Cllr Scott-McDonald highlighted Greenwich Council’s School Street trials – separate from the 

Mayor’s School Air Quality Audit Programme – which Haimo has been participating in. She 

highlighted the public concerns raised through consultations, and how negative 

perspectives changed through the trial roll-outs. She highlighted that other schools are 

requesting to be part of the next tranche of trials, and that local residents near School 

Streets have reported positive experiences. 

Students and parents highlighted how Haimo’s School Street has encouraged them to walk, 

use public transport, or use other forms of active travel – Haimo has seen a 54 per cent 

decline in children being driven to school, a 27 per cent increase in cycling, a 14 per cent 

increase in walking and a 9 per cent increase in scooting. One parent recognised the lack of 

parking space as an incentive to walk. 

Page 125

https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2015/jul/15/nearly-9500-people-die-each-year-in-london-because-of-air-pollution-study
https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2015/jul/15/nearly-9500-people-die-each-year-in-london-because-of-air-pollution-study


LONDONASSEMBLY Environment Committee 

Mayor’s School Air Quality 
Programme 

Visit to Haimo Primary School 
 

    

 

Cllr Scott-McDonald also highlighted measures being taken by Greenwich Council including 

anti-idling measures and means of slowing down traffic.  

She stressed the importance of achieving cultural shifts alongside the implementation of 

policies. For example, she highlighted that a sudden implementation of a School Street 

might result in parents simply parking elsewhere, thus shifting the problems. 

Overall experiences of taking part in the Mayor’s School Air Quality Audit 

Jacqueline Graves said the easiest recommendations to implement were the air-purifying 

plants. When able to, the school will use the grant given by the Mayor to install bicycle 

sheds and more plants. 

Through Haimo’s participation in the Audit, the school has been able to engage with other 

stakeholders, including Thames Water which has helped the school reduce its waste water, 

and EcoGames which has spoken to the school about its electricity and gas consumption. 

Haimo has been able to lower its bills as a result.  

Jacqueline Graves highlighted the connections she has formed through the Air Quality 

Forum set up as part of the Mayor’s School Air Quality Audit Programme as being a key 

aspect of the Programme. Through the forum, she has been able to share best practice 

across the 50 schools that participated in the programme, and engage in other projects 

aimed at developing school children’s understanding of pollution and the benefits of 

traveling by means other than cars. The forum also supports engagement with stakeholders.  

Cllr Scott-McDonald said that enforcement of School Streets is a challenge across the 

borough, with Leonie Cooper highlighting the difficulties related to enforcing the use of 

zigzag yellow lines. 

One parent highlighted the importance of the trial for the School Street, and the value 

gained from parental engagement in enforcing the School Street, particularly in relation to 

explaining and bringing other parents on board. 

Page 126


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	6 Minutes
	06a minutes - transcript

	7 Summary List of Actions
	a RE ENVIRONMENT COMMITTEE  28 FEBRUARY 2019
	a2 Annex 1  Response to Environment Committees request for additional information
	b Elliot_Treharne_and_Stephen_Inch_Follow_up_to_Environment_Committee_Questions_21_02_19
	c summary list of action - 23 May 2018 LCA updated 2008 (003)
	d Tube dust FINAL 050419

	8 Action Taken under Delegated Authority
	08a note of visit 301118
	Keeping out the chill - final (002)

	9 Mayoral Responses
	09b Mayoral response - embodied carbon - 310119-4544
	09c Mayorl response - cold homes 280219-6750

	10 Green Spaces in London
	10a EQL scoping notes for Committee

	11 Environment Committee Work Programme
	Note of Haimo visit - School Air Quality Audit


